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comes a crisis; questions having their small beginnings

far back in the past develop to a fruition, the natural
result of antecedent events, the legitimate offspring of all that
has gone to make up a nation’s character and relative position
in the world. These questions must be settled sooner or later,
in accordance with the demands of progress; they may be
softened for a time by diplomacy or obscured by indifference
and attention to other affairs, but the inevitable settlement is
only postponed, the eventual crisis but gathers new force, and,
in time, it must result in bloodshed or a backward step.
Placed as Cuba was, belonging to a nation whose star has been
for three centuries setting, close to the shores of a free people,
whose course has for more than a century been ever upward,
the issue could not be avoided. The war came.

This event, like all in history, being inseparably linked
with the past, it has seemed to the anthor that the developing
causes were too important to a proper understanding of the
conflict to remain unnoticed; and this must be the apology,
if any is needed, for the opening pages of this history, dealing
not simply with the Spaniard and the Cuban and the reasons
for the bitter hatred which grew up between them, but with
the part that both Spain and Cuba have played in the con-
stitutional history of the United States. This long story is
replete with many dramatic and romantie incidents, which

take on a new color in the light of the war that has closed
(iif)

PERIODICALLY, in the history of every nation there
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so gloriously for American arms, and which give the conflict
its true setting in the history of the world’s progress.

But, while briefly placing the causes before the reader, no
space required for a full narration of the incidents of the war
has been sacrificed. Though brief, the conflict has abounded
in deeds of heroism, some of them without a parallel in mili-
tary or naval history, and the character of the American
people has been revealed in stronger colors not simply to other
nations of the world, but to the Americans themselves. The
last vestige of old sectional feeling disappeared in the inspiring
unity with which all, North and South, fell in behind the flag;
and, as the war closed, our cyes were open to a2 wider vision,
the promise of a grander destiny than we have been wont to
consider in store for us. For the war has brought new ques-
tions and new responsibilities; in the future are suggestions
of new experiences, possibly requiring a mew policy. f The
Stars and Stripes now float in the Antilles and over rich
islands of the Pacific. 'Whatever comes, it has been shown
that the people of the United States do not shrink in the face
of duty to themselves and to humanity.

In relating the incidents of the war it has been the con-
stant aim in these pages to make use only of the most reliable
authorities and the available official reports and records.
Many of the illustrations of battles and naval and army life
are from photographs made by photographers at the imminent
risk of their lives, and they have been reproduced for this
volume with the utmost fidelity to the originals. Others are
from drawings and sketches made by eminent artists on the
spot. Acknowledgments are due to Leslie’s Weekly and
Harper's Weekly for permission to use some of the copyrighted
illustrations that have appeared in those papers.
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Hon. REDFIELD PROCTOR
United States Senator from Vermont

CUBA

ITs CONDITION AT THE BEGINNING OF 1898

I saw during my visit to Cuba and how the situation there

impressed me. This I do on account of the public in-
terest in all that concerns Cuba, and to correct some inac-
curacies that have, not unnaturally, appeared in reported inter-
views with me. '

My trip was entirely unofficial and of my own motion:
not suggested by anyone. The only mention I made of it
to the President was to say to him that I contemplated
such a trip and to ask him if there was any objection to
it; to which he replied that he could see none. No one but
myself, therefore, is responsible for anything in this statement.
Judge Day gave me a brief note of introduction to General
Lee, and I had letters of introduction from business friends at
the North to bankers and other business men at Havana, and
they in turn gave me letters to their correspondents in other

cities. These letters to business men were very useful, as one
8 - (88)

l T has been suggested that I make a public statement of what
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of the principal purposes of my visit was to ascertain the views
of practical men of affairs upon the situation.

Of General Lee I need say but little. His valuable services
to his country in his trying position are too well known to all
his countrymen to require mention. Besides his ability, high
character, and courage, he possesses the important requisites
of unfailing tact and courtesy, and, withal, his military educa-
tion and training and his soldierly qualities are invaluable ad-
juncts in the equipment of our representative in a country so
completely under military rule as was Cuba. General Lee
kindly invited us to sit at his table at the hotel during our stay
in Havana, and this opportunity for frequent informal talks
with him was of great help to me.

In addition to the information he voluntarily gave me, it
furnished a convenient opportunity to ask him the many ques-
tions that suggested themselves in explanation of things seen
and heard on our trips through the country. T also met and
spent considerable time with Consul Brice at Matanzas, and
with Captain Barker,a staunch ex-Confederate soldier, the con-
sul at Sagua la Grande. None of our representatives whom 1
met in Cuba are of my political faith, but there is a broader
faith, not bounded by party lines. They are all three true
Americans, and have done excellent service.

There are six provinces in Cuba, each, with the exception
of Matanzas, extending the whole width of the island, and
having about an equal sea front on the north and south borders.
Matanzas touches the Caribbean Sea only at its southwest cor-
ner, being separated from it elsewhere by a narrow peninsula
of Santa Clara Province. The provinces are named, begin-
ning at the west, Pinar del Rio, Havana, Matanzas, Santa
Clara, Puerto Prineipe, and Santiago de Cuba. My observa-
tions were confined to the four western provinees, which con-
stitute about one-half of the island. The two eastern ones
were practically in the hands of the insurgents, except the two
fortified towns. These two large provinces were spoken of as
“ Cuba Libre.”
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Havana, the great city and capital of the island, is, in the
eyes of the Spaniards and many Cubans, all Cuba, as much as
Paris is France. But having visited it in more peaceful times
and seen its sights, the tomb of Columbus, the forts — Cabafia
and Morro Castle, ete.— I did not care to repeat this, pre-
ferring trips in the country. Everything seemed to go on
much as usual in Havana. Quiet prevailed, and except for
the frequent squads of soldiers marching to guard and police
duty, and their abounding presence in all public places, one
saw few signs of war.

Outside Havana all had changed. It was not peace nor
was it war. It was desolation and distress, misery and starva-
tion. Every town and village was surrounded by a “ trocha ”
(trench), a sort of rifle pit, but constructed on a plan new to
me, the dirt being thrown up on the inside and a barbed-wire
fence on the outer side of the trench. These trochas had at
every corner and at frequent intervals along the sides what are
there called “ forts,” but which are really small blockhouses,
many of them more like large sentry boxes, loopholed for
musketry, and with a guard of from two to ten soldiers in
each.

The purpose of these trochas was to keep the reconcen-
trados in as well as to keep the insurgents out. From all the
surrounding country the people had been driven into these
fortified towns and held there to subsist as they could. They
were virtually prison yards, and not unlike one in general ap-
pearance, except that the walls were not so high and strong;
but they sufficed, where every point was in range of a soldier’s
rifle, to keep in the poor reconcentrado women and children.

Every railroad station was within one of these trochas and
bad an armed guard. Every train had an armored freight car,
loopholed for musketry and filled with soldiers, and with, as I
observed usually, and was informed was always the case, a
pilot engine a mile or so in advance. There were frequent
blockhouses inclosed by a trocha and with a guard along the
railroad track. With this exception there was no human life
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or habitation between these fortified towns and villages, and
throughout the whole of the four western provinces, except
to a very limited extent among the hills where the Spaniards
had not been able to go and drive the people to the towns and
burn their dwellings. 1 saw no house or hut in the 400
miles of railroad rides from Pinar del Rie Province in the
west across the full width of Havana and Matanzas provinces,
and to Sagua la Grande on the north shore, and to Cienfuegos
on the south shore of Santa Clara, except within the Spanish
trochas.

There were no domestic animals or crops on the rich fields
and pastures except such as were under guard in the immediate
vicinity of the towns. In other words, the Spaniards held in
these four western provinces just what their army sat on.
Every man, woman, and child, and every domestic animal,
wherever their columns had reached, was under guard and
within their so-called fortifications. To describe one place is
to describe all. 'To repeat, it was neither peace nor war. It
was concentration and desolation. This was the “ pacified ”
condition of the four western provinces.

‘West of Havana is mainly the rich tobacco country; east,
as far as I went, a sugar region. Nearly all the sugar mills
were destroyed between Havana and Sagua. Two or three
were standing in the vicinity of Sagua, and in part running,
surrounded, as were the villages, by trochas and forts or
palisades of the royal palm, and fully guarded. Toward and
near Cienfuegos there were more mills running, but all with
the same protection. It is said that the owners of these mills
near Cienfuegos were able to obtain special favors of the Span-
ish government in the way of a large force of soldiers, but that
they also, as well as all the railroads, paid taxes to the Cubans
for immunity. I had no means of verifying this. It was the

common talk among those who had better means of knowl-

edge.
All the country people in the four western provinces, about
400,000 in number, remaining outside the fortified towns
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4
when Weyler's order was made, were driven into these
towns, and these were the reconcentrados. They were the
peasantry, many of them farmers, some landowners, others
renting lands and owning more or less stock, others working on
estates and cultivating small patches; and even a small patch
in that fruitful clime will support a family.

It is but fair to say that the normal condition of these
people was very different from what prevails in this country.
Their standard of comfort and prosperity, measured by ours,
was not high. But according to their standards and require-
ments their conditions of life were satisfactory.

They lived mostly in cabins made of palms or in wooden
houses. Some of them had houses of stone, the blackened
walls of which are all that remain to show the country was
ever inhabited.

The first clause of Weyler’s order read as follows:

I OrDER AND CoMmMaND. First, all the inhabitants of the country or
outside of the line of fortifications of the towns shall, within the period of
eight days, concentrate themselves in the towns occupied by the troops.
Any individual who, after the expiration of this period, is found in the
uninhabited parts will be considered a rebel and tried as such.

The other three sections forbade the transportation of pro-
visions from one town to another without permission of the
military authority, directed the owners of cattle to bring them
into the towns, prescribed that the eight days should be counted
from the publication of the proclamation in the head town of
the municipal district, and stated that if news were furnished
of the enemy which could be made use of, it would serve as a
“ recommendation.”

Many, doubtless, did not learn of this order. Others
failed to grasp its terrible meaning. Its execution was left
largely to the guerrillas to drive in all that had not obeyed, and
I was informed that in many cases the torch was applied to
their homes with no notice, and the inmates fled with such
clothing as they might have on, their stock and other belong-
ings being appropriated by the guerrillas. When they
reached the towns they were allowed to build huts of palm
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leaves in the suburbs and vacant places within the trochas, and
left to live, if they could.

Their huts were about ten by fifteen feet in size, and for
want of space were usually crowded together very closely.
They had no floor but the ground, no furniture, and, after a
year’s wear, but little clothing except such stray substitutes as
they could extemporize; and with large families, or more than
one, in this little space, the commonest sanitary provisions were
impossible. Conditions were unmentionable in this respect.
Torn from their homes, with foul earth, foul air, foul water,
and foul food or none, what wonder that one-half had died and
that one-quarter of the living were so diseased that they could
not be saved? A form of dropsy was a common disorder re-
sulting from these conditions. Little children were still walk-
ing about with arms and chests terribly emaciated, eyes
swollen, and abdomen bloated to three times the natural size.
The physicians said these cases were hopeless.

Deaths in the streets were not uncommon. I was told by
one of our consuls that many had been found dead about the
markets in the morning, where they had crawled, hoping to
get some stray bits of food from the early hucksters, and that
there had been cases where they had dropped dead inside the
market surrounded by food. Before Weyler’s order these
people were independent and self-supporting. They were not
beggars even then. There were plenty of professional beg-
gars in every town among the regular residents, but these
country people, the reconcentrados, had not learned the art.
Rarely was a hand held out to you for alms when going among
their huts, but the sight of them made an appeal stronger than
words.

Of the hospitals T need not speak. Others have described
their condition far better than I can. It is not within the nar-
row limits of my vocabulary to portray it. I went to Cuba
with a strong conviction that the picture had been overdrawn;
that a few cases of starvation and suffering had inspired and
stimulated the press correspondents, and that they-had given

R
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frce play to a strong, natural,.and highly cultivated imagina-
tion.

Before starting I received through the mail a leaflet, with
cuts of some of the sick and starving reconcentrados, and took
it with me, thinking these must be rare specimens, got up to
make the worst possible showing. I saw plenty as bad and
worse; many that should not be photographed and shown.

I could not believe that out of a population of 1,600,000,
200,000 had died within these Spanish forts, practically
prison walls, within a few months past, from actual starva-
tion and diseases caused by insufficient and improper food.
My inquiries were entirely outside of sensational sources.
They were made of medical officers, of our consuls, of
city alcaldes (mayors), of relief committees, of leading mer-
chants and bankers, physicians, and lawyers. Several of
my informants were Spanish born, but every time the answer
was that the case had not been overstated. What I saw I can-
not tell so that others can see it. It had to be seen with one’s
_own eyes to be realized.

The Los Pasos Hospital, in Havana, has been recently de-
scribed by one of my colleagues, Senator Gallinger, and 1 can-
not say that his picture was overdrawn, for even his fertile
pen could not do that. But he visited it after Dr. Lesser, one
of Miss Barton’s very able and efficient assistants, had reno-
vated it and put in cots. I saw it when 400 women and chil-
dren were lying on the floors in an indescribable state of
emaciation and disease, many with the scantiest covering of
rags — and such rags!— sick children, naked as they came
into the world; and the conditions in the other cities are even
worse.

Miss Barton needs no indorsement from me. I had known
and esteemed her for many years, but had not half appreciated
her capability and devotion to her work. I specially looked
into her business methods, fearing that there would be the
greatest danger of mistake, that there might be want of system
and waste and extravagance, but found she could teach me on
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these points. I visited the warehouse where the supplies were
received and distributed ; saw the methods of checking; visited
the hospitals established or organized and supplied by her; saw
the food distribution in several cities and towns, and every-
thing seemed to me to be conducted in the best manner pos-
sible. The ample, fine warehouse in Havana, owned by a
Cuban firm, was given, with a gang of laborers, free of charge
to unload and reship supplies.

The Children’s Hospital, in Havana, a very large, fine
private residence, was hired at a cost of less than $100 per
month. It was under the admirable management of Mrs.
Dr. Lesser of New York, a German lady and trained nurse.
I saw the rapid improvement of the first children taken there.
All Miss Barton’s assistants seemed excellently fitted for their
duties. In short, I saw nothing to criticise, but everything
to commend. The American people may be assured that their
bounty reached the sufferers with the least possible cost and
in the best manner in every respect. If our people could have
seen the small fraction of the need they would have poured
more “ freely from their liberal stores ” than ever before for
any cause.

General Blanco’s order of November 13th somewhat modi-
fied the Weyler order, but was of little or no practical benefit.
Its application was limited to farms “ properly defended,” and
the owners were obliged to build “ centers of defense.” Its
execution was completely in the discretion of the local mili-
tary authorities, and they knew the terrible military efficiency
of Weyler’s order in stripping the country of all possible shel-
ter, food, or source of information for an insurgent, and were
slow to surrender this advantage. In fact, though the order
was issued four months before, I saw no beneficent results from
it worth mentioning.

. I wish I might speak of the country — of its surpassing
richness. T have never seen one to compare with it. On this
point I agree with Columbus, that this is the “ most rich and
beautiful that ever human eye beheld,” and believe every
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one between his time and mine must be of the same opinion.
It is indeed a land— .
‘“ Where every prospect pleases
And only man is vile.”

I had little time to study the race question, and have read
nothing on it, so can only give hasty impressions. It is said
that there were nearly 200,000 Spaniards in Cuba out of a
total population of 1,600,000. They lived principally in the
towns and cities. The small shopkeepers in the towns and
their clerks were mostly Spaniards. Much of the larger busi-
ness, too, and of the property in the cities, and in a less degree
in the country, was in their hands. They had an eye to thrift,
and as everything possible in the way of trade and legalized
monopolies, in which the country abounds, was given to them
by the government, many of them aequired property. I did
not learn that the Spanish residents of the island had con-
tributed largely in blood or treasure to suppress the insur-
rection.

There were, before the war, about 1,000,000 Cubans on
the island, 200,000 -Spaniards (which means those born in
Spain), and less than half a million of negroes and mixed
bloods. The Cuban whites are of pure Spanish blood, and,
like the Spaniards, dark in complexion, but oftener light or
blonde,so far as I noticed. The percentage of colored to white
has been steadily diminishing for more than fifty years, and is
not now over twenty-five per cent. of the total. In fact, the
number of colored people has been actually diminishing for
nearly that time. The Cuban farmer and laborer is by nature
peaceable, kindly, gay, hospitable, light-hearted, and improvi-
dent.

There is a proverb among the Cubans that “ Spanish bulls
cannot be bred in Cuba ”—that is, the Cubans, though they
are of Spanish blood, are less excitable and of a quieter tem-
perament. Many Cubans whom I met spoke in strong terms
against the bull fight; that it was a brutal institution, intro-
duced and mainly patronized by the Spaniards. One thing



42 INTRODUCTION BY SENATOR REDFIELD PROCTOR

that was new to me was to learn the superiority of the well-to-
do Cuban over the Spaniard in the matter of education.
Among those in good circumstances there can be no doubt that
the Cuban is far superior in this respect. And the reason of
it is easy to see. They have been educated in England,
France, or this country, while the Spaniard has such education
as his own country furnishes.

The colored people seem to me by nature quite the cqual
mentally and physically of the race in this country. Cer-
tainly physically they are by far the larger and stronger race
on the island. There is little or no race prejudice, and this
has doubtless been greatly to their advantage. Eighty-five
years ago there were one-half as many free negroes as slaves,
and this proportion slowly increased until emancipation.

It was said that there were about 60,000 Spanish soldiers in
Cuba fit for duty out of the more than 200,000 that had been
sent there. The rest had died, had been sent home sick, or were
in hospitals, and some had been killed, notwithstanding the
official reports. They were conseripts, many of them very
young, and generally small men. One- hundred and thirty
pounds is a fair estimate of their average weight. They were
quiet and obedient, and, if well drilled and led, I believe would
have fought fairly well, but not at all equal to our men.
Much more would depend on the leadership than with us.
The officer must lead well and be one in whom they have con-
fidence, and this applies to both sides alike. As I saw no drills
or regular formation, I inquired about them of many persons,
and was informed that they had never seen a drill. I saw per-
haps 10,000 Spanish troops, but not a piece of artillery or a
tent. They lived in barracks in the towns, and were seldom
out for more than the day, returning to town at night.

They had little or no equipment for supply trains or for
_ a field campaign such as we have. Their cavalry horses were
scrubby little native ponies, weighing not over 800 pounds,
tough and hardy, but for the most part in wretched condition,
reminding one of the mount of Don Quixote. Some of the
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officers, however, had good horses, mostly American, I think.
On both sides cavalry was considered the favorite and the dan-
gerous fighting arm. The tactics of the Spanish, as described
to me by eyewitnesses and participants in some of their battles,
was for the infantry, when threatened by insurgent cavalry, to
form a hollow square and fire away ad libitum, and without
ceasing until time to march back to town.

It did not seem to have entered the minds of either side
that a good infantry force can take care of itself and repulse
anywhere an equal or greater number of cavalry, and there
were everywhere positions where cavalry would be at a disad-
vantage. )

Having called on Governor and Captain-General Blanco
and received his courteous call in return, I could not with pro-
priety seek communication with insurgents. I had plenty of
offers of safe conduct to Gomez’s camp, and was told that if I
would write him, an answer would be returned safely within
ten days at most.

I saw several who had visited the insurgent camps, and
was sought out by an insurgent field officer, who gave me the
best information received as to the insurgent force. His state-
ments were moderate, and I was credibly informed that he
was entirely reliable. He claimed that the Cubans had about
30,000 men then in the field, some in every province, but
mostly in the two eastern provinces and eastern Santa Clara,
and this statement was corroborated from other good sources.
They have a force all the time in Havana province itself, or-
ganized in four small brigades and operating in small bands.
Ruiz was taken, tried, and shot within about a mile and a half
of the railroad and about fifteen miles out of Havana, on the
road to Matanzas, a road more traveled than any other, and
which I went over four times.

Arranguren was killed about three miles the other side of
the road and about the same distance, fifteen or twenty miles
from Havana. The Cubans were well armed, but very poorly
supplied with ammunition. They were not allowed to carry
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many cartridges; sometimes not more than one or two. The
infantry, especially, were poorly clad. Two small squads of
prisoners which I saw, however, one of half a dozen in the
streets of Havana, and one of three on the cars, wore better
clothes than the average Spanish soldier.

Each of these prisoners, though surrounded by guards,
was bound by the arm and wrists by cords, and they were all
tied together by a cord running along the line, a specimen of
the amenities of their warfare. About one-third of the Cuban
army were colored, mostly in the infantry, as the cavalry fur-
nished their own horses.

- Their field officer, an American from a Southern State,
spoke in the highest terms of the conduct of these colored sol-
diers; that they were as good fighters and had more endurance
than the whites; could keep up with the cavalry on a long
march and come in fresh at night.

The dividing lines between parties were the straightest and
clearest cut that have ever come to my knowledge. The
division in our war was by no means so clearly defined. It
was Cuban against Spaniard. It was practically the entire
Cuban population on one side and the Spanish army and Span-
ish citizens on the other.

I do not count the autonomists in this division, as they were
go far too inconsiderable in numbers to be worth counting.
General Blanco filled the civil offices with men who had been
autonomists and were still classed as such. But the march of
events had satisfied most of them that the chance for autonomy
came too late.

It fell as talk of compromise would have fallen the last
year or two of our war. If it succeeded it could only be by
armed force, by the triumph of the Spanish army; and the suc-
cess of Spanish arms would have been easier by Weyler’s policy
and method, for in that the Spanish army and people believe.

There is no donbt that General Blanco acted in entire good
faith; that he desired to give the Cubhans a fair measure of
autonomy, as Campos did at the close of the Ten-Years War.
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He had, of course, a few personal followers, but the army and
the Spanish citizens did not want genuine autonomy, for that
meant government by the Cuban people. And it was not
strange that the Cubans said it came too late.

I have never had any communication, direet or indirect,
with the Cuban Junta in this country or any of its members,
nor did I have with any of the juntas which exist in every city
and large town of Cuba. None of the calls I made were upon
parties of whose sympathies I had the least knowledge, except
that I knew some of them were classed as autonomists.

Most of my informants were business men, who had taken
no sides and rarely expressed themselves. I had no means of
guessing in advance what their answers would be, and was in
most cases greatly surprised at their frankness.

I inquired in regard to autonomy of men of wealth and
men as prominent in business as any in the cities of Havana,
Matanzas, and Sagua, bankers, merchants, lawyers, and
autonomist officials, some of them Spanish born but Cuban
bred, one prominent Englishman, several of them known as
autonomists, and several of them telling me they were still
believers in autonomy if practicable, but without exception
they replied that it was “ too late ” for that.

Some favored a United States protectorate, some annexa-
‘tion, some free Cuba; not one has been counted favoring the
insurrection at first. They “were business men and wanted
peace, but said it was too late for peace under Spanish sov-
ereignty. They characterized Weyler’s order in far stfonger
terms than I can. I could not but conclude that you did not
have to scratch an autonomist very deep to find a Cuban.

I have endeavored to state in not intemperate mood what
I saw and heard, and to make no argument thereon, but leave
everyone to draw his own conclusions. To me the strongest
appeal was not the barbarity practiced by Weyler nor the loss
of the Maine, terrible as were both of these incidents, but the
spectacle of a million and a half of people, the entire native
population of Ciba, struggling for freedom and deliverance
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from the worst misgovernment of which I ever had knowl-
edge. .

I am not in favor of annexation; not because I would ap-
prehend any particular trouble from it, but because it is not
wise policy to take in any people of foreign tongue and train-
ing, and without any strong guiding American element. The
fear that if free the people of Cuba would be revolutionary is
not so well founded as has been supposed, and the conditions
for good self-government are far more favorable. The large
number of educated and patriotic men, the great sacrifices they
have endured, the peaceable temperament of the people,
whites and blacks, the wonderful prosperity that would surely
come with peace and good home rule, the large influx of
American and English immigration and money, would all be
strong factors for stable institutions.




BY

Hon. JOHN M. THURSTON

Senator from Nebraska

INTERVENTION IN CUBA

REASONS WHICH APPEALED TO THE HEARTS OF
' AMERICAN PEOPLE

and Representatives in Congress, I accepted an invita-
tion to make a trip to Cuba and personally investigate
and report upon the situation there. No conditions or restric-
tions were imposed upon us; we were left free to conduct the
investigation in our own way, make our own plans, pursue our
own methods, take our own time, and decide for ourselves
upon the best manner of laying the result of our labors before
the American people. I went to Cuba firmly believing that
the condition of affairs there had‘ been greatly exaggerated by
the press, and my own efforts were directed in the first instance
to the attempted exposure of these supposed exaggerations.
There had, undoubtedly, been much sensationalism in the
journalism of the time, but as to the condition of affairs in
Cuba there had been no exaggeration, because exaggeration
was impossible.

After three years of warfare and the use of 225,000
(47)

ﬁ SHORT time ago, in company with several Senators
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Spanish troops, Spain had lost control of every foot of Cuba
not surrounded by an actual intrenchment and protected by
a fortified picket line.

She held possession, with her armies, of the fortified sea-
board towns, not because the insurgents could not capture
many of them, but because they were under the virtual protec-
tion of Spanish war ships, with which the revolutionists could
not cope.

The revolutionists were in absolute and almost peaceful
possession of nearly one-half of the island, including the eastern
provinces of Santiago de Cuba and Puerto Principe. In those
provinces they had an established form of government, levied
and collected taxes, maintained armies, and generally levied a
tax or tribute upon the principal plantations in the other
provinces, and, as was commonly believed, upon the entire
railway system of the island.

In the four so-called Spanish provinces there was neither
cultivation nor railway operation, except under strong Spanish
military protection or by consent of the revolutionists in con-
sideration of tribute paid.

‘Under the inhuman policy of Weyler not less than
400,000 self-supporting, simple, peaceable, defenseless coun-
try people were driven from their homes in the agricul-
tural portions of the Spanish provinces to the cities and im-
prisoned upon the barren waste outside the residence portions
of these cities and within the lines of intrenchment established
a little way beyond. Their humble homes were burned, their
fields laid waste, their implements of husbandry destroyed,
their live stock and food supplies for the most part confiscated.
Most of these people were old men, women, and children.
They were thus placed in hopeless imprisonment, without
shelter or food. There was no work for them in the cities to
which they were driven. They were left there with nothing
to depend upon except the scanty charity of the inhabitants of
the cities and with slow starvation their inevitable fate.

It was conceded upon the best ascertainable authority, and
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those who have had access to the public records do not hesitate
to state, that upward of 210,000 of these people had already
perished, all from starvation or from diseases incident to
starvation.

The Government of Spain had never contributed one dol-
lar to house, shelter, feed, or provide medical attention for
these, its own citizens. Such a spectacle exceeded the scenes
of the Inferno as painted by Dante.

There had been no amelioration of the situation, except
through the charity of the people of the United States. There
had been no diminution in the death rate among these recon-
centrados except as the death supply was constantly dimin-
ished. There could be no relief and no hope except through
the continued charity of the American people until peace
should be fully restored in the island, and until a humane
government should return these people to their homes and
provide for them anew the means with which to begin again
the cultivation of the soil.

‘Spain could not put an end to the existing condition. She
could not conquer the insurgents. She could not re-establish
her sovereignty over any considerable portion of the interior
of the island.\ The revolutionists, while able to maintain
themselves, could not drive the Spanish army from the fortified
seacoast towns. v

‘The situation, then, was not war as we understand it, but a
chaos of devastation and depopulation of undefined duration,
whose end no man could see.

I will cite but a few facts that came under my personal
observation, all tending to fully substantiate the absolute truth
of .the foregoing propositions. I could detail incidents by the
hour and by the day, but I have no desire to deal in horrors.
If T had my way, I would shield the American public even
from the photographic reproductions of the awful scenes that
I viewed in all their original ghastliness.

Spain had sent to Cuba more than 225,000 soldiers to

subdue the island, whose entire male population capable of
4
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bearing arms did not, at the beginning, exceed that number.
These soldiers were mostly boys, conscripts from the Spanish
hills. They were well armed, but otherwise seemed to be
absolutely unprovided for. They had been without tents
and practically without any of the necessary supplies and
cquipment for service in the field. They had been put in
barracks, in warehouses, and old buildings in the cities where
all sanitary surroundings had been of the worst possible char-
acter. They had seen but little discipline, and I could not
ascertain that such a thing as a drill had taken place in the
island.

There were less than 60,000 then available for duty. The
balance were dead or sick in hospitals, or had been sent back
to Spain as incapacitated for further service. It was currently
stated that there were then 37,000 sick in hospitals. I reached
the conclusion that the entire Spanish army in Cuba could not
stand an engagement in the open field against 20,000 well-
disciplined American soldiers.

As an instance of the discipline among them I eite the fact
that I bought the machete of a Spanish soldier on duty at the
wharf in Matanzas, on his offer, for three dollars in Spanish
silver. He also seemed desirous of selling me his only remain-
ing arm, a revolver.

The Spanish soldiers had not been pald for some months,
and, in my judgment, they, of all the people on the earth,
would most gladly welcome any result which would permit
them to return to their homes in Spain.

The pictures in the American newspapers of the starving
reconcentrados were true. They could all be duplicated by
the thousands. I never saw, and please God may I never
again see, so deplorable a sight as the reconcentrados in the
suburbs of Matanzas. I can never forget to my dying day the
hopeless anguish in their despairing eyes. ~ Huddled about
their little bark huts, they raised no voice of appesl to us for
alms as we went among them.

There was almost no begging by the reconcentrados them-
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selves. The streets of the cities were full of beggars of all
ages and all conditions, but they were almost wholly of the
residents of the cities and largely of the professional-beggar
class. The reconcentrados — men, women, and children —
stood silent, famishing with hunger. Their only appeal came
from their sad eyes, through which one looked as through an
open window into their agonized souls.

The autonomist governor of Matanzas (who spoke excellent
English) had been inaugurated in November, 1897. His
records disclosed that at the city of Matanzas there were 1,200
deaths in November, 1,200 in December, 700 in January, and
500 in February — 3,600 in four months, and these four
months under the administration of a governor whom I believe
to be a truly humane man. He stated to me that on the day
of his inauguration, which, I think, was the 12th of November,
to his personal knowledge fifteen persons died in the public
square in front of the executive mansion. Think of it, oh, my
countrymen! Fifteen human beings dying from starvation
in the public square, in the shade of the palm trees, and amid
the beautiful flowers, in sight of the open windows of the
executive mansion!

The governor of Matanzas told us that for the most part the
people of the city of Matanzas had done all they could for the
reconcentrados; and, after studying the situation over, I be-
lieved his statement to be true. He said the condition of
affairs in the island had destroyed the trade, the commerce,
and the business of the city; that most of the people who had
the means assisted the reconcentrados with food just as long
as they could, but he said to us that there were thousands of
the people living in fine houses on marble floors who were in
deep need themselves, and who did not know from one day to
the other where their food supply was coming from.

The ability of the people of Matanzas to aid was practically
exhausted. The governor told us that he had expended all of
his salary and all that he could possibly afford of his private
means in relief work. He was willing that the reconcentrados
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shall repass the picket line and go back to seek work in the in-
terior of the island. He expressed his willingness to give them
passes for that purpose, but they were no longer physically
able to take advantage of that offer. They had no homes to
return to; their fields had grown up to weeds; they had no
oxen, no implements of husbandry with which to begin anew
the cultivation of the soil. Their only hope was to remain
where they were, to live as long as they could on an insufficient
charity, and then die. What was true at Matanzas was true
at all the other cities where these reconcentrados were gathered.

The Government of Spain had not appropriated and would
not appropriate one dollar to save these people. They were
being attended and nursed and administered to by the charity
of the United States. Think of the spectacle! We were
feeding these citizens of Spain; we were nursing their sick; we
were saving such as could be saved, and yet there were those
who still said it was right for us to send food, but we must
keep our hands off. I said that the time had come when
muskets ought to go with the food.

We asked the governor if he knew of any relief for these
people except through the charity of the United States. He
did not. We then asked him, “ Can you see any cnd to this
condition of affairs?” He could not. We asked him,
“ When do you think the time will come that-these people can
be placed in a position of self-support?” He replied to us,
with deep feeling, “ Only the good God or the great Govern-
ment of the United States can answer that question.” I hoped
and believed that the good God by the great Government of
the United States would answer that question.

I shall refer to these horrible things no further. They
were there. God pity me; I have seen them; they will re-
main in my mind forever — and this is almost the twentieth
century. Christ died nineteen hundred years ago, and Spain
is a Christian nation. She has set up more crosses in more
lands, beneath more skies, and under them has butchered more
people than all the other nations of the earth combined.



INTRODUCTION BY SENATOR JOHN M. THURSTON 53

Europe may tolerate her existence as long as the people of
the Old World wish. “ God grant,” said I, “ that before an-
other Christmas morning the last vestige of Spanish tyranny
and oppression will have vanished from the Western Hemis-
phere.”

I counseled silence and moderation in the Senate when the
passion of the nation seemed at white heat over the destruction
of the Maine, but it seemed to me the time for action had
finally come. No action in the Maine case! I hoped and
trusted that this Government would take action on the Cuban
situation entirely outside the Maine case.

‘What should the United States do?

I believed that recognition of belligerency on our part
would have enabled the Cuban patriots to have achieved in-
dependence for themselves; that it would have given them
such a standing in the money markets of the world, such rights
on the sea,such flag on the land, that the independence of Cuba
would have been speedily secured, and that without cost or loss
of blood or treasure to the people of the United States. But
that time had passed; it was too late to talk about resolutions
according belligerent rights; and mere resolutions recognizing
the independence of the Cuban republiec would have availed
but little. The platform of my party demanded that the
United States should actively use its influence for the inde-
pendence of the island.

I yield to no man living in my respect, my admiration
for, and my confidence in the judgment, the wisdom, the
patriotism, the Americanism of William McKinley. When
he entered upon his administration he faced a difficult situa-
tion. It was his duty to proceed with care and caution. At
the first available opportunity he addressed a note to Spain,
in which he gave that Government notice, as set forth in his
message to the Congress of the United States, that the United
States “ could be required to wait only a reasonable time for
the mother country to establish its authority and restore peace
and order within the borders of the island; that we could not
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contemplate an indefinite period for the accomplishment of this
result.” ’

The President further advised us: “ This government has
never in any way abrogated its sovereign prerogative of reserv-
ing to itself the determination of its policy and course accord-
ing to its own high sense of right and in consonance with the
dearest interests and convictions of our own people should the
prolongation of the strife demand.”

This was the proper, the statesmanlike beginning of the
performance of the promise of the Republican platform. It
was in accordance with the diplomatic usages and customs of
civilized nations. In the meantime the whole situation ap-
parently changed. In Spain the liberal ministry of Sagasta
succeeded that of Canovas; the cruel and inhuman Weyler
was recalled, and succeeded by the humane Blanco, who, under
the Sagasta ministry, had unquestionably made every effort
to bring about peace in the island of Cuba under the promise
of autonomy — a decided advance beyond any proposition ever
before made for the participation of the Cubans in their own
domestic affairs.

It was the plain duty of the President of the United States
to give to the liberal ministry of Spain a reasonable time in
which to test its proposed autonomy. That time was given.
Autonomy was conceded the wide world over to be a con-
spicuous failure. The situation in Cuba had only changed
for the worse. Sagasta was powerless; Blanco was powerless
to put an end to the conflict, to rehabilitate the island, or to
relieve the suffering, starvation, and distress.

The time for action had come. Every hour’s delay only
added another chapter to the awful story of misery and death.
Only one power could intervene — The United States of
America. Ours was the one great nation of the New World,
the mother of American republics. She holds a position of
trust and responsibility toward the peoples and the affairs of
the whole Western Hemisphere.

It was her glorious example which inspired the patriots of
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Cuba to raise the flag of liberty on her eternal hills. We could’
not refuse to accept this responsibility which the God of the
universe has placed upon us as the one great power in the New
World. We must act! What should our action be? Some
said the acknowledgment of the belligerency of the revolu-
tionists. As I have already shown, the hour and the oppor-
tunity for that had passed away.

Others said, “ Let us by resolution or official proclamation
recognize the independence of the Cubans.” It was too late
even for such recognition to be of great avail. Others said,
“ Annexation to the United States.” God forbid! I would
oppose annexation with my latest breath. The people of Cuba
are not our people; they-tannot assimilate with us; and beyond
all that I am utterly and unalterably opposed to any depart-
ure from the declared policy of the fathers which would start
this republic for the first time upon a career of conquest and
dominion utterly at variance with the avowed purposes and
the manifest destiny of popular government.

Let the world understand that the United States did not
propose to annex Cuba, that it was not seeking a foot of Cuban
soil or a dollar of Spanish treasure. Others said, “ Let us in-
tervene for the pacification of the island, giving to its people
the greatest measure of autonomy consistent with the con-
tinued sovereignty of Spain.” Such a result was no longer
possible. It is enough to say that it would have been resisted
by all classes of the Cuban population, and its attempt would
simply have transferred the putting down of the revolution
and the subjugation of the Cuban patrlots to the armies of the
United States.

There was also said to be a syndicate organization in this
country, representing the holders of Spanish bonds, who were
urging that the intervention of the United States should be
for the purchase of the island or for the guaranteeing of the
Spanish debt incurred in the attempted subjugation of the
Cuban revolutionists. It was idle to think for a single mo-
ment of such a plan. The American people would never con-



56 INTRODUCTION BY SENATOR JOHN M. THURSTON

sent to the payment of one dollar, to the guaranteeing of one
bond, as the price paid to Spain for her relinquishment of the
island she had so wantonly outraged and devastated.

There was only one action possible: that is, intervention
for the independence of the island; intervention that would
mean the landing of an American army on Cuban soil, the de-
ploying of an American fleet off Havana; intervention which
would say to Spain, “ Leave the island, withdraw your soldiers,
leave the Cubans, these brothers of ours in the new world, to
form and carry on government for themselves.” Such in-

- tervention on our part would not of §tself be war. It would
undoubtedly lead to war. But if war came it would come by
act of Spain in resistance of the liberty and the independence

- of the Cuban people.

There had been a time when “jingoism ” was abroad in
the land; when sensationalism prevailed, and when there was
a distinct effort to inflame the passions and prejudices of the
American people and precipitate a war with Spain. That
time had passed away. “Jingoism” was long since dead.
The American people had waited and waited and waited in
patience; yea, in patience and confidence — confidence in the
belief that decisive action would be taken in due season and in
a proper way. All over this land the appeal came up to us; it
reached us from every section and from every class. That
appeal was for action.

The administration had been doing its whole duty. With
rare foresight and statesmanship it had hastened to make every
possible preparation for any emergency. If it were true that
the report in the Maine case was delayed, it had been delayed
in order that we might be prepared at all points for defensive
and offensive action. There were some who said, but they
are mostly those who had procrastinated from the beginning,
“ Let Congress hold its peace, adjourn, go home, and leave the
President to act.”

I for one believe that the Congress of the United States
is an equal and co-ordinate branch of the Federal govern-

[{
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ment, representing the combined judgment and wisdom of the
many. It could more safely be depended on than the in-
dividual judgment and wisdom of any one man. I, a sena-
tor of the United States, would not consent to abdicate my
right to participate in the determination as to what is the
golemn duty of this great Republic in such a momentous and
fateful hour. We were not in session to hamper or cripple
the President; we were there to advise and assist him. Con-
gress alone could declare war; Congress alone could levy
taxes; and to this Congress the united people of this broad '
land, from sea to sea, from lake to gulf, looked to voice their
wishes and execute their will. _ .

Against the intervention of the United States in this holy
cause there was but one voice of dissent; that voice was the
voice of the money-changers. They feared war! Not be-
cause of any Christian or ennobling sentiment against war and
in favor of peace, but because they feared that a declaration of
war, or the intervention which might result in war, would
have a depressing effect upon the stock market.

I did not read my duty from the ticker; I did not accept
my lessons in patriotism from Wall street. I deprecated war.
I hoped and prayed for the speedy coming of the time when
the sword of the soldier would no longer leap from its scab-
bard to settle disputes between civilized nations. But it was
evident, looking at the cold facts, that a war with Spain would
not permanently depreciate the value of a single American
stock or bond.

War with Spain would increase the business and the earn-
ings of every American railroad, it would increase the output
of every American factory, it would stimulate every branch
of industry and domestic commerce, it would greatly increase
the demand for American labor, and in the end every cer-
tificate that represented a share in an American business en-
terprise would be worth more money. But in the mean-
time the specter of war would stride through the stock
exchanges, and many of the gamblers around the board would
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find their ill-gotten gains passing to the other side of the
table.

I said, “ Let them go; what one man loses at the gambling
table his fellow-gambler wins.” It was no concern of yours, it
was no concern of mine whether the “ bulls ” or the “ bears ”’
had the best of these stock deals. They did not represent
American sentiment; they did not represent American
patriotism. Let them take their chances as they could.
Their weal or woe was of but little importance to the liberty-
loving people of the United States. They would not do
the fighting; their blood would not flow; they would keep on
dealing in options on human life. The time had come when
the men whose loyalty was to the dollar should stand aside
while those whose loyalty was to the flag went to the front.

There were some who lifted their voices in the land and in
the open light of day insisted that the republican party
would not act, for they said it had sold out to the capitalists
and the money-changers at the last national election. It
was not so. God forbid! The 7,000,000 freemen who voted
for the republican party and for William McKinley did not
mortgage the honor of this nation for a campaign fund, and if
the time ever comes when the republican party hesitates in its
course of duty because of any undue anxiety for the welfare
of the accumulated wealth of the nation, then let the republi-
can party be swept from the face of the earth and be suc-
ceeded by some other party, by whatever name it may be
called, which will represent the patriotism, the honesty, the
loyalty, and the devotion that the republican party exhibited
under Abraham Lincoln in 1861.
7~ There were those who said that the affairs of Cuba were not
the affairs of the United States, who insisted that we could
stand idly by and see that island devastated and depopulated,
its business interests destroyed, its commercial intercourse with
us cut off, its people starved, degraded, and enslaved. It
might be the naked legal right of the United States to stand
thus idly by. ’

e e e fctnader, t———  —— e ——— e —  —
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I have the legal right to pass along the street and see a
helpless dog stamped into the earth under the heels of a ruffian.
I can pass by and say that is not my dog. I can sit in my com-
fortable parlor with my loved ones gathered about me, and
through my plate-glass window see a fiend outraging a help-
less woman near by, and I can legally say this is no affair of
mine — it is not happening on my premises; and I can turn
away and take my little ones in my arms, and, with the
memory of their sainted mother in my heart,* look up to the
motto on the wall and read, “ God bless our home.”

But if I do I am a coward and a cur unfit to live, and, God
knows, -unfit to die. And yet I cannot protect the dog nor
save the woman without the exercise of force.

We could not intervene and save Cuba without the exer-
cise of force, and force meant war; war meant blood. The
lowly Nazarene on the shores of Galilee preached the divine
doctrine of love, “ Peace on earth, good will toward men.”
Not peace on earth at the expense of liberty and humanity.
Not good will toward men who despoil, enslave, degrade, and
starve to death their fellow men. I believe in the doctrine
of Christ. I believe in the doctrine of peace; but men must
have liberty before there can come abiding peace.

Intervention meant force. Force meant war. War
meant blood. But it would be God’s force.” When has a
battle for humanity and liberty ever been won except by force?
‘What barricade of wrong, injustice, and oppression has ever
been carried except by forece?

Force compelled the signature of unwilling royalty to the
great Magna Charta; force put life into the Declaration of In-
dependence, and made effective the Emancipation Proclama-
tion; force beat with naked hands upon the iron gateway of
the Bastile and made reprisal in one awful hour for centuries
of kingly erime; force waved the flag of revolution over
Bunker Hill, and marked the snows of Valley Forge with

¢ AurHOR's NoTE.—Mrs, Thurston, who accompanied her husband on his journey, was
taken {1l and dled in Cuba.
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blood-stained feet; force held the broken line at Shiloh,
climbed the flame-swept hill at Chattanooga, and stormed the
clouds on Lookout heights; force marched with Sherman to
the sea, rode with Sheridan in the valley of the Shenandoah,
and gave Grant victory at Appomattox; force saved the Union,
kept the stars in the flag, made “ niggers” men. The time
for God’s force had come again. The impassioned lips of
American patriots once more took up the song:

‘“In the beauty of the lilies Christ was born across the ses,
‘With a glory in His bosom that transfigures you and me;
As He died to make men holy, let us die to make men free,

For God is marching on.”

Others might hesitate, others might procrastinate, others
might plead for further diplomatic negotiation, which meant
delay, but for me, I was ready to act then, and for my action
I was ready to answer to my conscience, my country, and my
God. :

In the cable that moored me to life and hope the strongest
strands were broken. I had but little left to offer at the
altar of Freedom’s sacrifice, but all T had I was glad to give.
I was ready to serve my country as best I could in the Senate
or in the field. My dearest wish, my most earnest prayer to
God was, that when death came to end all I might meet it
calmly and fearlessly as did my beloved, in the cause of
humanity, under the American flag.

G
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HE latter part of the cighteenth
century beheld Spain the proud
mistress of a domain upon which
she could boast that the sun never
set. At the close of the nine-
teenth hardly a vestige of that
great empire remains. She found
a new world and, little by little,
in a hundred years has lost it all.
Into the Europe of the sixteenth
century she poured such a stream
of golden treasure as had never
before been seen, the rich stores
of the Incas and the Monte

zumas, but it all slipped from her hands, and she is now practi-

cally bankrupt, loaded with a debt she can never pay.

Through her was possible the renaissance of the sixteenth
(61)
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century, the great reawakening of medisval Europe; but
Spain remained medisgeval. * Those very human forces which
she set in action by the great discoveries of her intrepid mar-
iners and by the distribution of her newly-found treasures,—
forces which gave birth to modern history, she strenuously re-
sisted. Upon that expansion of thought and action, follow-
ing naturally the accomplishments of her daring explorers,
she set her iron heel. Upon the unfolding possibilities laid at
her feet by Columbus, Cortez, Pizarro, Ponce de Leon, Bal-
boa, and others on the sea, she placed the blight of her Tor-
quemadas and a line of bigoted rulers at home. She strangled
ber own magnificent creations, and set about destroying her
own colonies by as heedless and as cruel a policy as was ever
conceived by barbarian of old.

They who discovered the Gulf of Mexico, the Mississippi,
the Amazon, and the Pacific — those who first went around
the world, were Spaniards. Three-fourths of North and South
America were Spanish before England had acquired a little
spot of land on the nearest shores of America, and to-day Spain
withdraws from the last foot of land which once constituted
her gigantic Western domain.

It would be absurd to say that thls has been brought about
without a reason. Sufficient reason exists, and it must to a
great extent be found in the character of the nation. The
foundation for the Spanish character, as in the case of other
peoples, must be largely found in the history of the nation,
which forms no part of the purpose of this book. For a full
understanding, however, of Spain’s relation to Cuba and to
the United States, a brief glance at the general features of
Spanish history up to the nineteenth century will be useful.

Under Roman sway Spain became, more than any part
of the empire of the Cwesars, a Roman province, and its traces
remain to this day in language, laws, and customs. The
Ttalian language preserves less of the qualities of the old Latin
than the Spanish, and certainly no more striking trace of
lingering Roman habit need be sought than in the Spanish
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bull-fight. In the great amphitheaters erected by the masters
of the Roman world, money was lavished and victims were
slain to gratify the appetite of the masses. The proud Roman
maids and matrons watched with delight the fierce gladiators
hewing each other to pieces, and in later and more degenerate
days looked on with equal interest while helpless Christians
were torn by savage beasts. But cruelty had still the glamor
of heroism.

In Spain the gladiator has become the picador and the
matador. In place of the Roman maids and matrons are found
the Spanish sefioras and sefioritas of Madrid, Seville, and
Havana, watching with keen delight the slow irritation and
laceration of the bulls, and the disemboweling of gallant horses
by the enraged beasts. But in this Roman inheritance a modi-
fication has taken place too indicative of Spanish character
to pass unmentioned. There is the same passion of cruelty
in the bull-ring as in the old amphitheater, but the real heroism
has gone. From the moment the by]l steps into the ring he
is doomed; it is no longer a contest of strength, but of persecu-
tion. The banderilleros are supplied with weapons to tease
the animal and means to escape his onslaughts. Whichever
way the tortured animal turns he is met by a fresh enemy,
and he rushes at him only to see him spring aside. The pur-
pose is not to give the animal a fatal wound, but a hundred
bleeding, torturing ones. It is cruelty from which all heroism
is stripped; cruelty only for the love of cruelty — the key to
a great deal in the Spanish character.

But there are other traces than the Roman in this Spanish
character. As a part of the political débris resulting from the
fall of the Roman empire, Spain fell to the Visigoths, whose
history there embraces three centuries of debauchery, intrigue,
and murder, tainting the blood of the people. In time, guided
by the spirit of the age, Spain became a hierarchy, in which the
influence of the church became all-powerful, the best of the
Gothic kings, Wamba, who resisted this tendency, falling a
prey to ecclesiastical treachery. The absorption of the state
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by the church became more and more comp under the
centuries of Moorish warfare, and left its indelible stamp upon
the nation. For, in fighting for his faith, the Spaniard, un-
like the Crusader, was fighting for his home. He became a
fierce fanatic, naturally enough, no doubt, and, w! en Grenada
fell, Spain at last became a nation, but a nation - © fanatics.
It was an age of Spanish heroism, but a heroism :h went
hand in hand with extravagant religious zeal. 1 .he latter
were the seeds of the ruin of the greatness of her hevoism, and
as soon as the vast Spanish empire was created it began to dis-
integrate. (If it was Ferdinand and Isabella’who sent Colum-
bus forth, it was they also who expelled the Jews, and sent two
hundred thousand Spaniards to death in exile. So blind was
Spanish fanaticism that it was not enough to light the fires
under the Jews; heresy must be stamped out. The Spaniard
who thought and was so brave as to tell what he thought be-
came a victim. The hand of the Inquisitor fell upon the
philosopher and inventor who came forth with the reawaken-
ing of the renaissance, and while other nations advanced slowly
towards modern ideas, Spain proudly clung to medizevalism.

The economic effects of this bigotry were unmistakable.
The persecuted Jews were the financiers, and, because of the
improvidence of rulers and the simplicity of the people in
financial matters, they possessed all the ready money. The
hated Moors were traders who brought rich merchandise from
the east. In her religious zeal, therefore, Spain exterminated
her mercantile classes and left none but warriors, priests, and
peasants. The main wheel was taken out of her cconomic
structure. The new wealth from America slipped into the
hands of those she persecuted, and thus her wars of persecution
impoverished her at the very time when she might have be-
come the richest nation in Europe, while her further oppres-
sion of her thinkers increased her bigotry and sapped her enter-
prise. When there was no war on hand for the warriors, and

no more heretics for the priests to burn, there was nothing Teft.

for this class but intrigue. Under the various rulers of the
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houses of Ha J:drg and Bourbon, this policy continued, until,
after nearly two centuries, Spain was wellnigh exhausted.
She had planted her colonies all over the new world, but had
neither the alility nor the resources to develop them. The
rest of Europ# had finally begun to profit from the reawaken-
ing, and ©* "lownfall of Spain in America at once began, in
the closing trs of the eighteenth century. The peculiar exi-
gencies of 1 r history had made the Spanish people warriors
unfitted for'war, and colonists unfitted to govern colonies.

With this brief generalization of Spanish history and
character, we may enter understandingly upon the story of
Spain in America, and particularly in the Antilles. In his
conversations with the friendly natives whom Columbus found
on the island of San Salvador, where he first set foot in the
new world, he sought with eagerness to learn whence came the
gold ornaments they wore. They pointed to the south, and
he made out that in that direction lay a land of great extent
called Cuba, and, self-deceived as he constantly was by his
maps and previously-formed ideas, he immediately concluded
that this Cuba must be the country of the Grand Khan of Asia.
Accordingly, he set sail, and in three days, or on October 28,
1492, he touched the Cuban shore not far from the present site
of Nuevitas. He was dazzled by the beauty of the landscape
before him and declared it to be “the goodliest land he ever
saw.” “ As he approached this noble island,” wrote Irving,
“he was struck with its magnitude and the grandeur of its
features; its high and airy mountains, which reminded him of
those in Sicily; its fertile valleys, and long, sweeping plains
watered by noble rivers; its stately forests; its bold promon-
tories and stretching headlands which melted away into the
remotest distance. He anchored in a beautiful river of trans-
parent clearness, free from rocks and shoals, its banks over-
hung with trees.” Here landing and taking possession of the
island, he gave it the name of Juana, in honor of Prince Juan,
the son of his sovereigns.

At the time of their discovery the islands of the Caribbean
5
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Sea were inhabited by two distinet Indian peoples, the
Arawaks and the Caribs. The greater Antilles, Cuba, Haiti,
Jamaica, and Puerto Rico, were inhabited almost exclusively
by the former, and the lesser islands by the latter, who were,
however, the more warlike and venturesome. The Arawaks,
by all accounts, were a simple, kindly people, given to useful
employments and leading a happy life. “ So loving, so tract-
able, so peaceable are these people,” wrote Columbus to his
sovereigns, “ that I swear to your majesties there is not in the
world a better nation nor a better land.  They love their
neighbors as themselves; and their discourse is ever sweet and
gentle and accompanied with a smile; and though it is true
they are naked, yet their manners are decorous and praise-
worthy.” Peter Martyr also wrote of them, “It.is certain
that the land among these people is as common as the sun and
water; and that ‘ mine and thine,’ the seeds of all mischief,
have no place with them. They are content with so little that
in so large a country they have rather superfiuity than scarce-
ness; so that they seem to live in the golden world, without
toil, living in open gardens, not intrenched with dykes, divided
with hedges, or defended with walls. They deal truly one
with another, without laws, without books, and without judges.
They take him for an evjl and mischievous man who taketh
pleasure in doing hurt to another; and albeit they delight not in
superfluities, yet they make provision for the increase of such
roots whereof they make their bread, contented with such
simple diet, whereby health is preserved and disease avoided.”
To these artless people, living a life so plainly consistent with
the Christian gospel in many essential respects, the Spaniards
resolved, in all sincerity and with the most labored devotion,
to carry the true faith. ' The natives naturally looked upon
Columbus and his followers as superior beings, and, when their
timidity had been removed, they rendered their visitors every
service in their power and placed before them the best they
had; the cotton which they had learned to rudely spin, their
fruits, and everything they considered of value. Columbus
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carried his faith conspicuously before him, planting the cross
wherever he landed, and, of course, he regarded the natives,
kindly as they were, as heathen. Once after he had set up a
cross and celebrated mass, a ceremony watched by the natives
with the closest attention, one of the group, an old man, came
forward and made a speech in the Indian tongue, which was
then translated to Columbus by an interpreter. The Arawak
said that the ceremony he had witnessed seemed to be a method
of giving thanks to the Great Spirit, and, after stating that he
had heard how the white people had come in large numbers
and conquered many islands, he warned him in the following
words: “If, then, thou art mortal and dost expect to die,
and dost believe that each man shall be rewarded according
to his deeds, beware that thou wrongfully hurt no man nor do
harm to those who have done no harm to thee.” Columbus
replied that they might have confidence in the white men who
had come to teach them the true faith.

Yet, in a few years, the Spaniards, with bloody hands, had
swept these simple, kindly people from the face of the An-
tilles! Columbus himself did not hesitate to slaughter Caribs
or to send them to Spain to be sold into slavery, when he found
that they had no gold; for he must do something to replenish
the empty treasure chests of his sovereigns. If these daring
Spaniards carried the cross ever in front of them, what they
most sought was treasure. It should be said for Ferdinand
and Isabella, however, that they deprecated these acts and
actually prohibited the deportation of the Caribs for servi-
tude. They desired gold. Columbus urged, in justification
of Carib slavery, that they were enemies of the Spaniards and
also of the gentle Arawaks, and the deportation continued.

It was not Cuba, but Haiti, which was chosen for the first
Spanish settlements in the Antilles. There Columbus left
a small colony under Diego de Arana, and under the protec-
tion of a friendly cacique, or native chief. He prayed that on
his return he should find a ton of gold and spices, with the pro-
ceeds of which his sovereigns might drive the infidels out of
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Jerusalem. But the colonists quarreled among themselves
and with the natives. While they hunted the country for
gold, they expected that the Indians would supply them with
provisions. This the natives did freely at first, but the
Spaniards demanded more and more, and when supplies were
not forthcoming, they deliberately seized them. The Indians
saw their fields wasted by those whom they had befriended,
and, observing that it did no good to cultivate them when the
product was all taken from their hands, they fled to the in-
terior and left the settlers face to face with the necessity of
starving or cultivating the fields themselves, work which they
scorned. This led them to wreak new outrages upon the
Indians, who combined to resist them, and, when Columbus
returned he found, not a ton of gold, but a ruined colony.
Then the home government adopted the policy of giving indi-
vidual grants of Jand and allotting a certain number of Indians
as slaves, and so arose the system which ultimately depopulated
the islands. The natives, accustomed for generations to a
measure of independence and freedom which is seldom en-
joyed except by peaceable savages, could not endure the harsh
slavery to which they were subjected. Hundreds committed
suicide rather than work under the lash, and finally the settlers
began to kill them out of pure wantonness. But slaves being
more and more in demand as the native population decreased,
the practice of kidnapping them from the smaller islands came
into use.

We need not dwell upon the story of the cruelty of the
early Spanish settlers, or tell of the thousands of defenceless
people murdered and thousands carricd away as slaves, of the
stealing of gold ornaments, and the sacking of provisions. It
is a long story of rapine, brutality, waste, and insult. The
natives were exterminated. We may jndge from the words
of a prelate of those days, Bishop of Chiapas, who was brave
enough to protest against the abuses practiced by the Spanish
colonizers. Tt throws light npon the real Spanish character.
“To these quiet lambs,” he wrote, “ endued with such blessed
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qualities, came the Spaniards like most cruel tygres, wolves,
and lions, enraged with a sharp and tedious hunger; for these
forty years past, minding nothing else but the slaughter of
these unfortunate wretches, whom with divers kinds of tor-
ments, neither seen nor heard of before, they have so cruelly
and inhumanely butchered, that of three million people which
Hispaniola [ Haiti] itself did contain, there are left remaining
alive scarce three hundred persons. And for the island of
Cuba, which contains as much ground in length as from Valla-
dolid to Rome, it lies wholly desert, untill’d and ruin’d.” )

Such, then, was the condition of Cuba fifty years after that
bright day when it burst upon the vision of Columbus, “ the
goodliest land ” he ever saw.

In this situation the idea of importing slaves from Africa
was naturally suggested. It had been noticed that the Afri-
cans who had been brought to the new colonies continued ro- .
bust under the blazing sun and in the hard labor of the mines,
and thus, from a small beginning, an extensive slave trade
grew up, much more lucrative than the working of the mines.
But it was not the Spaniard who prospered most in this enter-
prise, for soon after the discovery of America the danger that
the Spanish discoveries might conflict with those of that other
Catholic people, the Portuguese, Pope Alexander V1., while
confirming the right of the Spanish crown to all the lands dis-
covered, designated a line to be drawn due north and south a
hundred leagues west of the Azores from one pole to the other.
All pagan lands to the east of the line were confirmed to Por-
tugel and all to the west of the line was to be the exclusive
property of Spain. Ferdinand and TIsabella were commanded
to appoint upright, God-fearing, skillful, and learned men to
instruct the inhabitants in the Catholic faith, and all unau-
thorized persons were forbidden to traffic on or even apnroach
the territories, under penalty of incurring “ the indignation of
Almighty God and of the Blessed Apostles Peter and Paul.”
According to this offhand arrangement no other power counld
have anything. This simple division of the world, therefore,
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gave Africa to the Portuguese, and, so far as a Papal bull could,
carried with it the slave trade. But in view of its lucrative
character, it soon attracted adventurous spirits of other nations,
who, inecreasing in number and boldness, found after a few
years a vast field of enterprise in all sorts of piratical under-
takings. In time the Spanish islands and Main became a
swarming nest of adventurers of several nations, and as the
native Indians disappeared from the Antilles, the black man
took his place, a fact which accounts for the character of the
population of the islands, and the black republics of Haiti and
San Domingo.
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HE native population of Haiti had become nearly ex-
T hausted before the settlement of Cuba was attempted,
and it was because of the unsatisfactory condition of

the former island that Don Diego Columbus, son of the great
discoverer, determined, in 1511, to secure a footing in the
*“ Pear] of the Antilles.” He chose for the enterprise Diego
Velasquez, one of his father’s companions, who with about
three hundred men landed near the eastern end of the island
and founded Baracoa. The harmless Indians offered little re-
sistance, though one chief, named Hatuey, who had been in
Haiti and knew something of the Spanish practices there, at-
tempted some opposition. He was quickly captured and his
followers were dispersed. - As a high chief among his people
he deserved to be treated as an honorable captive, but his death
may be cited as the first instance of Spanish methods upon the
island.  As the story goes, when Hatuey was tied to the stake

and the fagots were piled around him, a Franciscan friar stood
(M)
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by and besought him to abjure the heathen gods of his ances-
tors and accept the true faith so that, as the flames consumed
his body, his soul might be wafted to that heaven of rest and
happiness prepared for the faithful. He saw that his accept-
ance of the new faith would not save him from the flames, and
g0 he asked if there were any Spaniards in that place of eternal

bliss. Of course the friar promptly answered in the affirma-

tive.

“I will not go,” he said, “to a place where I may meet
one of that accursed race.”

Parties from the new colony pushed out and explored the
island thoroughly, and in 1514 the towns of Santiago and
Trinidad on the south coast were formed, largely for the pur-
pose of facilitating communication with the Spanish on the
island of Jamaica. The next year another settlement was
made at the spot now known as Batabano, and it was named,
after the great discoverer, San Christobal de 1a Habana. Four
years later the settlers removed both the town and its name
to a more attractive place just across the island on the north
shore, and here, in time, grew up the present capital. Within
ten years also Velasquez had founded the towns of Bayamo,
Puerto Principe, and St. Spiritus.

But the Spaniards had profited little, if any, by the experi-
ences following the cruel policy of extermination on adjacent
islands. Diego Velasquez, who was the first governor, ap-
pears to have endeavored to administer affairs with intelli-
gence, and he was certainly energetic, but his treatment of the
ahorigines was cruel and short-sighted in the extreme. Al-
though the Indians were mild and inoffensive, the story of the
Haitian settlement was repeated. The native population
dwindled away under the slavery by which they were sub-
jugated; the abuses to which the women were subjected by the
lascivious Spaniards broke the spirit of a people who seemed
to have a marked development of domestic honor. In a short
time only a few remnants of the more barbarous mountain
tribes remained. The soil of the isle was further enriched by

- — e —— - —
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the blood of a million aborigines who, up to the coming of the
Spaniards, had live¢ lives of peace and contentment, prac-
ticing the golden rule more consistently than those who so
faithfully set up the cross in these virgin regions. ,

It is true that the Anglo-Saxon can say very little when it
comes to the point of discussing mercy to the natives of Amer-
ica, for the spirit of the age was intolerant and relentless. The
fanaticism of men was so intense that it made them ruthless,
particularly when woven into the texture of the character of
the Spaniards, who certainly surpassed all others in cruelty,
though in the milder climates of the tropics they had a timid
and yielding race to"deal with.

Notwithstanding this, Cuba flourished. The soil was rich
and yielded plentifully. The energy of the early governors
rendered the mines profitable, instituted agricultural pursuits,
and created a large trade with the neighboring islands and the
home ports. The island was, moreover, used as a sort of depot
by the Spanish in their operation against the mainlands.
Here it was that Cortez embarked for the conquest of Mexico,
where “ the star of the Aztec dynasty set in blood.”

But the waters of the West Indies soon became the ren-
dezvous of all the maritime adventurers of that ruffianly age.
The other nations had never accepted the Pope’s straight-cut
division of the world whereby Spain was generously given the
whole Western Hemisphere, and England openly disputed it.
Little was done by the governments themselves, however, so
long as they were at peace with Spain, but the continued stories
of treasure shipped from the new lands stirred up a host of in-
dividual corsairs who cared nothing for papal boundaries nor
for the rights of discovery.

In 1518 the capital of Cuba had been moved from Baracoa
{o Santiago, and Spain began to take precautions against the
new marauders of the sea, who, however, became more bold
and numerous, at times actually forcing their goods upon the
Spanish settlgrs under threats of pillage. In 1536 the people
at Havana paid a large sum to a French corsair to save the
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city, and a battle which took place at Santiago in 1538 well
illustrates the spirit of those times.

A French corsair came into that port and a Spanish vessel
gave fight. They fought the first day till sunset, when they
declared a truce for rest and refreshments while the captains
exchanged civilities. Over their wine and fruit they
mutually agreed to fight each other only by day and only by
swords and lances; for artillery, they agreed, was for cowards,
and they preferred to show their mettle in a square contest,
whichever conquered taking the other’s vessel. In this way
they fought the whole of the second day, neither conquering,
and again the captains exchanged civilitics. The Spanish
captain, Diego Perez, asked the inhabitants of Santiago that
night if they would compensate him for the loss of his ship in
case the Frenchman got the better of him, for he said he was
a poor man and could not afford to lose his ship. If he could
be sure of compensation, he would keep up the fight to the
end, and, if victorious, it would be of advantage to the city as
well as to him. The people declined to pledge themselves,
doubtless thinking that the Spaniard would not mar his repu-
tation by withdrawing, and they were right. The battle con-
tinued the next day with renewed ferocity, many falling in the
fierce hand-to-hand conflict; and so again on the fourth day,
on the evening of which the Frenchman promised to continue
it the next morning. But he evidently thought better of it
during the night, for he slipped his cable and retired.

But in spite of such instances of bold resistance the Eng-
lish and French corsairs inflicted great damage upon Spanish
trade, and a French privateer captured Havana and burned it
to the ground. One raid followed another till the Spaniards
were at their wits’ end. They began to build forts and forti-
fications. De Soto, who had returned with plunder from
Peru, was commissioned as governor of Cuba and Florida with
the title of Captain-General, and with instructions to build a
fortress at Havana. He hegan the ercction of the Castillo de
la Fuerza, though it was finished by his lieutenants while he
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was away searching for gold in Florida, and tracing the course
of the Mississippi, in which he found his grave.

But English, French, and Dutch raiders continued to
swarm about the islands, and by this time the Spaniards saw,
or should have seen, one of the disastrous results of their cruel
treatment of the Indians, for the hostility of such natives as
were left was intense, and they freely welcomed to the small
islands and even to Cuba any piratical comer who threatened
the Spanish settlers, and they offered to assist the corsairs in
every way possible. In 1551 the capital of Cuba was trans-
ferred to Havana, which had been growing in importance be-
cause of its commanding situation, good harbor, and fertile
surroundings. But it was the object of continued attack, and
in 1554 was partly destroyed by the French, and in the follow-
ing vear was plundered by pirates. In the wars of Charles
I. of Spain and his son Philip II., the English under Drake
again seriously threatened the port, and the Spaniards deter-
mined to increase the fortifications. This gave rise to the
famous Morro Castle and the Bateria de la Punta, which for a
long time made Havana one of the best fortified ports in the
world. They were begun the year after the destruction of the
famous Armada and completed in 1597, and from that time
Havana was the commercial center of the Spanish dominions,
being the stopping place for the treasure ships bearing gold and
silver from Mexico and other colonies.

But the destruction of the Armada had seriously crippled
the maritime power of Spain. That great expedition, chiefly
undertaken to bring England back to the Catholic faith, was
but an incident in that determined purpose of Spain to estab-
lish the power of the Pope while maintaining her exclusive
right to the commerce of the new Western world as granted by
the bill of partition. The fanatical religious fervor of the
Spaniards is illustrated by an incident which took place on the
coast of Florida, where a party of French Huguerots settled
in 1567. Soon there came a Spaniard sailing under orders to
“ gibbet and behead all Protestants in those regions.” The
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settlement was surprised and massacred, and another party
from the same settlement, which the Spaniards afterwards
found, were hanged, over the dangling bodies being placed the
superscription: “ Not as Frenchmen, but as heretics.” But
that same year the Spanish who were trying to settle St.
Augustine were surprised and hanged by an expedition of
Frenchmen, “ Not as Spaniards, but as murderers.”

‘While religious wars exhausted Spanish resources and ren-
dered the mother country unable to sufficiently protect her
colonies, her commercial policy of exclusiveness only brought
new troubles upon them and a greater horde of piratical
enemies at the very time her naval strength was at a low ebb.
More liberal commercial views were beginning to prevail in
other parts of Europe, but when Cromwell asked that Spain
should abolish the Inquisition and admit the free navigation of
the western seas, the Spanish ambassador replied that for his
king to relinquish those prerogatives would be to “ give up his
two eyes.””  Spain not only continued the Inquisition but mas-
sacred with a ruthless hand the men, women, and children of
such English and Dutch settlements as she could find and over-
power in the West Indies, and she strenuously endeavored to
maintain an exclusive trade with her colonies by restricting all
their commerce to the port of Seville and selling the monopoly
of that. This naturally hampered the growth of the colonies
" and drew into the waters fresh hordes of smugglers, with whom
the Spanish colonists gladly traded. These smugglers made
their headquarters near Haiti, which, on account of the greater
attraction of Cuba, had been practically deserted by the Span-
ish. The few people who remained there lived mainly from
the herds of cattle which, having greatly multiplied, roamed
wild over the island. They prepared the meat for preserva-
tion in smokehouses, which were called bucans, and the smug-
glers, adopting this method of preserving their meat, became
known as buccaneers. Little by little they multiplied and
grew in importance till they were in constant conflict with the
Spanish on land and water and preyed upon Spanish commerce
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everywhere. During this period Cuba, as the headquarters
of the Spaniards, suffered severely. The buccaneers were the
real masters of the situation. They feared no enemy and
spared none, and regarded the Spaniards with a bitter hatred
while they emulated their acts of cruelty. As a matter of
fact Spain had drawn upon herself the hatred of all Europe
by her arrogant religious and commercial pretensions, and had
aroused the cupidity of every ruler by the treasures she had
brought to Europe.

The Spaniards found the buccaneers made out of entirely
different stuff from the gentle natives they had so ruthlessly -
massacred, for, banding together, they maintained themselves
against every Spanish assault and generally won the vietory.
After many Spaniards had bitten the dust, fresh troops were
sent, but the buccaneers were also constantly recruited from
the adventurers and roving eriminals of all nations. So mat-
ters continued till 1663, when Spain undertook to overcome
all opposition by sending a superior force of trained men under
Van Delmof, a veteran officer. Ile attacked the buccaneers’
headquarters on the island of Haiti, but, although they num-
bered only a fifth of the Spaniards, they drove the latter into
the sea with great loss. The Spaniards kept up the struggle by
lying in wait for small parties and butchering them to a man,
but they were always worsted when encountering a consider-
able body. Then the Spaniards foolishly thought to extermi-
nate the buccaneer by exterminating his cattle, upon the
abundance of which he was supposed to depend, but this only
made him the fiercer plunderer of Spanish commerce. Ie be-
came a freebooter — the freebooter of the Spanish Main. He
attacked Spanish ports, plundered Spanish vessels and put the
crews to death. Havana was threatened, and with this danger
and that of an invasion of the English and Dutch, the Captain-
General began the erection of a new defensive wall across the
projecting neck on which the city is laid out. But the depre-
dations of the adventurers continued in spite of the treaty of

peace between Bpain and England in 1670, and declined only
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for a time when towards the end of the seventeenth century
the war between France and England led to dissensions among
the freebooters themselves.

Volumes would be required to tell of the remarkable in-
cidents of this warfare in the West Indian seas. History has
few more romantic pages. A single incident may be given as
an example. A native of Sable d’Olonne, Olonois by name,
having in a Spanish attack lost his ship and narrowly escaped
with his life, managed to arm two small vessels with twenty-
one men; then he started off to pillage the city of Los Cayos
in Cuba. Hearing of the expedition, the Governor-General
at Havana despatched a six-gun frigate manned by ninety men
to the assistance of the inhabitants. Four other smaller ships
were also sent to join the frigate, and it looked like a formidable
expedition against two small vessels with but about a score of
men. The Spanish governor of Havana was so certain of cap-
turing the freebooters that he exacted a promise from the com-
mander of the expedition that he would cut off the head of
every man of them, and he sent along a negro to act as exe-
cutioner. Olonois somehow learned of the plan and at once
started to meet the frigate before she was joined by the smaller
vessels. He had the good fortune to come upon the Spaniard
in the night, and bringing his vessels one on each side, at day-
break his twenty-one men boarded her, and, after a desperate
engagement, overcame the ninety of the Spaniard. He be-
lieaded all the prisoners but one, not sparing the negro who
had been sent as his executioner. 'The remaining one he sent
back to Havana with the threat that a similar fate awaited the
governor. Olonois then set out in pursuit of the four in-
tended consorts, captured them and flung the crews into the
sea. “Yet, depraved as they were,” says one writer, “the
freebooters made a great profession of religion, which in some
of their number was doubtless real. They praved fervently
on all occasions and never commenced a meal without a long
grace. Before going into action they humbly sought God
to grant them the victory, after which the Catholies sung
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the Mugnificat and the Protestants repeated a hymn.” It
was well into the eighteenth century and after the English,
French, and Dutch had firmly established themselves in the
‘West Indies that the freebooters were driven from the seas.

Notwithstanding the complicated relations of the Euro-
pean powers during the war of the Spanish Succession with
which the eighteenth century opened, Cuba was left compara-
tively free from strife, but it was not long before there came
the first serious trouble between the Cuban colonists and the
mother country. By the time of the Treaty of Utrecht, by
which the Hapsburg rule in Spain was ended, the island had
become well settled and the agricultural products of the in-
terior made a large showing beside the gold and silver of the
other Spanish-American colonies. Up to 1717 the main rev-
enue from Cuba came through the commercial monopolies of
Seville and Cadiz, but that year a new policy was inaugurated
by which the growing tobacco trade was made a government
monopoly. Its enforcement was violently resisted and re-
sulted in many collisions between the government forces and
the people. It was but another incident in the restrictive
policy of Spain which finally entirely undermined her power
over her colonies. The magnificent barbors of Cuba could
be entered only by stealth or force except by the monopoly
vessels. As Spain was in no condition to be a large purchaser, -
‘the production of the island was strangled and the farmers
barely more than lived on what they produced. But Spain
would not and did not learn the lesson. Owing to unwise
measures at home Spain’s own industries declined, and those
of her people who could purchase bought foreign produects
which were smuggled in, and paid for them with gold from
America. The result was the collapse of her own industrial
system and the loss of the precious metals which she had made
go many bloody sacrifices to secure.

The monopoly restrictions imposed upon the Cuban trade
gave rise to systematic smuggling by British traders in
Jamaica, and the constant friction finally resulted in the
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Anglo-Spanish war of 1739, which ended with a general
European war in 1748. In the decade that followed,
the smuggling trade in Cuba grew out of all control of the
tobacco monopoly, and a system of farming out the revenues
to private monopolists was substituted. But this only led to
further trouble. The expansion of British trade in the Indies
led to the Bourbon compact to put a check to it and war began
in 1762. An English fleet consisting of fortv-four men-of-
war and 150 other vessels under Admiral Pocock took Havana
in June of that year, and an army of about 15,000 men under
Lord Albemarle began the siege of the Spanish garrison num-
bering 27,000 under Governor Porto Carrero. The resist-
ance was stubborn, but Morro Castle surrendered on July 30th
and the city on August 13th. The treasure which fell to the
English was enormous. Over three and a half million dollars
was divided among them. The English continued to hold the
city till early the following year, when, under the terms of the
treaty of Paris, the island was restored to Spain in return for
the cession of Florida to England.

On the whole, the eighteenth century was a much Lrighter
one for Cuba, although the blight of Spain’s colonial poliey
was not wanting. During their occupation of Ilavana the
English had opened the port to free cominerce, and when the
Spanish again took hold of the island they found it impossible
to safely reimpose the old restrictions in all their rigor. Many
of the former limitations of the commerce of the island with
the home country were removed, and the island made a rapid
material advance. In 1777 Cuba was given a more inde- .
pendent colonial government under the control of the Captain-
General, whose power was, however, practically absolute and
fraught with the seeds of the woes of the Cubans in after
vears. So long as these officers were intelligent and humane
the island prospered greatly and its wonderful resources be-
came apparent.

At the time this change was made England was engaged
in a struggle with its American colonies, and the Bourbon
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monarchies of France and Spain availed themselves of the op-
portunity to get even with their old enemy. France joined
the American colonists and Spain took up a campaign in her
own behalf, regaining the island of Minorca and several
smaller West Indian isles which had been wrested from her.
Other European powers maintained an attitude favorable to
Spain, though looking out for themselves, and by the treaty
of Versailles in 1783 Spain regained Florida. England had
lost her American colonies, with the exception of Canada and
some of her West Indian possessions.
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France, under Bourbon rulers, had regarded them-

selves as natural allies, but this alliance in the end
had much to do with the ruin of Spain. The revival which
promised so much for Spanish industry and commerce under
the wise and enlightened rule of Charles I1I. was quickly sup-
pressed in the inglorious reign of Charles IV. 1In 1796 a war
broke out with Great Britain which was productive of nothing
but disaster to the Spaniards. I3y pressure of France another
arose in 1804 which was attended with similar ill-success, and
in the battle of Trafalgar Spain lost a great part of that fleet
which she needed for the maintenance of her American
colonies. Napoleon had already conceived the idea of mak-
ing Spain a subject kingdom with one of his own family on the
throne, and he had nothing but contempt for its Bourbon ruler,
although he pretended to be a faithful ally. Meanwhile,
Ferdinand, the presumptive heir to the Spanish throne, was

1e2)

THROUGHOUT the eighteenth century Spain and
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weakly intriguing to displace his father. He became sub-
servient to Napoleon, who cultivated his intrigues without hav-
-ing the least idea of making him King. Finally, Ferdinand,
who was liked by the people, compelled his father to abdicate,
but, lured over the border at this critical moment by Napo-
leon’s agents, he found himself a prisoner and compelled by
Napoleon to renounce all claims to the Spanish throne before
he had had an opportunity to occupy it. The same year
Joseph Bonaparte was prevailed upon by his brother to take
the crown, and he was declared King of Spain and the Indies.

But before he had reached Madrid the country had arisen, the

various provinces electing juntas or councils to administer
affairs and resist Napoleon’s purposes.

That mighty struggle during which Napoleon overran
Spain, and which he acknowledged to.have been one of the
main causes of his ultimate downfall, is a thrilling page of his-
tory, but it concerns this story only as it affected Spain’s re-
lations to her American colonies. In 1812 a constitution had
heen devised by the Cortes, or legislative body, of Cadiz, appa-
rently liberal, though Wellington considered it good only to be
looked at. “1T have not met,” he said, writing of the Cortes,
“ one of its members or any person of any deseription who con-
siders it the embodiment of a system by which Spain is or can
be governed. The Cortes have in form divested themselves of
executive power and appointed a regency for that purpose, but
the regency are, in fact, the slaves of the Cortes, and neither
regency nor Cortes have any constitutional communication
with each other, nor have they any authority beyond the walls
of Cadiz.”

Napoleon’s fortunes declined, and, pressed by his enemies,
he again negotiated with Ferdinand, who still seemed sub-
servient, though the French Emperor had so recently and so
cruelly deceived him. Napoleon bhelieved that Ferdinand,
as King, might be a pliant tool, for Joseph had left Spain in
disgust. But the imperial prestige was broken, and early in
1814 Napoleon was compelled to abdicate. Ferdinand had
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already returned to Spain, where he was welcomed by the

people, who hoped that he would resume the throne and take

up the reins of power under the constitution of 1812. But.
Ferdinand quickly abrogated that apparent guarantee of lib-

eral government, together with all the acts of the Cortes, and

proceeded to set up an absolute monarchy on the old lines,

recalling the Papal nuncio and re-establishing the Inquisition.

With astonishing ingratitude he broke his most solemn pledges

and fell under the direction of priests and nobles and of a set

of vulgar flatterers and favorites.

These domestic affairs of Spain had an important effect
upon the American colonies. There were two Spanish vice-
royalties in South America — that of Lima, which comprised
the countries now known as Peru, Ecuador, Venezuela, Costa
Rica, and the Guianas, and that of Buenos Ayres, which in-
cluded, besides the present Argentine Republic, Uruguay,
Chile, Paraguay, Bolivia, and the untraversed wastes of Pata-
gonia. Mexico, which was known as New Spain, and com-
prised a large territory extending to what is now the southern
limit of Oregon, was also a vice-royalty. The revolts and
revolutions in each of these provinces had many features in
common. It has been said that the history of one is the his-
tory of all; and it is true that from 1808 to 1821 all were in
revolt against Spain, their revolutions following each other in
rapid suecession.

It is not strange that their history had so much in common,
for all had been the victims of a long oppression of the mother
country, and the political aspirations of their people were
simultaneously stirred when Spain lay at the feet of Napoleon,
and liberal ideas were everywhere noticeable as a result of
the revolutions in America and France. Ferdinand’s restora-
tion of absolutism and oppression, therefore, naturally led to
their revolt.

Mexico ranked first among all the Spanish colonies in re-
spect to population, material riches, and natural products,
though the intolerant spirit of the clergy and military rulers
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nad led to the obliteration of almost every trace of the Aztec
nationality and civilization, while the strict system of seques-
tration of commerce crippled the resources of the country.
But the people endured the system till 1810, when discontent
broke into open rebellion under the leadership of a country
priest named Hidalgo.

In Mexico, as in all the colonies, the Spaniards who were
born in Spain held all the offices under the government. The
Creoles, though of Spanish extraction, were treated as an in-
ferior race, while the Indians and half breeds were trampled
under foot. In defiance of the expanding liberalism, the
plain tendency of the times, Ferdinand continued to fill Mexi-
can offices with Spanish favorites, to garrison Mexican forts
with Spanish soldiers, and to exclude from Mexican markets
all wares not made in Spain. This stubborn resistance of all
civilizing tendencies was a feature of Spain’s dealings with all
her colonies and the sufficient cause of discontent.

Priest-ridden at home, her policy of throttling her colonists
in Mexico eventually raised opposition among the Mexican
clergy. Hidalgo and a fellow priest named Morelos kept the
banner of revolt afloat for ten years, and although it was an

- article of faith among Spaniards that the priests were not to be
punished for their actions, Hidalgo, when caught in arms, was
shackled hand and foot, carried on a mule to Chihuahuas,
thrown into irons, and taken out in the gray dawn to be shot by
clumsy bunglers who could not hit the old man’s heart at ten
paces. Morelos was stripped of his robe, set on his knees with
his back to the soldiers, and shot ignominiously from behind.
Such acts of cruelty but added fuel to the fire of revolt, and
new heroes took the place of the murdered. :

Indeed, the cause of the Spanish monarch in Mexico was
really lost before Iturbide took command of the patriots. Tle
was a frivolous trifler, maintaining almost an imperial rule
over Mexico for a time, and when he fell the independence of
Mexico was assured and was recognized in 1824 by every
foreign power except Spain.
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The same foolish policy which alienated Mexico compelled
the Central American states to follow her example. The his-
tory of Venezuela reveals the same general reason for her in-
dependence. 'When Napoleon sent Joseph to Madrid to play
King, Venezuela refused to recognize him and stood out
stoutly for the old dynasty, but when the old dynasty was re-
stored and idiotic measures of absolutism were enforced, the
Venezuelans were loyal Spaniards no more. Simon Bolivar
went to England, bought arms, and when he returned made
the Spanish soldiers prisoners and locked them in the strong
fortress of Puerto Cabello.

Spain had but one policy for colonists — oppression, and
for those who protested, torture and death. ¥rom 1813, when
the struggle of the Venezuclans for liberty began, till 1820,
when it ended, the Spanish adhered to this policy, which al-
ways led to the further exasperation- of the people and
eventually made reconciliation impossible. After the re-
union of New Grenada and Venezuela in 1819 the Spanish
cause was hopeless, but General La Torre insisted on fighting
a battle with Bolivar, in which he lost everything, six thou-
sand men, artillery, honor, reputation, and hope.

But the epidemic of freedom could not be confined to any
one locality in South America. Everywhere the people were
rising against Spanish wrongs. While Bolivar was fusing
the northern colonies into the republic of Colombia, José de
San Martin, at Buenos Ayres, was maturing plans for the
liberation of Chile. He had been well educated at the Col-
lege of Nobles in Spain, and had fought with distinction at
Baylen, where Napoleon met his first serious reverse at arms.
With 180 reeruits which he picked up in the streets of Buenos
Ayres he formed the nucleus of an army, to which were added
the forces under Bernado O’Higgins, son of the viceroy of
Chile.

With this army he crossed the Andes at Uspallata pass,
which is 12,500 feet above the sea, over 4,000 feet higher
than the pass of the great St. Bernard, thus surpassing the feat
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which contributed so much to the glory of Napoleon. At the
foot of the mountains a considerable body of Spaniards was
met, but O’Higgins fell upon them with his cavalry and routed
them.  Pushing rapidly on, San Martin, on February 15,
1817, with hardly a coin in his pocket, no military chest, and
no stores, entered Santiago with his wild gauchos at his back,
and was well received. A junta of the leading citizens of the
capital was summoned and the post of supreme dictator of
Chile was offered him. Ie declined it, nominating Bernado
O’Higgins in his place. It cannot be said that San Martin ac-
complished the liberation of Chile by the capture of Santiago,
for the Spaniards held Valdivia, a much stronger place, for
three years longer, but the possession of the capital city by the
insurgents was a vast moral advantage.

At the time of San Martin’s victory Guiana had been con-
verted to the side of independence by a man of color named
Piar, and on the very day of San Martin’s entrance into San-
tiago, Bolivar defeated the Spaniards at Barcelona.

At this time ’eru was a more important division of South
America than Chile, and San Martin felt that his task was only
half accomplished so long as Peru remained in Spanish hands.
He saw that the possession of Lima and of its seaport Callao
would depend upon control of the sea, and he, therefore, be-
stirred himself to create a navy for the Chileans. e induced
them to buy two old East Tndiamen, which were converted into
fighting ships, an old English corvette, and three brigs. Of
this fleet he induced Lord Cochrane to take command as chief
admiral, and the squadron sailed for Callao in January, 1819.
Admiral Cochrane approached the Spanish fleet of twelve ves-
sels and a few gunboats, which lay under the guns of Callao
castle, and, after several ineffectual attacks, he captured the
Esmeralda, a forty-four gun frigate, and added her to their
squadron. In the meantime San Martin landed a body of in-
fantry and horse seventy miles north of Lima and threatened
the city from that side.

The Spanish general, Vezuela, had under his order an army
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of 23,000 men, but his officers were disaffected, and, after
much quarreling, they forced him to resign. His successor had
no disposition to continue the struggle, and without firing a
shot, San Martin entered Lima on July 28, 1821, hastened to
proclaim the independence of Peru, and accepted the title of
Protector.

Bolivar had just arrived at Guayaquil after a decisive vic-
tory at Quito and San Martin hastened to meet him there.
‘What passed between them has never been fully known. But
Bolivar remained at the hiead of his army, while San Martin,
the pure patriot, returned to Lima and issued a farewell ad-
dress, in which he said: “ The presence of a fortunate soldier
is dangerous to newly-constituted states. Peruvians, I leave
your national representation established. If you repose con-
fidence in it you will triumph. If not, anarchy will overthrow
you. May success preside over your destinies.”

On San Martin’s departure, Bolivar was chosen dictator of
Peru, and a new state was created under the name of Bolivia,
of which he was made perpetual protector. Ile was also
chosen president of Colombia, and the congress of that state
refused to accept his resignation. The administration of
Venezuela was in the hands of Vice-President Paez, but he
took his orders from Bolivar. Thus all the northern portion
of South America was at this trying time under the control of
one man, who practically had absolute power.

Buenos Ayres had constituted herself a republic in 1810.
The city was a storm center for several years, indeed, from
1810 to 1817 it underwent fourteen revolutions, suppressed
two rebellions, was twice blockaded and once bombarded, but
peace came when General Rosas trampled all constitutions
under foot and declared himself a military dictator. The
dramatic chapter which Paraguay bore in the long struggle
has been described by Thomas Carlyle in his most vivid
manner.

In all these struggles Spain showed her weakness, her
cruelty, and her stupidity. From the time of Philip II. to the
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present day Spanish fleets have taken the sea only to be beaten,
and Spanish ships have seldom opened fire except to be sunk.
The overwhelming disaster which overtook the Armada was
but the beginning; Trafalgar was but an incident in the long
history of Spain’s downfall. When the colonists rose in in- °
surrection, she threw her fleets upon all the seaports in turn
—- Vera Cruz, Caracas, Buenos Ayres, Valparaiso, Valdivia,
Callao. In not a single instance did her squadrons accom-
plish anything, nor did they retard the progress of the insur-
gents for a single day. By spiteful bombardments she occa-
sionally destroyed some lives and property, but never could she
restore the Spanish flag to the forts from which it had once
been torn, nor could she inspire among the rebels any terror
of the Spanish name. The whole record of her colonial man-
agement is an unbroken chronicle of imbecility, cruelty, injus-
tice, and truculence, culminating in disaster and disgrace.

‘With this brief review of the Spanish loss of Mexico and
the South and Central Americas, we will now trace the move-
ments by which the young republic of the United States be-
came possessed of the richest portion of that great domain
which in the sixteenth century Spain’s daring discoverers had
laid at her feet. It marks the beginning of those relations
between the United States and Spain which have culminated
in the recent war.
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are not aware that when George Washington was

President more than two-thirds of that great domain
which now constitute our Union belonged to Spain. Be-
cause the government of the United States acquired the
larger part of this vast territory in a peaceful manner the fact
does not occupy a conspicuous place in our histories. But in a
study of the previous relations of this country with Spain, and
of the gradual decline of Spain’s power on this side of the At-
lantic, the fact becomes interesting and important.

During the administration of Washington, and also of
John Adams, the great territory west of the Mississippi from
its mouth to its headwaters was Spain’s. Originally settled
by France, it fell to Spain through the treaty of 1763, fol-
lowing the Seven-Years War. England laid some claim to
that part of it which now comprises the States of Washington

and Oregon, but it was not deemed valid, and the whole region
(90)

D OUBTLESS many of the people of the United States
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was an unknown wilderness waiting for the nineteenth cen-
tury to unfold its wonderful resources. In addition to this
Florida belonged to Spain, together with a strip of land ex-
tending along the gulf coast to the mouth of the Mississippi,
and known as West Florida.

The career of Napoleon played a part not usually appre-
ciated in shaping the destinies of the new American republic.
His ambition to bring Europe under his sway was but a por-
tion of a magnificent scheme which also comprehended the
establishment of a great Latin empire on the Western con-
tinent. In the later exigencies of his career, the necessities
imposed upon him by antagonistic European alliances enabled
the young but sturdy government of the United States by a
master stroke to extend its domain to the Pacific. A brief sur-
vey of the relations of the United States to Spain at the period
following the Revolution is essential to the proper understand-
ing of the dénouement which took place at the century’s close.

During the struggle of the American colonies for their in-
dependence, Spain held aloof for some time, though largely
out of revenge upon the English she rendered us some ma-
terial assistance on the Mississippi, allowing us in the first
stress of the war to obtain powder from her stores at New Or-
leans. But soon after the war was over Spain became so arro-
gant over the Florida boundaries and caused so much inter-
ference with our navigation of the Mississippi that the
people of the United States clamored for redress in war. The
following verses from a song, found in a very old book, clearly
shows the feeling in the States at that time, while they were in
a condition of loose federation under the Continental Con-
gress:

**AMOR PATRIA INCITAT.”
1785.
COLUMBIA TO HER GENUINE SON8S ON THE PROSPECT OF A SPANISH WAR.

Awake, O my sons! and to glory repair,

The prospect is noble, the object is fair;

The Spaniards have dared to infringe on’our right ;
Are ye freemen and not bring the matter to light ?
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These Dons will grow proud by insulting our flag ;

O suffer them not of such meanness to brag,

In peace let your stripes round the giobe be display’d,
From nation to nation establish your trade ;

In the language of freemen enforce your decrees,

Make the ocean your empire, and sail where you please ;
On the basis of freedom establish your fame,

And the slaves of each despot will crouch at your name,

Ye had courage to face the bold Briton in war,

And the Spaniard, ye know, is inferior by far.

Demand satisfaction ; if that be denied,

The aggressor the consequence then must abide :

*T would be worthy, by heaven ! and your annals adorn
The standard of freedom to bear to Cape Horn.
Unshackle the slaves that to royalty bow,

And o’er plains quite neglected establish the plow !

In October, 1795, or during the second administration of
Washington, Thomas Pinckney arranged a treaty with the
Madrid government establishing as boundaries of the United
States, East and West Florida on the south at 31° North
latitude, and on the west the middle of the Mississippi River
above that latitude. 'What was regarded as the most impor-
tant and advantageous part of the instrument was a recognition
by Spain of the right of the United States to navigate the
Mississippi, with a privilege of deposit at the port of New Or-

leans, free of duty. About two years later, President Adams,

in a message to the Senate, complained that the Spanish officers
in Louisiana were constantly interfering with the work of run-
ning the southern boundary line under the above treaty. The
Spanish minister, D’Yrujo, sought to justify the action of the
Spanish authorities on the theory that there were designs
against the Spanish territory, the evidence for which was a let-
ter addressed to one Carey, a Cherokee interpreter, by Senator
Blount of Tennessee, urging him to stir up the Cherokees and
Creeks for the purpose of abetting a scheme, in which the Eng-
lish were also said to be concerned, for invading Spanish ter-
ritory. This letter seemed to give some validity to the Span-
ish minister’s statement, and the ITouse took steps to impeach

——
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its author, an effort which eventually failed. The British
minister, when called upon to explain, said that while such a
scheme had been proposed to him he had not countenanced it,
and Pickering, then Secretary of State, retorted savagely upon
the Spanish minister. Fisher Ames congratulated Pickering
upon his reply to “ the Spanish Don,” adding, “ You have not
left & whole bone in his skin.””  Pickering constantly imputed
dishonorable motives to the Spanish minister, and many of his
letters express his contempt for “ the Spanish puppy.” The
statesmen of those times did not hesitate to use plain and even
harsh English.

The conviction that the Mississippi River and 31° North
latitude were not the natural boundaries of the new repub-
lic began to manifest itself soon after peace was restored with
Great Britain, and this feeling was expressed in occasional
propositions for invading Spanish territory. The decadence
of Spain was already well under way. The colonists in her
territories everywhere were misgoverned and oppressed, and
dissatisfaction prevailed. By a treaty in 1796, France and
Spain had allied themselves to guarantee each other’s
dominions in both the Old and New World. This alliance led
the English government to look with favor upon propositions
for enabling the Spanish colonists to throw off the Spanish
yoke at the very time that the feeling in this country was
tending in the same direction. Moreover, the relations be-
tween France and the United States had become greatly
strained through the disingenuous and sometimes rather in-
solent diplomacy of Talleyrand.

In this situation Francisco Miranda, a South American
revolutionist, secretly worked upon the British ministry to
promote a joint expedition for a movement upon Louisiana,
Great Britain to furnish the navy, and the United States
thearmy. Our relations with France went from bad to worse,
and war seemed at hand, and, after the failure of our special
mission to Paris, Hamilton became committed to the scheme
of liberating Spanish America if the United States could
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be the principal agency and furnish the whole land force.
Miranda wrote to lamilton that England would co-operate
as soon as the United States was prepared. “ All is ready,”
he said, “ for your President to give the word.” But Presi-
dent - Adams was not inclined to favor the project, as, like
Washington, he disliked forcible conquests or foreign al-
liances. “ At present,” he wrote, “ there is no more prospect
of seeing a French army here than there is in heaven,” and
gradually the danger of a war with France and the possibility
of a conquest of Spanish America faded away.

‘When Thomas Jefferson became President, Napoleon,
who had just been proclaimed First Consul, had begun to trail
his sword over Europe and had defeated the Austrians at
Marengo. Spain was still a faithful ally of France. It was
a part of Napoleon’s design to re-establish French influence in
American territory, and thus make a Latin counterpoise to
Anglo-Saxon influence here, partly for the greater security of
the French possessions in the West Indies. In October, 1800,
in a secret treaty by which he promised to secure for Spain
the recognition of the King of Tuscany by all the powers of
Europe, he obtained from her the cession of Louisiana, and
soon took steps to send an expedition to take possession of the
colony.

Meanwhile, the United States, being outraged by Spain’s
repeated violations of her treaty as to free navigation of the
Mississippi, made preparations to attack New Orleans, but
soon after Jefferson’s inauguration information concerning
Napoleon’s sceret treaty reached our government through our
minister at London, and the project was abandoned. The new
treaty was anything but agreeable to the people of the United
States. The administration felt that under the control of
Spain, which was on the road to decay, the United States might
confidently await the time when the territory could be easily
sccured. But with the French, under a ruler who contem-
plated universal empire, in control of Louisiana, the case was
different. The possessor of the mouth of the Mississippi, Jef-

— e e e -
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ferson wrote to Livingston, our minister at Paris, would of
necessity become the natural and habitual enemy of the United
States. “ We must turn all our attention to a maritime force,
for which our resources place us on very high ground; and
having formed and connected together a power which may
render reinforcement of her settlements here impossible to
France, make the first cannon which is fired in Europe the sig-
nal for the tearing up any settlement she may have made and
for holding the two continents of America in sequestration for
the common purposes of the United British and American
nations.”

Livingston’s instructions in_ taking the French mission
were to dissuade France from acquiring Louisiana if possible,
and, if not, to procure a cession to the United States of the
Floridas and New Orleans. Meanwhile, the King of Spain
informed the Intendant of Louisiana of its cession to France,
and he was instructed to make arrangements for its delivery
to the French government. In pursuance of this order, or,
perhaps, upon some misconception of his duties, he ordered the
port of New Orleans closed as a place of deposit for merchan-
dise, a privilege which our treaty with Spain had guaranteed.
As a result the product of a large part of the United States
could find no outlet. The people in the western section of the
country were greatly stirred by this act, and Hamilton was in
favor of seizing New Orleans and the Floridas at once and
negotiating afterwards. But Jefferson was disposed to con-
tinue his diplomatic efforts, though they were not succeeding
well. Livingston strove in vain to gain the favor of Napoleon,
who was rapidly fitting out a large expedition to take possession
of the new territory. Jefferson appointed Monroe a special
minister to act with Livingston, but by the time he had reached
France a great change suddenly came over Napolean. The
order for the sailing of the expedition was countermanded, and
Livingston was surprised to find himself in high favor in the
court.

The cause of this was a sudden threatening of a renewal of
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hostilities of France with Great Britain. Napoleon had
charged the British with perfidy, and George IIL. had retorted
in kind. The English ambassador was openly affronted at
the Tuileries, and both governments prepared for war.
Napoleon saw that if he continued in his scheme for Louisiana,
the United States would become an ally of Great Britain, and,
moreover, he needed money. The result was that he at once
authorized the sale not only of New Orleans but of Louisiana.
In this situation the sale was quickly arranged, and the famous
treaty was signed May 2, 1803, the United States ministers
dining amicably with the Consul who but a short time before
would hardly recognize them. By this treaty the United
States became a vast empire with immunity from dangerous
neighbors, securing for about three cents an acre a domain
which has yielded almost incalculable wealth. Thus Spain
lost her hold on the richest part of the American hemisphere.

But it was not without a protest from Ferdinand, who
thought Napoleon had again played him false. Spain’s flag
still floated at New Orleans. The French had not yet taken
possession under the cession of 1800, and while preparations
were being made for the formal transfer of the territory to the
United States, the Spanish minister, at the direction of his
King, protested that France could not cede it because she had
promised not to alienate the territory to another nation, and
because she had not fulfilled the conditions of the treaty, the
King of Tuscany being still unrecognized by the courts at
London and St. Petersburg. To this the United States re-
sponded that any such question must be settled by France and
Spain alone.

The Spaniards were so loath to believe that the United
States could secure the territory that they continued to re-
main in New Orleans after the formal transfer, though the
treaty required them to leave in three months. While the
soldiers of the United States slept in tents and fell sick of
fever, the Spanish soldiers continued to occupy the barracks
and storehouses, and regularly every day mounted guard.
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Furthermore, in the arrangements for the government of the
new territory we became embroiled in a boundary dispute
with Spain, and her arrogant claim to West Florida was now
secretly encouraged by France. Jefferson seriously thought
of accepting war with Spain, for West Florida appeared es-
sential to the United States on account of Mobile and its bay,
and our ministers had undoubtedly understood when making
the purchase that this territory was included. As the Euro-
pean war was still protracted, and France could not afford to
have this country throw its influence on the side of Great
Britain, Jefferson thought he would try again for a peaceful
settlement, for Spanish affairs seemed to be under the com-
plete control of Napoleon.

Congress appropriated $2,000,000 for another diplomatic
effort to acquire the Floridas, and commissioners were sent
to Madrid for the purpose, stopping at Paris in an unsuccessful
endeavor to secure French support. The conduct of Spain
meanwhile was perfidious and exasperating, and the adminis-
tration would have borne less had it not been for the fear that
France would sustain the declining Spanish kingdom in case
of an open rupture; moreover, by this time we were drifting
into difficulties with Great Britain.

After the breaking out of the war of 1812, Spain, which
had been a plidnt ally of France in the conflict witlr England,
now united with England in secretly stimulating the Indians
on the southern border to make war against the United States,
which feared that unless East and West Florida were seized
they would become a base for offensive operations by the Eng-
lish. One result of the Spanish and British efforts to stir up
the Indians was the massacre of Fort Mims, where out of the
550 Americans surprised in this slaughter pen, 400 were slain
or roasted to death, an act which was quickly punished by Gen-
eral Jackson, and West Florida practically became ours
through the surrender of the Spanish fortress at Mobile.

After our war with England, Spain alone of all the Euro-

pean powers remained in vexatious relations with this govern-
7
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ment. Our troubles with her related to two topics — the
negotiations to secure a cession of East Florida to the United
States, and the revolutions in the Spanish-American colonies
of South America. Our negotiations for Florida made no
progress in spite of our moderation and forbearance. Spain
was either disingenuous or perfidious, or both. After his
restoration, the bigoted and despotic Ferdinand did not con-
ceal his hatred of free institutions. He would have liked to
defy the United States, but the resources of his country were
at low ebb and he failed to secure the support of England,
Russia, and France in his plans. He was forced, therefore, to
adopt that common feature of Spanish policy, a profession of
conciliation and friendship while instructing his agents to use
underhanded means against us. In this way his agents
fomented disturbances on the Florida frontier and endeavored
to poison the minds of the people at New Orleans. The in-
structions to the Spanish minister at Washington appeared to
be to keep the negotiations in a state of suspension. The ar-
rangement which the government of the United States de-
sired was the full cession of East and West Floridas with a
fixing of the disputed boundary lines of Louisiana. On our
part it was proposed to relinquish the accumulated spoliation
claims against Spain. '

Over this territory which we were trying to peacefully
secure by purchase, Spain exercised hardly the shadow of
authority, a fact which was sufficiently manifest from the ease
with which little troops of irresponsible invaders defied Span-
ish authorities. The only pretence of Spanish occupation of
the Floridas consisted in the retention of small garrisons at
Pensacola and St. Augustine. In 1817 a few lawless recruits
from Savannah and Charleston passed over to Amelia Island,
near the present site of Fernandina, and took possession of it,
at the same time proclaiming a blockade of St. Augustine.
The Spanish governor made a futile effort to dislodge
this band of not more than 150 buccaneers, and they held
their ground for months. Spain then filed various pro-
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tests at Washington, and even threatened war with the
United States if the occupation were allowed to continue.
It was no wonder that many people in the South were dis-
gusted with the consideration the government showed to the
complaining Spaniards, who were so utterly incapable of de-
fending themselves from any little roving band that located
itself right in the face of the Spanish garrison. And when
the United States sent a force to Amelia Island to disperse
their own filibustering subjects, and, to preserve order, re-
mained temporarily in possession, the Spanish also protested
against this occupation, protested both against the filibusters
and the presence of the soldiers sent to drive them out.

The Seminole war again brought Andrew Jackson to the
front, and he fully believed in seizing the Floridas and holding
them as indemnity for the outrages Spain had committed on
the property of citizens of the United States. His eager spirit
resented the mild diplomacy used with the Spaniards, and he
thought that a government which could not maintain its
authority over territory it professed to own had no right to
continue the pretence. He was strengthened in this belief
by the fact that the Spanish authorities had countenanced
rather than restrained the uprising of the Seminoles in our
territory. His theory was that self-defense compelled the
United States to take control of points which the Spanish
authorities could not keep in order, and when once in the field
he made quick work in capturing the Spanish garrison of Pen-
sacola, much to the perplexity of the administration, which had
cautioned him against going too far into Spanish territory.

‘When the fall of Pensacola became known in Madrid, the
perfidious King sent orders to suspend treaty negotiations,
which he himself had kept in suspension, and made explicit
demands for satisfaction. 1In Monroe’s cabinet, John Quincy
Adams, the Secretary of State, was the only one to defend
Jackson’s eonduct in acting contrary to orders, and it is quite
possible that his course was directed by a fuller understanding
of the Spanish character and diplomacy.
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But Jackson’s unauthorized action was disavowed, and that
which a few American troops had seized with so little effort
was formally restored. It was another case of honest for-
bearance on the part of the United States. In presenting the
case of this government in reply to the demands of Spain,
John Quincy Adams put the blame for the invasion directly
upon that country, and the Cortes of Madrid was silenced.
Europe thercupon suggested to Spain the speedy sale of the
Floridas to the young republie, which had shown that it could
take possession of the Spanish territory at any time, without
any trouble, and upon any provocation which the treacherous
character of Spanish diplomacy might easily afford.

The chapter of Spanish intrigue and American diplomacy
concerning the Floridas was soon thereafter closed. In Feb-
ruary, 1819, a treaty was signed by Adams and the Spanish
minister in behalf of their respective governments, whereby
Spain ceded to the United States all territory east of the Missis-
sippi known as East and West Florida, with adjacent islands,
for five million dollars. West of the Mississippi the new
boundary began at the mouth of the Sabine River, now the
eastern boundary line of Texas, running north by that river
to 32° North latitude, thence north to the Red River, thence
west along that river to 100° West longitude, thence north to
the Arkansas River, thence westerly along this river through
what is now Kansas and Colorado to 106° West longitude,
thence north to 42° North latitude, and thence westerly on the
line which is now the northern boundary of Utah, Nevada,
and California, to the Pacific. It was well known that this
government would have pressed further in the effort to secure
the ceding of Texas but for the feeling then beginning to mani-
fest itself that the balance of slave and free states would be dis-
turbed. All the territory left to Spain, including what are
now Texas, New Mexico, Arizona, Utah, Nevada, and Cali-
fornia, with parts of Kansas, Colorado, and Wyoming, were
in open revolt against a country whose tyranny was rapidly
despoiling her of all the gains of the sixteenth century.

— & _
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The treaty was at once ratified by the United States gov-
ernment in anticipation of its speedy ratification by the Cortes,
but the unreliability of Spanish character again manifested
itself. In view of the natural sympathy of the people of the
United States for the rebellious colonists of South and Central
America, it became difficult for the government of the United
States to preserve a strict neutrality in these revolutions.
Ferdinand feared that if he ratified the Florida treaty the
United States would recognize the belligerents, and so he held
off, though France, England, and Russia urged him to ap-
prove. Pressed for a decisive answer, Ferdinand only offered
various mysterious excuses. Congress was disposed to re-
quire the executive to take possession of the Floridas at once,
but the administration still treated Spain with undeserved for-
bearance. Finally, in February, 1821, when Ferdinand’s
throne was threatened by his own people, and South America
had thrown off the yoke, the treaty was ratified and the long
series of negotiations as to Spanish America was brought to a
close. It had been almost the exclusive feature of American
diplomacy during Monroe’s administration. At any time a
handful of United States volunteers could have taken and
held the great territory for which the future held so rich a
destiny, but we dallied with Spain, put up with her shuffling
and treachery, and treated her with a consideration which no
power in Europe would have granted her under the circum-
stances.

From this time forward our relations with Spain chiefly
concern the history of Cuba.
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URING the troublous years of the disastrous reign of
Ferdinand, the island of Cuba maintained a position

peculiarly her own, and it will be necessary to re-

turn to the time when the people of the United States won
their independence and trace upward the history and condition
of that province which, because of the failure of all efforts
to plant the seed of liberal government in her soil, obtained
the title of “ The Ever-faithful Isle.” During the last years
of the eighteenth century Cuba, under the rule of a few wise
governors, advanced rapidly in material resources, and the
ports of Havana and Santiago were opened to free commerce,

excepting the slave trade, and a few minor productions. At -

the close of the century Havana was the most important city
in America. Of the governors, none were more wise and
progressive than Luis de las Casas, who imparted a new impulse
to commerce and agriculture, and inaugurated a series of im-

portant public works. He took an active interest not only in
(102)
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relieving the remnant of the native Indians from slavery, but
in developing the military defenses of the island. A great
navy yard grew up at Havana, though in accordance with
Spain’s short-sighted policy, it was closed in 1776 on the de-
mand of the shipbuilders of Spain that such work should be
done only in the mother country. By this time Spain had
become the servant of France; reforms in church and state,
which stubborn Spain would not have dreamed of had she
had her own way, were introduced, and in Cuba the develop-
ment was marked. In 1776 Spain was forced into a further
alliance with France, and when the Spanish naval power was
broken the following year at Cape St. Vincent, her communi- -
cation with her colonies was so interrupted and feeble that
Cuba was left practically to her own devices. When Spain
lay at the feet of Napoleon she had no recourse but to leave the
colonies to. defend themselves, and it was only the increased
defenses which saved Cuba from attack.

It was with some difficulty, even under the prudent eas-
ures inaugurated by Las Casas, that serious disturbances could
be avoided when the excitement of the negroes was intensified
by the remarkable campaign of Toussaint L’Ouverture in
Haiti, and there were several bloody uprisings; still, as a
whole, the island greatly benefited by the Haitian revolution,
for it led to a large immigration of white settlers driven out of
San Domingo, the number taking refuge in Cuba in the decade
ending in 1808 having been estimated at fully 30,000. En-
couraged by Governor Las Casas, they contributed largely to
the development of the eastern section of the island, where
they mainly settled, and where they introduced the cultivation
of the coffee plant, the product soon becoming a large element
in the commerce of the island. The cession of Louisiana also
resulted in a large immigration of Spaniards, who found that
they must quit New Orleans or live under the flag of the
United States.

‘When Napoleon placed his brother on the throne of Spain,
and the Spanish, seeing themselves cheated and humiliated,
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rose in a sort of helpless frenzy, the condition of affairs in Cuba
was greatly changed. England, which had long been an
enemy of Spain, now became her ally. English fleets, instead
of threatening Cuban waters, now aided in extending its com-
merce. When the news of the captivity of Ferdinand
reached Cuba, the colonists, irrespective of any party divisions,
refused to recognize Joseph Bonaparte.  The divisions be-
tween the Cubans and the Spaniards were for the moment
lost sight of, and the people contributed men, money, and
material to assist the Junta of Seville, which proclaimed equal
rights for all Spaniards, both at home and in the colonies.
The hopes of the Cubans rose high, but the Junta proved itself
too closely bound to the colonial monopolies to allow of a
liberal consideration of colonial rights, and the Cubans were
greatly disappointed. The authorities in the island, however,
met the crisis by boldly modifying the orders of the home
government and thus maintaining the freedom of commerce
under other than Spanish flags. During the years when Spain
was losing her colonies in South America, many loyal Span-
iards took refuge in Cuba, and, while the population was
increased and the island became the most important of Spain’s
colonies, the presence of so many Spaniards naturally con-
tributed to strengthen the reaction which followed the restora-
tion of the despotic Ferdinand.

When, after the capture of Seville, the Spanish’ con-
stituent Assembly was called to frame a constitution for the
Spanish monarchy, the colonies were invited, and Cuba
was represented by three deputies, the small proportion being
the cause of considerable discontent. The Constitution of
1812 became only another factor in the discontent, for though
the pleas of the Cuban planters prevented the adoption of the
clause for the abolition of slavery in Cuba after ten years, the
rumors of the failure led to serious uprisings among the slaves,
led by José Aponto, a free negro. But the insurrection was
quickly put down and the leaders executed as usual.

However, during that brief period of constitutional gov-
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ernment Cuba enjoyed many new advantages. As one Cuban
writer expresses it, “ A division of civil and military powers
was effected; provincial deputations and constitutional muni-
cipal councils were established; liberty of the press was ac-
corded; educated judges were appointed, and the fetters of cen-
tralization were materially relaxed.” There was at this time a
population of about 600,000 on the island, an increase of about
330,000 in twenty years. Of the total, 274,000 were whites,
114,000 free blacks, and 212,000 slaves. The proportion of
increase in twenty years had been 45§ per cent. of whites; 19
per cent. of free blacks; and 354 per cent. of slaves.

The revolt in South American provinces undoubtedly in-
clined the home authorities for a time to a more favorable
policy towards the faithful isle, and it was partly for this
rcason that when Ferdinand restored despotism in 1814, and
trampled the constitution under his feet, Cuba at first suf-
fered lcss than Spain herself, though Cuban deputies were not
admitted to the Cortes. But Ferdinand then dissolved the
Cortes and undertook to restore absolutism in all its ancient
rigor. In July, 1814, the Captain-General of Cuba, Apodica,
was ordered to restore the old system, and he made the formal
attempt to do so, but liberal ideas had obtained so much head-
way that is was impossible at once to restore the old order of
things with safety.

Tn 1817 arose the agitation for the suppression of the slave
trade in Cuba. The importation of negroes into slavery had
been interdicted by Denmark in 1792, by England and the
United States in 1807, by Sweden in 1813, and by Holland
and France in 1814, and as England had performed for Spain
the service of saving her from Napoleon, that gove'rnment
used 1its influence to bring about the suppression of the slave
trade in the Spanish colonies. The result was the conclusion
of the treaty at Madrid in 1817, by which the deportation of
negrocs to Spanish colonies was made illegal after 1820, and
Ferdinand, who was greatly in need of money, received for
this concession $2,000,000, Portugal being paid a million and
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a half for a like concession. The change was violently op-
posed, not so much by the Cuban planters as by the slave-
trading interests, and for years after the interdiction ship-
loads of slaves were either smuggled in or their entrance con-
nived at by the Spanish authorities.

To compensate Cuba for the supposed loss of commerce
from the interdiction, and in the hopes that it might have a
beneficial effect upon the revolting South American provinces,
which Spain expected then to recover, she consented to have
Cuban ports opened to unrestricted commerce, and encouraged
immigration to the islands. In short, owing to the favorable
influence of English intervention, Cuba made a distinct gain
at this time. DBut it was the forerunner of that long and
troubled period in which the Cubans and the Spaniards stood
face to face in an attitude of bitter hatred and hostility. For
a proper understanding of recent Cuban history, it is necessary
to mark closely the distinction to which this period gave rise.

It was in 1820 that the standard of revolt was raised in
Spain by Riego and Quiroga against the cruel absolutism of
Ferdinand. The movement quickly spread, and in a short
time the constitution of 1812 was again proclaimed and Ferdi-
nand was compelled to accept it. But the Captain-General
who had been sent out to Cuba two years before attempted to
delay its re-establishment in the island. e was overborne
by the garrison of the city, a part of which at once pronounced
for the liberal order of things, and they were joined by the
Cubans. A conflict was for the time avoided by the yielding
of the Captain-General. Political prisoners were liberated
from the fortresses and the work of again establishing a con-
stitutional regime proceeded. The succeeding governors of
the island endeavored to restrain the new tendency, and to
unite the civil and military power in the hands of the Captain-
General in opposition to the constitution, and thus a bitter
feeling was gradually aroused between the Spanish troops
under his immediate command, and the local militia who sup-
ported the Cubans. Secret societies began to take root in the

—_—
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island, and thus the two elements of the population, those sup-
porting the constitution and mostly native Cubans on the one
hand, and the adherents of absolutism on the other, gradually
took sides in opposing organizations. But while these forces
were arraying themselves in Cuba the constitution was again
broken down in Spain, this time by France under the behest
of the Holy Alliance.

The great ruling houses of Continental Europe, strong up-
holders of absolute monarchial institutions and the divine
right of kings, had naturally become alarmed over the sudden
unfolding of free institutions in the Americas and the develop-
ing weakness of the Bourbon throne of Spain. In 1815, or
shortly after Waterloo, the sovereigns of Russia, Austria, and
Prussia had formed the Holy Alliance, its avowed purpose
being to maintain as a Christian doctrine that sovereign right
of legitimacy which Henry Clay in one of his speeches ex-
pressed as “a softer word for despotism.” In 1821, when
XNapoleon had breathed his last at St. Helena, and after Ferdi-
nand had been temporarily set aside and carried off to Cadiz
by his subjects a prisoner, this Alliance issued a joint mani-
festo declaring that “ useful or necessary changes in legisla-
tion and in the administration of states, ought only to emanate
from the free will and well-weighed conviction of those whom
God had rendered responsible for power.” The Alliance then
proceeded to put its foot upon liberal ideas in government
wherever they were found. Naturally, it turned to help the
bigoted Ferdinand, and the country was handed over to ten
vears more of tyranny from the worthless Bourbon, released
from Cadiz. This was Spain’s last great effort to escape the
thraldom of superstition.

The weight of renewed despotism soon fell upon Cuba.
Marshal Vives was sent to Havana with instructions to save
it from the possible dangers of a'liberal government.  He
began his work in May, 1823, and the island was soon in dis-
cord. An attempt at open revolt was made by an association
known as the “ Soles de Bolirar,” the plan of which was to
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establish a Cuban republic, but it was frustrated by the vigor-
ous Spanish officials, and the leaders who did not escape were
severely punished.

In October of that year Ferdinand, now more arrogant
than ever, set about to carry out the plan of the Holy Alliance,
which was to nse Cuba as an arsenal and vantage point for the
subjugation of the newly-established South American repub-
lics. But at this point our ministers in Europe became aware
that the Holy Alliance had a much more ambitious and sweep-
ing project in mind than the assistance of Ferdinand. It was,
in fact, a plan for the combination of monarchial Europe to
throttle independence of spirit in South America. In this
situation England and the United States drew closer together
for the time, though the former had not yet recognized the
new South American republics. John Quincy Adams, then
Secretary of State, strongly advised President Monroe not to
join with England in a protest against the projects of the
Alliance in Soutli Amerieca, but to make his annual message to
Congress a declaration of what would be the position of the
United States if the Alliance undertook to carry out its plans.
Monroe acted on the advice, though with some reluctance, it
is said, and inserted those passages which were destined to be-
come famous as “ the Monroe doctrine.” After referring in
the first part of his message to certain negotiations then in
progress between Russia and this government conterning
rights in the far northwest, he said:

*“The occasion has been judged proper for asserting as a principle in
which the rights and interests of the United States are involved, that the
American continents, by the free and sndependent condition which they have

assumed and maintain, are henceforth not to be considered as subjects for
Juture colonization by any European power.”

That is the gist of the Monroe doctrine. Monroe continued
with some forcible words in explanation of this position and
plainly intimated that any attempt on the part of the Euro-
pean governments to interfere with the independence of the
new republics would Dbe considered as an unfriendly aet,
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dangerous to our peace and safety. In England, where the
purpose of the Holy Alliance was understood, the Monroe
declaration was applauded as a bold assertion of American
spirit.  Spanish-American securities at once rose on the
market. The Alliance drew back and its interference with
the new republics was thus prevented. :

The patural result of all this was to increase the Dbitter
feeling between the Cuban people and the military govern-
ment of the Spanish-born, and as a result of several small and
unsuccessful attempts at revolt the military despotism was
strengthened, many of the soldiers originally intended for the
renewal of hostilities in South America remaining in Cuba, no
doubt because of an intended Congress of Representatives of
the American republics, the general motive for which was
concerted action in opposition to the apparent purposes of the
Holy Alliance.

It was from this point that our attitude towards Cuba was
largely influenced by her conmection with slavery. It was
proposed to have this Congress meet at Panama in 1826, and
the United States was naturally invited to send a representa-
tive. In his first message President John Quincy Adams en-
dorsed the plan and announced that representatives would be
sent, but the plan was strongly opposed in the Senate upon
various pretexts, though the real reason evidently was the fear-
of the slaveholding states that this Congress threatened the
institution of slavery. The republics of South America had
aholished slavery, in this being much more consistent with the
demands of liberty than the United States, and it was clear
that the representatives of the slaveholding states would pre-
fer a Spanish Cuba with slavery and an illegitimate slave-
trade, to an independent Cuba without them. There is little
doubt that the relations of our government to Cuba and Puerto
Rico would have formed a feature of the discussion in the
Congress, for the President announced that one of the pur-
poses of the Congress was to consider the “indirect influence
which might be exercised upon any projects or purposes origi-
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nating in the war in which the southern republics are still
engaged and which might seriously affect the interest of this
Union.”

The Panama Congress having failed, largely because of
the inadequate support given by the United States, the move-
ment against Cuba which had been planned by Cuban refu-
gees in Mexico and Colombia and was to be led by the great lib-
erator, Simon Bolivar, was abandoned. That it was the policy
of the United States government at this time to ensure the
continued Spanish control of Cuba is clear from the statements
of Henry Clay and others, though the slave states began to
look with favor upon its annexation to strengthen the slave-
holding side of the country.
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with those extraordinary powers which for years re-

mained the supreme law of Cuba. Threatened by a
revolution of the natives, and by attacks from Mexico and Co-
lombia, and fearing the designs of the United States, he re-
solved, “ for the important end of preserving in that precious
island his legitimate sovereign authority,” to give to the Cap-
tain-General all the powers which by the royal ordinances were
granted to the governors of besieged cities. He, therefore,
granted “ the most ample and unbounded power, to send away
from the island any persons in office, whatever their occupa-
tion, rank, class, or condition, whose continuance therein ”
the Captain-General might deem injurious, replacing them
with persons faithful to his majesty. He was also granted the
power to suspend the execution of any order whatsoever.
From that day the Captain-General was, in effect, the absolute

ruler of the island, the one essential being that he please his
(118)

IN May, 1825, Ferdinand endowed Captain-General Vives
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king. He became a military dictator, and the degree of his
despotism depended only upon his character and disposition
Naturally, the sovereign appointed none but those whom he
believed to be thorough Spaniards, and thus it happened that
many of the governors misused their enormous powers, widen-
ing the breach between the islanders and the peninsulars, and
causing that very unrest which the grant of authbority was in-
tended to repress.

As under strict military supervision, with a large army
constantly on hand, uprisings had little chance of success un-
less operated from outside, Cuban exiles everywhere became
constant conspirators. In Mexico and Colombia they or-
ganized, in 1827, a secret society called the “ Black Eagle,”
and in a short time its ramifications extended into many Cuban
cities and towns. The watchful military forces had no dif-
ficulty in finding the main conspirators on the island, and a
large number of them were condemned to death, the rest to
exile, though the Captain-General was wise enough, in view of
the growing discontent, to mitigate these sentences in many
cases. Vives used his powers with much diseretion, but under
his successor, Mariano Ricafort, venality and corruption be-
came more and more manifest, large sums of money wrung
from the Cubans by taxation finding their way into the pockets
of minor officials instead of into public works or into the Span-
ish treasury.

While the opposition of the slaveholding class in Cuba
was one cause of the failure of attempts to shake off the Span-

" ish yoke, the slave interests in the United States led the South
to take a position decidedly unfriendly to Cuban independ-
ence, but distinetly favorable to our acquisition of the island.
Early in the constitutional history of the United States, the
acquisition of Cuba had been regarded as desirable if only as a
strategic point.

“T candidly conféss,” wrote Jefferson to President Monroe
in 1823, “ that T have ever looked at Cuba as the most interest-
ing addition that could be made to our system of States. The
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control which, with Florida Point, this island would give us
over the Gulf of Mexico and the countries and the isthmus
bordering it, would fill up the measure of our political well
being.” This theory grew naturally out of the consideration
of the geographical position of the island. “ Our safety from
this danger,” that is, the control of the Gulf by a hostile power,
wrote Alexander Hill Everett, our Minister to Spain from
1825 to 1829, in a letter to President Adams, “ has, I believe,
long been considered as resulting wholly from the feebleness
and insufficiency of Spain; and it has been viewed by all as a
settled point that the American government would not consent
to any change in the political situation of Cuba other than
one which would place it under the jurisdiction of the United
States.” He proceeded to argue that in consequence of the
internal state of the island, the obstinate adherence of Spain
to the colonial system, and the growing strength of the new
South American states, the island could not long remain in its
existing condition, and as the whites were too few to make an
independent government possible, it must eventually fall into
the hands of some other power or become a republic of blacks,
like Haiti. For these reasons he considered it highly impor-
tant that the United States should at once endeavor to obtain
possession of the island in a peaceable way. ¢ If they do not
succeced in this,” he said, “ it is morally certain that they will be
forced, at no very distant period, to effect the same object in a
more invidious manner and at the risk of enibroiling them-
selves with some of the great powers of Europe.”

He then asked that he might be favored with instructions
with a view to negotiations on the basis he proposed, which was,
in effect, to offer Spain, then in desperate straits financially, a
considerable loan on condition of a temporary cession of the
island as security. If the loan was not repaid within a
specified time, the United States should assume entire and un-
disputed ownership of Cuba. He closed by saying: “ Should
this government (Spain), however, attempt to proceed upon

its usual plan of delay, after all that has already passed, I can-
8
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not but hope that Congress will resort to vigorous measures.
The mere demonstration would in this case be effectual and
would be unattended by any danger or inconvenience what-
ever. Nevertheless, violence is always unpleasant, even when
necessary, politic, and safe, so that I-should prefer an early
termination of these vexatious disputes in an amicable ‘way.”

But as Henry Clay, then Secretary of State, said in a letter
to Everett that same year, the United States were satisfied with
the existing condition of Cuba and Puerto Rico in the hands of
Spain and with their ports open to free commerce, but he in-
timated that if war should continue between Spain and the
new South American republics, or there should be danger of
Cuba falling into other hands, the United States would not be
disinterested spectators.

While this was the position of the administration, it was
not the position of the inhabitants of the Southern States.
How completely slavery dominated the sentiments of the
South ean be judged from the fact that, much as it would
have liked to have the United States acquire Cuba as new
slave territory, nothing would have been more hateful to it
than Cuban independence. In writing to Van Ness, minister
to Spain in 1829, President Van Buren said that “ other con-
siderations connected with a certain class of our population
make it the interest of the Southern section of the Union that
no attempt should be made in that island to throw off the yoke
of Spanish dependence, the first effect of which would be the
sudden emancipation of a numerous slave population, the re-
sult of which could not but be very sensibly felt upon the ad-
jacent shores of the United States.”

The State Department also warmly protested in communi-
cations to the government of Mexico against any attempt to
disturb Cuba by putting arms in the hands of one portion of
its population to destroy another, “which in its influence
“would endanger the peace of a portion of the United States.”
Thus it was that because of the growing predominance of pro-
slavery control, even then threatening disunion, the govern-
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ment of the United States threw its influence in favor of the
Spaniards. While boasting of our freedom, our interests in
slavery made us partisans of Spanish oppression.

When the ignoble Ferdinand died in 1833 and his infant
daughter Isabella was proclaimed Queen under the regency of
her mother Christina, the latter was forced to turn to the Span-
1sh Liberals for help against Ferdinand’s brother Carlos, who,
claiming the throne by Salic law, took up arms against the
regency, thus beginning the Carlist wars, which have ever
since disturbed the Spanish nation. The Liberals demanded
reforms, and the revival of the Cortes, which Christina, from
necessity, granted, but this had no effect upon poor Cuba.
The following year General Tacon was appointed Captain-
General, and instead of adopting a policy of conciliation and
fair treatment to bridge the ever-widening gap between the
Cubans and the Spanish-born, he used his unlimited powers
arbitrarily, and enforced a rigid proscription of all who op-
posed his will.

In 1836, when the Spanish treasury was sadly depleted,
there occurred a bit of history not known at the time except
to the three or four parties engaged in it. The Queen con-
ceived the idea of selling to France the turbulent island which
had ceased to be “ever faithful,” and even the Philippines,
so pressing were her financial needs, and she commissioned a
Spanish banker at Paris to sound Prince Talleyrand upon the
subject. The banker in his note to the Prince spoke mys-
teriously of a plan which might bring fortunes to those en-
gaged in the transaction, but which, if unsuccessful, must for-
ever remain a secret to the rest of the world. The Queen then
despatched Campuzano to Paris to represent the crown in the
business, but he was heartily ashamed of his mission; an at-
tempt to deprive Spain of what he considered her brightest
jewel, nearly all that remained of her once great American
empire. He undertook the office, he said afterwards, because
he feared that if he declined it, it might fall to some of the
Queen’s favorites, who would seek nothing but the personal

FY
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pecuniary advantage to be derived from it. Campuzano had a
meeting with Talleyrand. When the secret agreement to be
signed by the King of France and the Queen Regent of Spain
was being read, Campuzano is described by Talleyrand’s secre-
tary as being deeply affected. The proposition from the Span-
ish ruler was so monstrous and base that he struck the table a
heavy blow with his fist and muttered a curse. Cristina pro-
posed for a consideration of 30,000,000 reals (about $3,-
500,000) to hand Cuba over to France, and for 10,000,000
reals more to give up Puerto Rico and the Philippines.

The Queen’s plan would make it necessary for France to
raise a loan, and this was to be floated on the Bourse. Out of
the loan the banker would receive large commissions, while
1,000,000 francs was to be offered to Prince Talleyrand, and
300,000 franes was to be distributed as bribes and commis-
sions to other people whose support might be essential.
When, a few days later, the parties met in the King’s cabinet
to sign the contract, Campuzano could hardly control himself,
so disgusted was he with the business which seemed to be
working to a successful conclusion. The article on Cuba
bardly provoked any discussion, but when it came to the
Philippines, Louis Philippe thought he saw. an opportunity
for driving a bargain. He remarked that the cession of the
Philippines to France would be so obnoxious to England that
serious complications, if not war, might result. He there-
fore demanded a lower price on the Philippines, and pushing
the contract across the table to Campuzano, exclaimed im-
periously:

“The reduction of price must be accepted. The terms are
too onerous. Seven million reals is my offer, or else the con-
tract must be thrown into the fire.”

Talleyrand, who knew how disgusted Campuzano was
with the whole business, and who feared that the King’s move
might spoil the lucrative job, stretched out his hand to pick up
the paper and was about to speak, when Campuzano, starting
up so quickly that his chair fell backward, leaned over the
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table, seized the contract, crumpled it in his hand, and look-
ing at the astonished King, said:

“ Your majesty is right. The contract is worthless, only
fit to be thrown into the fire.”

He flung the paper on the blazing logs of the ﬁreplace,
and with the tongs beat 1t down until nothing remained but
the blackened fragments. And thus ended Spain’s only pro-
position for the sale of Cuba.

Meantime the condition of the Cubans upon the unhappy
island became worse and worse under the despotism of Tacon.
The Captain-General was surrounded by corrupt and greedy
office-holders from Spain, while the Creoles were under ban,
though they were the children of peninsulars, many of them
well educated and wealthy. Their misfortune consisted
solely in having been born outside the peninsular, and the
period was at hand when class hatred was to manifest itself in
an antagonism never to end till Cuba should be free. In con-
sidering this period we should not lose sight of events in Spain.

Pressed almost to the point of defeat by the armies of Don
Carlos, Christina, upon her failure to secure money by the sale
of Cuba and the Philippines to France, resolved upon desperate
measures, and a new levy of 100,000 men was made without
a real to pay them. But her minister adopted the policy of
confiscating nearly the entire mass of church property.
While this sedmed to open up boundless resources to a nation
so devoured with forced loans, heavy taxes, and administrative
robbery, it was found to be entirely inadequate. In an effort
to realize something from indemnities, the independence of
the South American republics was at last acknowledged (De-
cember, 1836), and that chapter of Spanish decadence was
closed, but the Spanish coffers remained empty and the general
misery culminated in an outbreak, on account of which Chris-
tina was forced to sign 2 decree recognizing the Constitution
of 1812 till the will of the nation should be made known in
the Cortes.. This was eventually done in the revised Constitu-
tion of 1837.



120 PROFESSED CONCLS83IONS AND NEW OPPRESSIONS

It would have Dbeen natural to suppose that in such an
ascendency of liberal ideas in the peninsula, Cuba would at
last be eriabled to secure some small share of her rights as an
“ ever-faithful isle.” Soon after the death of Ferdinand, and
in an evident effort to increase Cuba’s contributions to the
treasury of the home government faced with a Carlist war,
the Queen had issued a decree again allowing Cuba a small
representation in the Cortes, though the unlimited powers of
the Captain-General remained in all their rigorous force, and
the concession really amounted to no more than the paper it
was written on. When, two years later, the Queen, under
compulsion, again promulgated the Constitution of 1812, the
despotic Tacon ignored the decree, and suppressed its procla-
mation in Santiago de Cuba, where General Lorenzo had at-
tempted to promulgate it in spite of the Captain-General.
Tacon sent a large military expedition to Santiago and im-
prisoned or exiled all who had joined in the effort. Under
the Constitution Spain was allowed one representative for each
50,000 inhabitants, but Cuba was put off with four, although
on the basis of the white population alone the island would
have been entitled to nine.

But even this alleged concession was but the forerunner
of a new display of despotism. Speaking in open parliament,
a representative of the Cortes said: “ The government has
never held the opinion that deputies should “be sent from
America; it has been considered as an evil which it was neces-
sary to cut short. Their advent was a calamity.” A select
commission at this time drew up a report which was accepted
by the Cortes, and by which it was resolved no longer to admit
deputies from Cuba. The Cuban deputies protested in vain,
and from that date the political constitution of Cuba became
established in accordance with the Queen’s decree of April 25,
1837, a decree which stripped the “ ever-faithful isle ” of all
voice in its own affairs.

This decree announced that the provinees should no longer
be represented in the Cortes, and that,
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First, as this decision might be ¢ distasteful to the wicked,”
active maleontents should be “ subject to the judgment of com--
petent tribunals.”

Second, that the provinces should continue to be governed
by the laws of the Indies, and by ordinances and royal orders
issued for their observance; that the Captain-General should
see that these laws were rigidly enforced, and that no measures
adopted in the peninsula be promulgated in the colonies unless
communicated to the Captain-General by the proper minister.

Third, that the higher authorities should assist Her
Majesty by adopting such measures as are necessary to enforce
the special laws.

Fourth, that the liberty of the press should not be per-
mitted, and that vigilant censorship should be exercised upon
pamphlets, newspapers, and writings printed in other coun-
tries.

The years which followed this order made bloody pages in
the history of Cuba. Spain was deaf to the complaints of a
people devoid of a free press, of the right of assembly, and of
the security of the law. The military system gave rise to
many excesses, and the infamous contraband slave trade was
carried on and openly tolerated in violation of treaties by
which, for a money consideration from England, Spain had
formally forbidden it. The government of Spain had de-
clared that all negroes brought from Africa subsequent to the
treaty should be at once set free, and that the ships on which
they had been transported should at once be confiscated, while
the captains and crews and others concerned should be pun-
ished with ten years servitude. Yet the statistics show that
for the twenty-five years following this treaty an average of
fifteen thousand slaves annually arrived in Cuba from Africa.
It is asserted that in the four years that Tacon was Captain-
General he made no secret of receiving a2 doubloon, or seven-
teen dollars, per head on every slave landed, and the home
government secretly fostered the trade for the sake of the rev-
enue which went into the pockets of its members.
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Naturally, the inhabitants of African descent were con-
tinually restive, and many of the mulattoes showed a genius
for leadership, which was often to characterize later Cuban
history. Small insurrections were frequent and conspiracies
were constant. In dealing with them the government was
ruthless, and it was simply necessary for someone to whisper
to an official that a conspiracy was being hatched to lead to
the execution of those who might under any circumstances
be connected with it. Plans for an insurrection were laid in
1844 among the slaves of the sugar plantations about Matan-
zas. As the officials discovered the plot early and acted at
once, the real guilt of the arrested parties was largely a matter
of suspicion. The difficulty of obtaining satisfactory evi-
dence was such that the Spaniards resorted to the method of
examining witnesses under torture. How many testified to
suit the government, simply to escape further torture, could
not be known, but the result was the conviction of 1,346 per-
sons, of whom forty-eight were shot and the others subjected
to lesser forms of punishment. Of the guilty ones only fifty-
nine were slaves; 1,242 were free blacks of all shades, and
fourteen were white. .

One of those condemned to death, largely because of hav-
ing sung in his poems of the liberty of his country and his race,
was the mulatto poet, Gabriel Concepcion de la Valdez. This
martyr, of whom the world knows but little, possessed in a
marked degree the true poetic spirit. He began his career as
a foundling — the poverty-stricken descendant of a race of
slaves. His childhood was that of a poor laborer with mo
means of securing an education except such as he himself could
gather with difficulty. Had he received the stimulus of a
government encouraging letters he might have made himself
better known in the history of literature, but his works would
have been no more immortal than they became, condemned
as he was to spend upon his native soil a life of misery and in-
sult, ending in death by Spanish bullets.

While waiting for his execution he wrote a prayer,
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“ Plegaria a Dios,” beautiful in its rhyme and meter, pathetic,
yet brave, in sentiment, and worthy of a place beside the
classics of the Spanish language. The following excellent
translation has been made by Louis Edward Levy in his notes
to Cabrera’s “ Cuba and the Cubans ”’:

‘* Being of boundless good | Almighty God !
To Thee I turn in my most poignant grief ;
Extend Thy hand omnipotent to hold
This odious veil of calumny from me,
And tear away the ignominious seal
With which the world would harshiy brand my brow.

“Kings of Kings! Thou God of my forefathers !
Thou art my sole defender, Oh, my God !
All may He do who to the somber sea
Its waves and fishes gave, to heaven its light,
Fire to the sun, and to the North its ice,
Life to the plant, and movement to the rills.

¢ All things canst Thou accomplish ; all things die
And live again but through Thy holy word.
Apart from Thee, O Lord, all things are naught
And lost in fathomless eternity;
Yet doth obey Thee this same nothingness,
For thereof didst Thou humankind create.

1 cannot Thee deceive, Thou God of Truth,
And since it is that Thy omniscient eye
Doth through my body see this soul of mine
As through the clear transparency of air,
Do Thou prevent that innocence be crushed
And wicked slander triumph undisturbed.

*But if in Thy omnipotence Thou wouldst
That I shall perish like a Godless wretch,
And that men may my cold and lifeless corse
Abase and outrage with malignant joy,
Then let Thy voice be heard and end my life,
And let Thy will, O Lord, be done in me !”

These lines he repeated as he was led forth to his execu-
tion on the Plaza de Armas in Matanzas. The first volley
fired at him by the soldiers failed to hit a vital part, and the
heroic victim, bleeding from many wounds, turned to his exe-
cutioners.
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“ Aim here!” he shouted in a clear, calm voice, pointing to
his heart.

The order for another volley came, and the brave mulatto
- dropped dead upon the ground, his blood mingling with that
goil into which has.run so much of the life current of those who
have died for “ Cuba Libre.”

‘When we consider the deliberate efforts of Spain to with-
hold educational advantages from the natives of Cuba, and
especially the poorer classes, we cannot but be surprised at the
wealth of good Cuban literature and art.during the nineteenth
century. To some extent, doubtless, this is due to the prac-
tice of the richer Cubans of sending their sons to the United
States or to Europe to be educated, but some of the finest ex-
amples of genius must be traced to the humblest conditions
of Cuban life. Many of these men have been exiles from
their native land — like the mulatto musician, José White,
at the head of the Conservatory of Music of Brazil.
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1845, the proposition to acquire Cuba by purchase or

otherwise was widely discussed in the United States, and
during the Mexican war which fixed the boundary of Texas
and brought California into the Union as a free state, the
strength of the Cuban idea increased rapidly. The slave-
holders had become greatly concerned over the anti-slavery
agitation, and they looked to Cuba as a means of establishing
the equilibrium of sectional strength. In 1848, therefore,
Buchanan, Secretary of State under President Polk, proposed
negotiations for the purchase of the island to the Spanish gov-
ernment through the American Minister at Madrid, who was
instructed to point out to Spain that she was in danger of losing
Cuba by revolution, and that it might be wrested from her by
Great Britain if a rupture came in their relations. The min-
ister was authorized to pay as much as $100,000,000, and the

treaty should be modeled upon that of the Louisiana purchase.
(125)

I N the agitation which led to the annexation of Texas in
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But the refusal of Spain to entertain the proposition put an
end to the project, and the growth of the anti-slavery sentiment
led many of the slaveholders to lend support to violence in the
shape of filibustering expeditions. .

The Cuban liberals, unable to carry on their revolutionary
movements at home because of the military vigilance of the
Spanish authorities, turned to the United States as a place to
organize their movements. In May, 1847, Narciso Lopez, who
had formed a conspiracy for a rising in central Cuba, was de-
tected and fled to the United States. During the following
year he formed an association of Cuban fugitives in New York,
and in 1849, after the failure of Buchanan’s negotiations, Lo-
pez organized a military expedition and induced many promi-
nent southern citizens to become interested in it. The attempt
was frustrated by the vigilance of President Taylor, who had
succeeded Polk, and who issued a warning proclamation. The
sccond and third attempts were more serious. In April, 1850,
Lopez sailed from New Orleans with about three hundred
Southerners under his command, and, after bafling one of
our naval vessels which was sent to intercept the expedition,
he landed at Cardenas, overcame the Spanish guards, and took
possession. But the spirit of revolution was not at that mo-
ment ripe in the cities of Cuba, and so Lopez, finding himself
unsupported and unable to reach the rural districts, was soon
driven from the island by the government troops. He took
refuge in Savannah, where he was arrested for violating our
neutrality laws, but he was quickly discharged.

Lopez was not in the least daunted and he saw that he had
the sympathy of a large portion of the southern people. En-
couraged by some revolutionary manifestations in Cuba in
1851 he hastened to New Orleans and organized a new force
of about 450 men, draining as before upon the purses of zealous
politicians in the cause of slavery and disunion. Ile sailed
away on the steamer Pampero intending to land on the south-
ern coast. DBut learning at Key West of a revolt at a favor-
able point on the north coast he made for that phce, but missed
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it and disembarked on a lonely portion of the coast about thirty
miles from Havana. Colonel Crittenden of Kentucky, sec-
ond in command, with a hundred men, was left in charge
of the stores and baggage, while Lopez, with the remainder
of his command, advanced inland to the town of Pozas,
whose inhabitants, instead of lending their enthusiastic aid,
fled at once. The separated forces never reunited. Crit-
tenden’s band finally put out to sea in small boats to escape the
Spanish soldiers, and were soon captured by a Spanish war
vessel, which took them to Havana, where, after 2 summary
trial, they were shot on the 17th of August. Lopez had ad-
vanced but a short distance into the interior, suffering greatly
and finding the simple inhabitants of that section indifferent
to the cause, when he was attacked by government forces, and
after a severe loss he fled to the mountains. But here he was
surprised on the 24th of August by an overwhelming force,
and his scattered men, after wandering about, were gradually
caught and taken to Havana. Lopez was executed at dawn,
September 1st, by the Spanish garrote, an instrument by which -
the victim is clasped fast in an iron chair while an iron screw
is pierced through a brass collar to the spinal marrow. The
newspapers of the day record that this execution was publicly
performed in the midst of an approving erowd.

President Fillmore had by proclamation stigmatized all
such hostile adventures from our shores as violations of both
national and international law, and had warned citizens of the
United States who aided such projects that they would forfeit
all claims to the protection of the government. The French
and English governments had also issued orders to their West
Indian fleets to prevent, by force if need be, such invasions of
Cuba. But as a result the Spanish authorities in Cuba be-
came very suspicious of American designs, especially when the
South showed such unmistakable signs of irritation at the
failure of the filibustering schemes, for a mob at New Orleans
attacked the Spanish residents and tore in pieces a flag on the
building of the Spanish consulate. But a little diplomacy



128 PROPOSITION OF FRANCE AND ENGLAND

soon secured a better feeling between Spain and this govern-
ment, and the Southern spirits who still dreamed of securing
Cuba were for the time occupied with the more serious aspects
of the slavery question at home. Henceforth the designs of
the slave party were mainly confined to attempts to purchase
the island. Still, there were some attempts at filibustering
of a private character. In 1853, General Quitman of Missis-
sippi headed a movement in which extensive enlistments were
made and considerable money was collected, but the govern-
ment interfered, and the leaders in Cuba who promised to work
with Quitman were captured, and eventually several of them
were shot.

Early in 1852 the French and English governments, in-
fluenced by the efforts of the South to acquire Cuba, made a
joint proposition to the government of the United States for a
tripartite convention for disclaiming severally and collectively
all intention of obtaining possession of the island, and binding
themselves to discountenance all attempts to that effect on
the part of any power or individuals whatever. In December,
1852, Edward Everett, Secretary of State, replied to the
proposition in a letter which is an important landmark in our
relations with Spain as to Cuba. The French minister had
stated that France could never see with indifference the pos-
session of Cuba by any other power than Spain, and explicitly
declared that she had no wish or intention of appropriating the
island to herself. Lord Malmesbury made a similar avowal
on behalf of the English government, but Mr. Everett stated
that this government could not, for various reasons which he
proceeded to enumerate, enter into an agreement to pledge
itself for all time, no matter what the circumstances, not to
consider the possibility of the acquisition of Cuba. One of the
reasons was that such a convention would be an entangling
alliance contrary to the oldest traditions of the government;
another, that such an agreement, though eqnal in terms, would
be very unequal in substance. Cuba lay close to our shores,
commanded the approach to the Gulf and to the entrance of
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the Mississippi.  “ If,” he said, “ an island like Cuba, belong-
ing to the Spanish ecrown, guarded the entrance of the Thames
and the Seine, and the United States should propose a con-
vention like this to France and England, those powers would
assuredly feel that the disability assumed by ourselves was far
less serious than that which we asked them to assume.”

Mr. Everett said further that while opinions differed as to
the desirability of the United States acquiring Cuba, there
might come a time when it would be essential to our safety.
“Still,” he added, “ the President thinks that the incorpora-
tion of the island into the Union at the present time, although
effected with the consent of Spain, would be a hazardous
measure; and he would consider its acquisition by force, except
in a just war with Spain (should an event so greatly to be
deprecated take place), as a disgrace to the civilization of the
age.” Ile pointed out how, in spite of annoyances to which
the United States had been subjected by acts of the Captain-
General in Cuba, the President had thrown the whole force of
his constitutional power against all illegal attacks upon the
island. “A respectful sympathy,” he added, “with the
fortunes of an ancient ally and a gallant people, with whom
the United States has ever maintained the most friendly rela-
tions, would, if no other reason existed, make it our duty to
leave her in the undisturbed possession of this little remnant
of her mighty trans-Atlantic empire. The President desires
to do so; no word or deed of his will ever question her title or
shake her possession. But can it be expected to last very
long? Can it resist this mighty current in the fortunes of the
world? Isit desirable that it should doso? Can it be for the
interest of Spain to cling to a possession that can only be main-
tained by a garrison of 25,000 or 30,000 troops, a powerful
naval force, and an annual expenditure for both arms and
service of at least $12,000,000¢ Cuba at this moment costs
more to Spain than the entire naval and military establish-
ments of the United States costs the Federal government. So
far from being really injured by the loss of the island, there is
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1o doubt that were it peacefully transferred to the United
States a prosperous commerce between Cuba and Spain, re-
suiting from ancient associations and common language, would
be far more productive than the best contrived system of
colonial taxation. . . . I will but allude to an evil of the first
magnitude: I mean the African slave trade, in the sup-
pression of which France and England take a lively interest —
an evil which still forms a great reproach upon the civilization
of Christendom, and perpetuates the barbarism of Afriea, but

for which, it is to be feared, there is no hope of a complete -

remedy while Cuba remains a Spanish colony.”

Thus were France and England a half century ago given
to understand that, while we could not consent to any other
Luropean power than Spain occupying Cuba, we might under

certain contingencies feel compelled to take it to ourselves;

but not for the aggrandizement of slave power.

But in the following year the Whig administration, whosc
sentiments Everett had expressed, ended, and the party whose
politics were largely dominated by the defenders of slavery
came into power. An ardent Southern expansionist, Pierrc
Soulé, a Frenchman by birth, was sent to the Madrid mission.
Marcy, the new Secretary of State, sent him instructions which
went much further than the judicial argument of Everett, and
which indicated how closely bound up in Cuba and its illegiti-
mate slave trade was the cause of slavery in this country.
This fact is more forcibly and less diplomatically expressed in
the private letters of General Quitman of Mississippi, who
could boast for his filibustering schemes many sympathizers
in Congress and even in the administration. “ Our destiny is
intertwined,” he said, “ with that of Cuba. If slave institn-
tions perish there, they will perish here. Thus interested, we
must act.” Marcy wrote to Soulé that, under certain circum-
stances, the United States would be willing to purchase, but
he did not believe that Spain would entertain negotiations,
and he felt convinced that Spain was under obligations to
Great Britain and France not to transfer the island to the

e,
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United States. “Independent of any embarrassment of this
nature,” he added significantly, “ there are many other reasons
for believing that Spain will pertinaciously hold on to Cuba,
and that the separation, whenever it takes place, will be the
work of violence.”

The selection of Soulé for a mission which had been
graced by such distinguished Americans as Washington
Irving, showed to what straits the slave party were reduced to
carry out their plans. Soulé was an exile from France for
being a conspirator against the French Bourbons, and Napo-
leon III. heartily disliked him. He was a sympathizer with
the filibusters, and not long before his departure for Spain
had made a speech in public praising Lopez and his deeds, but
he was formally received at Madrid, though he quickly in-
volved himself in difficulties. Not long after his arrival, with
his wife and son he attended a ball at the house of Admiral
Turgot, the French ambassador, in honor of the Empress
Eugénie, whose sister had married the Duke of Alva. Dur-
ing the evening the Duke innocently enough remarked that
Mrs. Soulé, who was dressed in green velvet, looked like Mary
of Burgundy. Young Soulé heard it, and at once challenged
the Duke of Alva, and although the latter disclaimed any in-
tention of being rude to Mrs. Soulé, the duel took place and no
one was hurt. But the elder Soulé, having heard that the
remarked had first proceeded from the mouth of Turgot, at
whose house the ball was given, immediately challenged the
French ambassador, and they fought the next morning with
pistols, Turgot receiving a ball in his knee, which for a long
time impaired his health. These affairs made Soulé’s person-
ality anything but pleasant to Spain and France.

Shortly after this duel the sentiment against Spain in the
United States was greatly intensified by the case of the Black
Warrior, a steamer owned in New York and plying regularly
between that port and Mobile. She was the largest steamer
in the coasting trade, and possessed accommodations for 200

cabin passengers. In going and returning, she touched at
9
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Havana to .deliver and receive mail and passengers, but not
for the purpose of discharging or taking on any freight. The
custom laws at Havana were very striet, and under them she
should have exhibited each time a manifest of her cargo.
This, of course, would have been to no purpose as no cargo
was to be moved, so she usually entered Havana and cleared as
“in ballast ” to save time and trouble. She had so entered
and cleared thirty-six times in succession, with the full knowl-
edge and consent of the Spanish custom officers, and in accord-
ance with a written general order given by the authorities
seven years before. Stopping at Havana as usual in Feb-
ruary, 1854, the steamer was held in the harbor for having an
undeclared cargo. The cargo was confiscated and taken on
shore, and a fine of more than twice its value was imposed on
the captain and his vessel. The captain refused to pay, pro-
testing against the whole proceeding as wrongful. He de-
clared it a forcible seizure, and, hauling down his colors, left
his vessel as a Spanish capture and made his way back to the
United States,where the owners preferred a claim for
$300,000 indemnity.

Soulé meanwhile had applied every art of menace and
cajolery to induce Spain to cede Cuba to the United States,
and in accordance with his instructions from Marcy protested
against any interference from other European powers in the
negotiations. Spain proudly spurned all negotiations on the
subject. The minister declared in the Cortes that such a sale
would be “the sale of Spanish honor itself.” Then came
from Washington a demand for redress for the Black Warrior
seizure.

In order to impress the governments of Europe as well as
their own, the ministers to England, France, and Spain,
Duchanan, Mason, and Soulé, respectively, all eager to add
Cuba to our slave territory, at the suggestion of Secretary
Marey called a conference of themselves at Ostend in October,
1854. They conferred three days, and then transferred their
deliberations to Aix-la-Chapelle, where they drew up the re-
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port which became known as the Ostend Manifesto. = It was
proposed that our government should make a bold strike for
Cuba, and that an immediate and earnest effort should be
made to purchase it from Spain at a price not exceeding a cer-
tain maximum, which was between themselves and the admin-
istration fixed at $120,000,000. They declared that our pro-
posal to Spain should be open and frank, so as to challenge the
approbation of the world, and such a transfer, they urged,
would be beneficial to Spain and to all the commercial nations
of Europe. What with her own oppression and the danger of
insurrectionary troubles, they said, Spain, unless she sold,
might lose Cuba and the price as well. Finally, supposing a
price should be refused, the question would remain, they de-
clared, whether Cuba in the hands of Spain did not endanger
our internal peace and the existence of our Union; and if so,
we should be justified by every law, human and d1v1ne, in
wresting it from her.

But this remarkable mamfesto did not produce the desired
effect. President Pierce was too prudent to at once follow
such reckless advice, and the Kansas-Nebraska trouble soon
furnished him with enough to attend to, especially as it made
the North determined to allow of no more territorial acquisi-
tions till the slavery question was settled. The impetuous
Soulé, observing the hesitation of the government, threw up
his commission and returned home in disgust. Thereupon,
Spain made compensation for the Black Warrior, and both
nations exhibited a more peaceful and amiable disposition.

‘When Buchanan became President, however, the slave-
holders thought that the policy of “territorial expansion ”
would be vigorously prosecuted. His message certainly gave
promise of such a policy, and Cuba played a conspicuous part
ir it. But by this time the anti-slavery sentiment had become
strong enough to hold the South in check. Still, Buchanan
did his best to keep the Cuban project to the front, even after
the elections of 1858 showed that the verdict of the people
was against him. When Congress met in December, he spoke
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much of Cuba, Mexico, and Central America. He held that
if Spain would not sell, self-defense would compel us to annex
it by force. Slidell, one of the President’s most intimate
friends, presented in the Senate a bill proposing to place in
the hands of the Executive $30,000,000 for negotiating the
purchase of Cuba, and he made a long report deseribing in
glowing language the advantages to be derived, and strongly
reiterating the threat that if Spain would not listen to negotia-
tions, the government of the United States would, by them-
selves or in assisting the Cubans, drive Spain from the island.
But Congress would do nothing in times of such domestic ex-
citement, and Buchanan’s advice went unheeded. The posi-
tion of the parties would have been quite different had Cuba
been wanted for the sake of freedom, but the island was an
open market for slaves, and was desired for just this reason.

In writing to Tocqueville in 1858, Charles Sumner said:
“ Why will not Spain follow the example of other European
powers — and now of Russia — and declare emancipation in
ber colonies? This would do more to settle the slavery ques-
tion than any blow ever before struck. It would at once take
Cuba from the field of Mr. Buchanan’s lawless desires and
destroy the ailment of the filibusters; besides, it would be an
act of noble justice as well as of wise statesmanship.” He
considered that the neck of slavery was in Cuba, and if it
could be severed there it could not last longer in the United
States. DBut the question was to be scttled in another way,
and when the war broke out this unpleasant chapter in the re-
lations of the United States to Cuba was closed.

During this decade Cubans bore the ever-increasing weight.
of oppression in a spirit of hopefulness, and every attempt to
throw it off was impotent, so extensive and thorough was the
military espionage. It is not strange that their valor was un-
equal to the situation when, living in an island smaller than
the State of New York, they were under the constant watch of
an army larger than was necessary in the whole of the United
States. The Spanish government constantly added to the
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burden of taxation, and thus the discontent of the people con-
tinued to increase. Commerce with the United States was
almost destroyed by prohibitory restrictions, and that with the
mother country was subjected to a heavy tax.

An American observer in Cuba in the fifties wrote:
“ Every kind of judicial enormity prevails and every descrip-
tion of imposition is practiced upon the helpless Creole. If
he commits a wrong, he is punished without an opportunity of
being heard in his own defense; or, what is the same thing, he
is tried before a prejudiced tribunal. If he has suffered an
injury he finds the means of redress so tedious that endurance
is preferable to the formidable task of obtaining justice.
There is but one means of avoiding persecution, but one way
to escape when persecuted, but one method to obtain justice
when secking ordinary redress — it is bribery. Gold will
open prison doors; procure dispensation for falsely imputed
crimes; obtain a tardy degree of long-sought justice. Thus
personal security is only to be enjoyed at the expense of the
right of property.”

The effect of these regulations were sometimes minimized
by the good fortune to secure as Governor-General a man of
more than ordinary honesty and discretion. This was the
case under the moderate sway of Serrano and Dulce during our
Civil War. Tle tact of the former did much to allay the
irritation caused in the Northern States when Spain recog-
nized the belligerency of the Southern forces over a month
before the first battle of the war. This fact kept in mind will
offer an interesting comparison to the forbearance shown upon
several occasions later by the United States government when
Cuban insurgents sought belligerent rights. Though it was
the South which really tried to force Spain to give up Cuba,
by force of arms if necessary, the moment the South took up
arms against the Union, Spain recognized it. It was a feature
of Castilian policy which has not been forgotten, even if we
have had the wisdom to show no signs of revenge in our own
diplomacy towards Spain.
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Unquestionably, the abolition of slavery in the United
States as a result of the Civil War and the re-establishment of
the power of the republic on firm grounds strengthened the
liberal sentiment in Cuba and gave rise to renewed movements
forits expression. The pleas of the Cubans had so much effect
even upon the Spanish government that a liberal ministry
which happened to be in power in 1865 accepted a project for
a Commission of Inquiry to consider and devise reforms for
the Cuban administration. The project was duly set forth in
a royal deeree and the Cubans formed extravagant hopes upon
the results. But the whole scheme was emasculated by the
opponents of reform, the devotees of the old system. Accord-
ing to the royal decree the election of the commissioners was
to take place in the manner provided for municipal council-
men, that is, by the higher taxpayers composed in three
classes, landed property, commerce and industry, and profes-
sions. But the Captain-General modified this classification for
the occasion by organizing four groups, commerce and indus-
try being divided. It had the effect and doubtless the object of
diminishing the number of native voters and doubling the
number of Spaniards in whose hands the commerce and city in-
dustries were, The commission was further backed by the gov-
ernment which appointed one-half of the commission itself.
The result was what might have been expected, and it is need-
less to dwell upon the efforts of the Cuban reformers who en-
deavored to impress the Spanish government with the necessi-
ties for reform. Instead of a general plan for colonial reform
being considered, the commission, whose deliberations were
guided by a president appointed by the government, restricted
itself to the proposal of certain regulations for slave-labor about
which the Cubans cared but little.  Their own propositions the
commission declined to entertain. They demanded a constitu-
tional system in place of the autocracy of the Captain-General,
freedom of the press, the right of petition, cessation of the ex-
clusion of Cubans from public office, unrestricted industrial
liberty, abolition of restrictions on the transfer of landed prop-
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erty, the right of assembly and association, representation in
the Cortes, and local self-government. But none of these pro-
posals would the home government consider. Even the mod-
erate demands of the Cubans for the abolition of slavery were
temporized with and nothing was done. The result was that
the new Captain-General, Lersundi, tightened the screws on
the reformists so that they were worse off than before. To cap
it all, a little later an additional 10 per cent. on the direct
taxes of the island was imposed.

One of the Cuban deputies to the Cortes, in a speech de-
livered in 1866, said: “I foresee a catastrophe near at hand,
in case Spain persists in remaining deaf to the just reclamations
of the Cubans. Look at the old colonies of the American con-
tinent. All have ended in conquering their independence.
Let Spain not forget the lesson; let the government be just to
the colonies that remain. Thus she will consolidate her do-
minion over people who only desire to be good sons of a
worthy mother, but who are not willing to live as slaves under
the scepter of a tyrant.”
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to worse. The treasury was well-nigh empty. The
air was full of intrigue and conspiracy. At last, on
September 19th, the revolution broke out at Cadiz, and a pro-
nunciamento was issued setting forth the causes of disaffection
in the mother country. It was a long array of charges, all
justified. The truth was that the Spanish rulers, still priest-
ridden, were clinging to the customs of the middle ages, and
the people were at last awakening, but without any adequate
training for governing themselves. A provisional govern-
ment was established, and Isabella fled to France, where she
pleaded in vain for Napolcon’s help. Napoleon was begin-
ning to have troubles of his own, and it was the Spanish throne
which was eventually to form the issue of war leading to the
French collapse at Sedan.
‘While these events were being shaped at home, the Cubans

were planning another outbreak of their own, for, disappointed
(138)

M EANWHILE, affairs in Spain had been going from bad
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over the failure of the Commission of Inquiry, and goaded al-
most to a frenzy by the high-handed methods of Captain-Gen-
eral Lersundi, nothing was left them but another break for
liberty. The movement was fast ripening when the news of
the Queen’s overthrow reached the island, but the change in
Spain made no difference with Lersundi’s policy. Ile became
even more watchful and oppressive. The plans for insur-
rection were quietly matured in the eastern provinces of the
island by Francisco Aguilera, Manuel Aguilera, and Fran-
cisco Osorio at Bayamo, Carlos Céspedes in Manzanillo, Beli-
sario Alvarez in Holguin, Vincente Garcia at Las Tunas, Do-
nato Marmol in Jiguani, and Manuel Fernandez in Santiago.
These men were not low-born conspirators. Francisco Agui-
lera, for example, though born in Cuba, had been highly edu-
cated both in the United States and Europe, and was a mil-
lionaire when he liberated his slaves and threw himself into
the cause of the rebellion against Spanish tyranny. Céspedes
had graduated in law at Madrid, and was a man of literary at-
tainments. He had been imprisoned during the conspiracy
of Lopez, but since his release had been practicing his pro-
fession in Bayamo. It was at his plantation at Yara that the
revolution was proclaimed. The leaders had planned to have
a simultaneous outbreak on October 10th, but the movement
having been discovered by the authorities, Céspedes at once
placed himself at the head of 100 poorly-armed men and 200
slaves whom he had liberated. Two days later he was joined
by about 4,000 men, and the entire province rose in sympathy
with the movement. By the middle of November he had an
organized army of 12,000 men, who, though poorly equipped,
were united in purpose and of determined will. Thus, in
brief, began the Ten-Years War.

It will be well before following the events of this struggle
to make an examination of the social and economic condition
of Cuba at that time, and of the results of Spanish govern-
ment, for it will not simply throw light upon the causes
of the rebellion but make clearer the later course of events.
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In a general way we have seen that the Creoles or white people
born on the island were allowed no voice in affairs, and the
reason why the Spanish government persistently kept the con-
trol in peninsular hands will appear from the method by which
revenue was extracted from the island. Spain’s improvident
monarchs had not merely run the home government heavﬂ%
into debt, but had by an unwise, short-sighted policy destroye
the industries of the peninsila. Spain’s debt being out of all
proportion to her diminished resources, it became necessary
for her Bourbon majesties to find money to pay the interest
and keep up appearances. Cuba was the richest portion of
the domains and had no power to protect herself. The prob-
lem was, therefore, to squeeze all possible out of the island by
Spanish agents.

But if Cuba had been compelled to furnish only so much"
as would satisfy the home government, her yearly contribution *
for this purpose being $7,000,000 or 8,000,000, her burden
would have been very much easier. Unfortunately, to this
was added the support of the municipal and provincial gov-
ernment, and the still greater burden of enriching the venal
Spanish officials. The office of Captain-General was a bril-
liant prize for which many aspirants were eagerly struggling,
and under the prevailing conditions it followed that the very
means calculated to insure success presupposed dishonorable
motives. To win influential supporters the candidate was
obliged to promise a subsidy to them, and this he expected: to
obtain by peculation when he reached Cuba. There were no
inducements for him, even had he the ability, to study the
needs or gain the good-will of those over whom he presided.
The princely salary which he received was but a part of his in-
come, and generally coming to the island a poor man, he nearly
always returned a rich one, no matter how brief his term of
office.

The annual revenue raised in the island in 1868 was ap-
proximately $26.000.000, and preparations had been made to
increase it. The revenue in the island in 1857 had been
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$17,790,000, but during Spain’s wars with Morocco, Santo
Domingo, Mexico, Chile, Peru, and Cochin China, the ex-
actions upon Cuba had been so great that the revenue had
nearly doubled, the increase being all out of proportion to the
increase in the value of the productions. Early in the sixties
Spain adopted the practice of issuing Cuban bonds, pledging
the revenues of the island to pay the interest. This plan in-
creased the.interest account, and caused a deficit, therefore
new methods of taxation were devised. It was estimated that
while the people of Spain were paying $3.23 per capita of in-
terest on the national debt, the Cubans, who had had no part
nor interest in the contracting of that debt, were paying $6.39
per capita. .

It is difficult to obtain satisfactory statistics of Cuba for
that period or for any period, for the Spanish officials have
little fondness for them, but Cuban writers say that shortly
before the war broke out there were in a state of production
the following estates:

Stock farms, . . . . . . P 2,712
Sugar plantations, . . . . . . . 1,521
Coffee plantations, . . . . . . . 82
Cattle ranches, . . . . . . . 6,175
Cocoa plantations, . . . 18

Cotton plantations, .
Produce farms,
Truck farms,
Tobacco plantations,
Apiaries, .

Country resorts,
Distilleries,

Tile works,
Lime-kilns,

Charcoal furnaces,
Cassava-bread factories,
Tanneries,

[eR=3=8 ]
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The value of this property, together with its appurten-
ances, was estimated at about $380,000,000, with a net in-
come of about $38,000,000.

The cities were hopelessly in debt and were unable to pro-



142 SALARIES AND PERQUISITES

vide for such necessary improvements as drainage and street
cleaning, and it was even said that in Santiago, a city where
custom revenues were largely absorbed by official peculation,
the municipal gas bills were months in arrears. Education
was neglected and the schools were closed. Little was done
for the maintenance of hospitals, and there was but one asylum
for the insane on the island, and that was at Havana. Else-
where such unfortunates were kept in the common cells of the
jails. Nor should it be supposed that the greater part of the
revenue found its way to Spain. The general expenses of the
Spanish method of governing an island of 1,500,000 people,
less than half of them white, must be considered.

The following were a few of the salaries paid the Spanish
officials of Cuba at a time when the President of the United
States was receiving $25,000:

Captain-General, . . . . . . $560,000
General Manager of the Treasury, . . . . 18,500
The Archbishop of Cuba, . . . . . 18,000
The Bishop of Havana, . . . 18,000
The Chief of the Arsenals and Dock Yard.s . . 18,000
President of the Court, . . . . . . 15,000
Lieutenant-General, . . . . . . 15,000
Governor of Havana, . . . 8,000
First Secretary of the Governor-General . . 8,000
A Field Marshal, . . . . . . . 7,500
A Brigadier, . . . . . . . . 4,600
A Colonel, . . . . .. . 8,450
A Collector of Customs e e e 4,000

There was a whole retinue of other officials, chiefs of
bureaus, and subordinates with large emoluments for their
services. DBut beyond this were what we call “ perquisites,”
incident to all offices, civil and ecclesiastical, from the highest
to the lowest. These were not fixed by ordinance, but by cus-
tom, and they varied according to the character of the men.
They might be obtained in various ways. Just a little to a
customs official would make the greatest difference in his be-
havior as to baggage or cargoes. How nicely it might be ar-
ranged can be seen from the usual way of collecting the in-
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come tax. A planter, for instance, would hand in a return
putting his income at $10,000. The collector let the planter
know that he was greatly dissatisfied, and that the figure
should be at least $15,000. The planter, of course, knew what
the collector meant, and that it might be worse for him if he
did not take the hint, so he would offer to split the difference
and make it $12,500. The collector, with much politeness
and many assurances of his desire to be obliging, would accept
the compromise. But the tax on the extra $2,500 went into
the eollector’s pocket and the original assessment of $10,000
remained on the books. It has been estimated that the pecu-
lations in various ways at the custom house at Iavana
amounted to 40 per cent., and at Santiago 70 per cent. of the
entire receipts.

All this, of course, amounted to a tax on industry and com-
merce which could thrive only in spite of such obstacles.
Even if the customs laws had not been subject to these abuses
they would have operated heavily against the industry and
commerce of the people. The Spanish officials were not blind
to the injustice of the laws, but as they profited by them and
gathered all they could in anticipation of returning shortly to
Spain and maintaining that splendid appearance so dear to the
Spanish heart, they usually remained quiet. Only occasionally
was there an officer who had the conscience or the courage to
complain to the home government. Captain-General Dulce,
whose sway was so moderate and whose efforts to remedy
abuses so energetic that the other officials forced his recall, said |
in a letter to the Minister for the Colonies in 1867: “ The
cause of the trouble and inquietude which appears in the 1sland
of Cuba should be sought to a great extent in the tariff laws,
which, under the pretext of protection, make impossible a
commerce carried on in good faith. . . . The custom house
gystem is very expensive, overloaded with formalities .which do
not prevent fraud but which embarrass and annoy honest
trade.”

Spain managed to retain almost a monopoly of the trade of
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Cuba through differential duties, while making the Cubans
pay extremely high for articles received from the mother coun-
try. The duty on flour was so heavy that only a small portion
of the people indulged in wheat bread. In Spain the annual
consumption of bread was 400 pounds per capita, while in
Cuba it was fifty-three pounds nine ounces. A barrel of flour
could be bought in New York and carried to some port in
Spain, whereby it became Spanish flour; then it could be re-
shipped across the ocean and sold in Havana for $8.25, while
if the barrel had been shipped direct from New York to -
Havana it would have cost the dealer $10.46. A similar state
of things pertained to the postal regulations. A letter from
Europe, although prepaid, could not be taken from the post-
office till twenty-five cents had been paid. If it were de-
livered, the charge was thirty-seven and a half cents. All
sorts of mail matter was treated in the same way.

If anyone carried firearms for his personal safety or kept
them for defense, he had to pay a heavy license, and a strict
search was regularly made for unlicensed firearms. The Civil
Guards cost nearly $3,000,000, and the maintenance of the
troops, without counting the chief officials who received large
salaries and allowances, or the commissions, buildings, and sup-
plies, cost about $4,000,000 more. '

With such a climate and such a soil Cuba should have
been one of therichest portions of the earth. Nature had been
bountiful with her, and it was no wonder that the Abbé Raynal
had pronounced her the boulevard of the new world, and
that the Spanish historian had called her the fairest emerald
in the crown of Ferdinand and Isabella. Could she have
fallen to almost any other government in Christendom, the
island could have been a vast, smiling garden, but from the
first to last it had been the unvarying policy of the govern-
ment to oppress and rob the people, to extort the last possible
peseta. Finally, it became impossible for legitimate business
to sustain itself in the face of the increased exactions. Coffee
and cotton planting were practically driven from the island,
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where they might have proved an enormous source of revenue.
In every way Spain had carried her system to the utmost of
audacity and severity.

One who made some observations in Cuba before the in-
surrection wrote: “It has been my lot in life to mix a good
deal with discontented people — rebels, revolutionists, re-
formers, and, in fact, all categories of men who look upon
themselves as oppressed. . . . But until I listened to Cubans
giving vent to their hatred of Spain, I never had any concep-
tion with what diabolical hatred one nation can look upon an-
other. There is no use in attempting to paint the feelings of
the Cubans still under the power of Spain for the race from
which they have sprung, because all painting would be a weak
and ineffectual representation of the reality. In all prob-
ability, if the present disturbed state of affairs continues in
Spain, the pent-up rage of this much-oppressed people will
find vent in a new Sicilian vespers; and, if it were not for
the fear of exposing their families to a renewal of the insults
and outrages to which they were subjected after the first re-
verses of the revolution, the attempt would have long since
been made.”

The underlying principle of Spanish law as applied to the
Cubans was that every accused Cuban is guilty until he proves
himself innocent. The result was an endless number of ar-
rests and few trials. Arrested persons were led to Morro
Castle, and, when the doors closed, hope was left behind. Few -
ever came out, and still there seemed always to be room for
more. Executions thinned out some, starvation some. Tt
was not considered safe to inquire after details. Persons ar-
rested for complicity in some supposed conspiracy simply dis-
appearcd; no one knew whether they had a trial or not, and
their friends feared to press their defense lest they, too, might
be incarcerated. '

Cuba had not failed to ask for justice and redress. The
people, before shouldering the rifle, pleaded for their rights.
Far-sighted men had denounced the cancer of slavery, the
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horrors of the traffic in slaves, the corruption of the office-
holders, the abuses of the government, the discontent of the
people with their forced state of political tutelage. No atten-
tion was given to them, and this brought on the first armed
conflicts.

Before the insurrection of 1868 the reform party, which
included the most cnlightened, wealthy, and influential
Cubans, exhausted all the resources within their reach to in-
duce Spain to initiate a healthy change in her Cuban policy.
Having succeeded in leading the Spanish government to make
an inquiry into the economical, political, and social condition
of Cuba, they presented a complete plan of government which
satisfied public requirements as well as the aspirations of the

. people. The Spanish government disdainfully cast aside the
proposition, increased taxation, and proceeded to its exaction
with extreme severity.

If any further justification were needed for the uprising,
it could certainly be had from the lips of the Spaniards them-
selves. A few months after the war broke out the minister of
transmarine affairs at Madrid said in an official paper: “A
change of system, political as well as administrative, is im-
peratively demanded.” When a Spanish official was willing
to concede so much respecting the state of affairs in Cuba, no
further evidence is required concerning the outrageous
tyranny to which the Cubans were subjected.



CHAPTER IX

COURSE OF THE STRUGGLE — FORMATION OF THE REPUB-
LIC—OUTRAGES BY SPANISH VOLUNTEERS —HEROISM
OF CUBAN WOMEN — MYSTERIES OF MORRO CASTLE.

Rapid Growth of the Insurrection — Forced to Adopt Guerrilla Methods —
Cuban Leaders Refuse to Consider More Spanish Promises — They
Declare the Abolition of Slavery — Meet to Form a Government —
Successful Landing of Arms and Ammunition — Spain Increases Her
Forces — Obtains Her Supplies in the United States —Treats the
United States Insolently —The Spanish’ Volunteers — Excessos of
Cruelty — Cuban Successes — Arrest of University Boys — Their
Sentence and the Execution — Querrilla Tactics — Diminution of
Spanish Forces — Heroism of Cuban Women — Mysteries of Morro
Castle — Further Efforts to Secure Peace — Disagreement among the
Insurgents —The Rebellion Nearly at a Standstill —A Typical Engage-
ment — Terrible Destruction of Property — Campos Sent to the
Island — An Armistice — The Treaty of Zanjon.

W ITHIN a few weeks Céspedes had gathered about

him nearly fifteen thousand men, all resolute and

eager, but, unfortunately, poorly armed and
equipped. The plans of the revolutionists having been dis-
covered while still immature, war began before arms could be
smuggled into the island, and, as the Spanish held all the sea-
ports, the insurgents were forced to rely almost entirely upon
guerrilla methods. Still, for the first two years they were
victorious in many engagements, and were generally succes-
ful, hostilities being mainly confined to the two eastern prov-
inces. During the winter of 1868-69 the struggle centered
along the railway from Nuevitas to Puerto Principe, and the
Cubans became the masters of the country. One after an-
other of the important towns of the interior were captured in
the guerrilla campaign under the leadership of Manuel
Quesada, and the Spanish forces, which included 40,000
regulars and 70,000 volunteers, were repeatedly beaten off
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by a Cuban force which could not have consisted of more
than 30,000. Hundreds were ready to flock to the rebel
standard, but it was useless to increase the army faster than
it could be armed. To do this, the leaders were compelled
to depend mainly upon what arms and ammunition they could
capture from the Spanish. The coast was continually pa-
troled by a Spanish squadron of light-draught gunboats, so
that little help from outside could be gained. Nothing but
these ships, however, prevented the Cubans from capturing
some of the seaports.

At this stage the Spanish ministry recalled Lersundi, and
returned the former Captain-General, Domingo Dulce, who
had stood well with the Cuban people because of his moderate
policy. Dulce at once issued a proclamation appealing for
peace, offering a general amnesty and promising a considera-
tion of grievances when order was restored, but the Cuban
leaders were bent upon absolute freedom and refused to listen
to proposals to lay down their arms. They had been tricked by
such Spanish promises before.

One of the two great questions at issue between the Cubans
and Spain was understood to be the future condition of the
negroes. A Cuban assembly meeting on February 26, 1869,
in the district of Las Villas, declared for the immediate aboli-
tion of slavery “in the name of liberty and the people,” but
the act met with no response from Spain, though many of her
wisest statesmen were in favor of such abolition. This declara-
tion was the cause of an uprising in the Las Villas district, led
by a Polander named Roloff, who succeeded in driving out the
Spanish soldiers and holding them in check.

On April 10th, while the Cubans were gaining ground, a
Constituent Assembly of Cuban representatives met at Guai-
maro, framed a constitution for the Republic of Cuba, and
elected Céspedes as President, Francisco Aguilero as Vice-
President, and Manuel Quesada as military commander. In
a short time rights of belligerency were accorded them by
Chile, Bolivia, Guatemala, Colombia, Mexico, and Peru.



-

THE UNITED STATES ASSISTS SPAIN 149

In May two expeditions were successfully landed under
the command of Rafael Quesada and Colonel Thomas Jordan,
but the supplies of arms and ammunition thus introduced were
insufficient for the hundreds of fighting men who were eager
te flock to the insurgent standard. Meanwhile, the Spanish
navy had been reinforced by about thirty vessels purchased
in the United States and converted into gunboats, and these,
in addition to the large fleet already patroling the coast, made
the landing of filibustering expeditions a very difficult mat-
ter. Thus it was that the United States afforded more help to
Spain than to the Cubans, with whom most of our people were
in sympathy. This had been the case in all revolutionary
movements in Cuba, the requirements of international law
being upheld by our government. Spain, whose supremacy
was thereby recognized, was enabled to carry in stores of all
kinds from the United States, and by this means to keep her
army in the field. Spain’s industries were in an impoverished
condition, and but for what the Spaniards in Cuba were en-
abled to purchase in the United States, the Cubans would
probably have pushed on to victory in spite of their small sup-
plies of ammunition and arms. Yet Spain treated us this
time in an insolent and haughty manner, simply because, not-
withstanding the vigilance of the United States officials and
of the Spanish consuls and spies, attempts were made by private
parties to fit out expeditions in aid of the Cubans.

As the war progressed, the people of the United States
could not restrain their indignation at the Spanish operations
on the island. In the first place the Cubans continued to win
victories in the face of obstacles. The yellow fever made
havoc with the conscripted Spanish soldiers, and they were ut-
terly untrained for the guerrilla tactics by which, at the end of
1870, the Cubans had gradually strengthened their hold on
the eastern half of the island. In the second place, the con-
duet of the Spanish soldiers in the western part of the island,
where, according to Spanish reports, peace reigned, was suf-

. ficient to rouse the anger even of those friendly to Spain.
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One of the measures adopted by Spain while in a state of
civil disturbance was the formation of volunteer battalions
or home guards. Their officers found it almost impossible to
enforce discipline among them, and they were responsible for
many outrages and excesses of malicious cruelty. They were
placed on duty in the cities, which they were supposed to de-
fend, but which they terrorized much after the manner of
brigands. So uncontrollable were they that they practically
made and unmade their own officers, and, in June, 1870, they
actually arrested and deported Captain-General Dulce be-
cause they considered him too lenient against the insurgents.
The Spanish government tamely submitted to the excesses of
the Volunteers, and this outrage was followed by a similar
deposition of General Lopez-Pinto, commander of Matanzas.

The new Captain-General, Rodas, proved to be a man after
their own leart, shooting prisoners of war without restraint.
He made a great show of putting down the rebellion, called for
reinforcements, and received them on lis assurance that le
would quickly bring the rebellion to an end; but, as a matter
of fact, his forces were invariably worsted in the field by the
Cubans, who would lay in wait for the Spanish detachments
and slaughter them by a murderous fire from ambush. The
result was that in six months Rodag~vas recalled, and in De-
cember, 1870, Balmaceda took hif place. 1Ile could do little
against the insurgents, whose guerrilla warfare continued to
baffle the regular troops, but the outrages of the home guards
in the cities of the west became more and more fiendish.
Some 20,000 of these forces were concentrated in Tavana, and
about twice as many more in other parts of the island.

In November, 1871, a glass plate at the public tomb of
Havana, where the body of one of the home guards had been
placed, was found to have been defaced by some obnoxious
writing. Suspicion pointed to some of the students of the
University of Havana, and forty-three of these boys were ar-
rested and put on trial. So arbitrary was the act that an
officer of the regular army voluntarily defended them before
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the military tribunal, and they were acquitted for lack of evi-
dence. But the Volunteers were not satisfied, and they de-
manded of the cowardly Governor-General a second court-
martial composed of their own officers. The Captain-General
partly acceded to their request, and appointed to the court
nine Volunteers, five regular army captains, and a major, with
a colonel as judge advocate. The Volunteers thus had the ma-
jority of the court, and were at once the accusers and the judge.
The result was that eight were sentenced to be shot, thirty-one
were sentenced to imprisonment, and four were acquitted.
The next morning, November 27th, 15,000 of the Vol-
unteers paraded to the scenc of the execution; the occasion
was a sort of féte for the bloodthirsty guards, and the boys
were cruelly and unjustly shot. Naturally, the affair sent a
thrill of horror through the civilized world. The Spanish
Cortes, to keep up appearances, passed a vote of censure, but
nothing was done to punish the movers in the outrage.
During the campaign of 1871 the insurgents were enabled
to secure considerable stores of ammunition and arms, largely
from the Spanish, and the campaign of 1872 was practically
a repetition of its predecessor. The insurgents, compelled to
be very saving of their ammunition, confined their open at-
tacks to such small bodies of Spaniards as they.could overcome,
eluding the larger ones, which were nevertheless continually
harrassed by sharp attacks and retreats, while exposure and
disease killed more of the unacclimated than artillery in the
hands of the rebels could have done. Some of the Cuban
forces under General Agramonte in the district of Caniagiiey,
in Central Cuba, were so short of supplies and weapons that
they offered to lay down their arms if their lives would be
spared. The Captain-General accepted the proposition, offer-
ing it as evidence to the outside world that the rebellion was
near its end. But General Agramonte, who refused to yield
and was left with only thirty-five men, organized a body of
cavalry and maintained the war with considerable success.
The authorities were determined to prevent supplies
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from falling into the hands of the insurgents, and they
not only maintained the strictest watch of the coasts to inter-
cept expeditions but instituted a most severe espionage over
the Cuban families, who naturally sympathized with the pa-
triot forces, and whose patriotism was far from being crushed
by danger. The Cuban women even found ways to give their
most valuable jewels as a contribution to the cause of liberty.

Very heroic were some of their efforts. In 1872, some
ladies in Havana put their diamonds and other valuable jewels
together to realize money with which to assist the Cuban
leaders. The jewels were given to a young brother of one of
the ladies to sell, a very difficult proceeding without raising
the suspicion of the authorities. But he finally succeeded in
realizing something over $4,000 for the jewels and in forward-
ing the money to Céspedes through a safe channel.

Hardly had he accomplished this before he was denounced
as a suspicious person, and was at once arrested and thrown
into Morro Castle, where he was subjected to the closest ex-
amination in the effort to discover his accomplices. It was
never discovered how his complicity was divulged, though it
was supposed that one of the Jewish pawnbrokers had in-
formed the authorities in order to make himsclf safe. In
spite of tortures, the young man refused to disclose anything
as to his accomplices, though he was finally offered his free-
dom and permission to leave the island if he would confess all,
the idea being that he was a mere tool, and that a dangerous
combination of conspirators remained to be discovered.

One of the sisters of the accused determined to assume the
whole guilt of the transaction in order to free her brother, but
ler friends convinced her that such an act would simply lead
to the death of both. The young Cuban maintained his
silence and suffered all the indignities of imprisonment. He
was, in time, it is said, brought before a military tribunal.
What the sentence was no one knew. Iis fate remains a
mystery, like that of hundreds of others who entered the gates
of the castle prison. '
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In the fall of 1872 Balmaceda was compelled to relinquish
his command provisionally to Ceballos, and, in the following
year, definitely to General Pieltan, who thought to bring the
war to a close by negotiations. He made repeated efforts to
induce the Cuban leaders to accept peace without independ-
ence, but always without success.

The skirmishing of the insurgents was carried on vigor-
ously in 1873, and the war really reached its climax. But in
the fall of that year disagreements arose among the Cubans
themselves. The Cuban Congress met at Bijagual in Decem-
ber, and a majority being hostile to the policy of President
Céspedes, he was deposed. Ie retired to San Lorenzo, where
he was surprised by a detachment of Spanish troops, and
though he escaped, he was mortally wounded, and died on
March 22, 1874. e had given up everything for the cause
of Cuba’s freedom, and at the time of his death was practically
homeless and deserted.-

Much difficulty was found in selecting his successor, 1 *
Cisneros, a scion of the old Spanish nobility, and a man of Lig.
_ social rank and abilities, was provisionally elected. In join-
ing the revolution he had renounced his title, and his estates
had been confiscated. But the disagreements among the
Cuban leaders caused widespread disaffection, and for a time
the rebellion was nearly at a standstill. It might have ended
but for the fact that the Spaniards themselves were in discord.
As the campaign in the field had given the Spaniards no ad-
vantage, Jovellar, who had succeeded Pieltan as Captain-
General, determined to take vigorous measures. He declared
the whole island in a state of siege, conscripted every able-
bodied man into the military service, and drafted ten per cent.
of them into the field. This raised a storm of protests from
the citizens and brought down upon him the hatred of the
Volunteers. The outcome so utterly disgusted him that he
asked to be relieved, and he was succeeded in the summer of
1874 by General Concha. With him came more reinforce-
ments and he entered upon an energetic field campaign, de-
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feating in September a large body of insurgents at Yarayaba.
His own forces were, however, so crippled and demoralized
by the engagement that the victory was practically fruitless.

After six years of this desultory fighting the end seemed
as far off as ever. Without a navy there seemed to be no
possibility of the Cubans ejecting the Spaniards from the
island, while the Spaniards were able to do no more than drive
the insurgents from one place to another. Meanwhile, it was
costing Spain an immense amount of money and was well-nigh
ruining Cuba. “ The marvel is,” wrote one who was in Cuba
in 1873, “ that such skirmishing should go on from day to day
for four years without more decisive results. There can be
little doubt about the ruthless character of these Cuban hos-
tilities. Printed reports of massacre and torture may be
wildly exaggerated; but there can be no doubt that there is a
vast deal of shooting in cold blood; and property fares no bet-
ter than life in the belligerent’s hands. I know from the very
best authority that in the district of Trinidad de Cuba, one of
the oldest settlements in the center of the island, about two-
thirds of the sugar and coffee estates and of the grazing farms
were either destroyed or abandoned before the end of 1871.
That magnificent valley was turned into a state of desolation
from which it will need years of peace to recover. The same
has been the fate of many settlements in the central districts.”

Up to this time Spain had been regularly sending fresh
levies of Spanish youths to the island, only to fall by disease,
or in skirmishes with an enemy which came upon them sud-
denly and as suddenly disappeared to await another oppor-
tunity. The Volunteers were never brought into the field to
any extent, being allowed to play the bandit in the cities. But
when the Carlist wars came on it became impossible for Spain
to spare recruits, and the constantly diminishing forces gradu-
ally fell back before the insurgents.

In 1876, the Carlist uprising in Spain having been sub-
dued and Alfonzo XTI. placed upon the throne, General Mar-
tinez de Campos, who had won distinction in putting an end
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to the republic and restoring the Bourbon dynasty, was sent
to Cuba with 25,000 veterans of the Carlist wars to end the in-
surrection. lle had had experience in Cuban warfare, yet
notwithstanding his experience and energy, and that of his
veterans and recruits, and in spite of the dissensions among
the insurgents, he made little headway. The latter easily
eluded the larger forces sent against them, and overpowered
smaller detachments. The hot season was again coming on,
and the Spanish troops were weakening under the effects of
the climate, when Campos determined to undertake negotia-
tions for a peace. Early in 1878, both sides beifig well-nigh
exhausted, he succeeded in obtaining an armistice.

The headquarters of the insurgents were then in Cama-
giiey, and there the insurgent leaders met to consider the over-
tures. A commission of nine generals, with Garcia, who had
succeeded Cisneros as president, were appointed to meet Gen-
eral Campos and a number of his officers at the camp of St.
Augustin near Zanjon. This they did on February 10th, and
there they signed the compact known as the peace of Zanjon,
by which the Cubans gave up their struggle for independence,
and the Spaniards promised the reforms which it had refused
to grant in 1867 after the Commission of Inquiry. By the
articles of this agreement Spain conceded to the island of Cuba
the same political privileges, organic and administrative, en-
joyed by the island of Puerto Rico, and granted complete
amnesty as regards political offences. Those remaining under
trial or sentence would be given their liberty, and a general
pardon was given to deserters from the Spanish army.

Freedom to slaves in the insurgent ranks was granted, and
no insurgent should be compelled to render military service to
the Spanish government till peace should have been estab-
lished, while the government would lend aid and protection to
all desiring to leave the island. Insurgents were publicly to
lay down their arms, railroad and steamship facilities being
afforded to all sections of the insurgent army repairing to the
place appointed for the surrender of their arms.
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were to receive at last some measure of that for which

they had been so long pleading and fighting, were
about to lay down their arms, it will be necessary to return
to the beginning of the war of 1868 and observe the manner
in which it affected the United States and its relations with
both the island and Spain. The importance of this struggle
consists not so much in what the Cubans gained, for they really
gained nothing, as we shall see, nor in what the Spaniards
learned, for they learned nothing, as will also be apparent, but
it consists in the position which the United States felt obliged
to assume in the struggle, and which, when understood, will
meke clearer the reasons for intervention in 1898, twenty
years after the close of the war. Public and political interest
in the United States during the struggle was largely confined
to the question of the recognition of the Cubans and to what is
known as “ the Virginius affair.”

l EAVING now the Cubans who, supposing that they

(158)
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The Civil War had well-nigh swept out of the public mind
the frantic efforts of Buchanan, Marcy, and others to secure
Cuba, and the situation was greatly altered. Slavery had
been destroyed in this country and retained its foothold in this
hemisphere in Cuba alone. Castellar and others had said in
the Cortes that they wished slavery abolished in Cuba. When
the standard of insurrection was raised at Yara a Spanish minis-
ter had spoken to our representative at Madrid of “ the common
intcrests shared by the United States and Spain in Cuba,” and
had added, “that whatever retarded the prosperity of the
island was injurious alike to both countries; the welfare of
Cuba was of more commercial importance to the United States
than to the mother country.” Doubtless, the Spanish minister
was haunted by a fear that the United States might, in a
spirit of revenge which would have been so natural to a
Spaniard, recognize the belligerency of the Cubans before
hostilities were well begun, as Spain had recognized the con-
federacy eight years before; and it required uncommon assur-
ance for him to speak of the commerecial interests of the United
States and Spain in Cuba when Spain did everything it could
by discriminating duties to injure Cuban commerce with the
United States. The Spanish minister might have added that
the interest of the United States in Cuba was heightened by a
desire that the struggle just beginning might end in its ac-
quisition of self government and in the abolition of slavery.

General Grant, who hecame President in March, 1869,
tendered the good offices of the United States for the purpose
of restoring peace in the island, and General Prim, as the
representative of the Spanish government, had replied: “ We
can hetter proceed in the present situation of things without
even this friendly intervention. A time will come when the
good offices of the United States will not only be useful, but
indispensable in the final arrangements between Cuba and
Spain.” But that time did not come, and the struggle had
not proceeded far before it was apparent that the United States
must become very seriously interested in the way the Spanish
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authorities were conducting the war, and in the manner in
which the rights of ‘American citizens and of American com-
merce were being 'violated. .

President GGrant, with some members of his cabinet, was
decidedly in favor of recognizing the belligerency of the
Cubans.  Senator' Sumner, chairman of the committee on
foreign relations, was strongly opposed to it. The one was a
man of war, the other a student of international relations.’
Grant looked at it as a practical problem in warfare; he, doubt-
less, reasoned that we were under no moral obligations to Spain
which, with such undue haste, had recognized the belligerency
of the confederates and still defended that slave power against
which he had worked out his great campaigns and won such
magnificent victories. Sumner hoped that Spain would her-
self abolish slavery and grant self-government to the Cubans,
and he had the further reason, which was certainly a good
one, that he did not wish our standing in the case of the
Alabama claims against England to be weakened by a hasty
recognition of insurgents in Cuba. In one of their interviews
Grant asked Sumner how it would do to issue a proclamation
with regard to Cuba identical with that issue® by Spain with
regard to us?

“T advised against it,” wrote Sumner to Motley. “He is
very confident that the Cubans will succeed. On the same
day I had a call from two Cubans — one of whom was Aldama,
the richest man of the island and an old friend of mine — who
had come to solicit the concession of belligerency, saying that
with it success was certain, and that without it the island would
become a desert. T gave them no encouragement.”

Hamilton Fish, Secretary of State, was very close to Sum-
ner, and Sumner’s will dominated. But for him, doubtless,
Grant wonld have done his utmost to concede the right of bel-
ligerency and the Cubans might have been successful. Spain,
with her own wars and that in the island on hand, could hardly
have gone to war with us at the time, and belligerent rights
would have enabled the Cubans to better secure arms, and,
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whereas, we were bound to intercept, if possible, all expeditions
with supplies and arms fitted out in our ports for Cuba, Spain
was freely buying both ships and supplies from us.

The manner in which Spain repaid us.for this considera-
tion of her interests may be seen from the decree of the Cap-
tain-General of Cuba, a copy of which arrived at the state
department in April, 1869. One portion of this decree was
as follows:

** Vessels which may be captured in Spanish waters or on the high
seas near to the island, having on board men, arms, and munitions or
effects that can in any manner contribute, promote, or foment the insur-
rection in this province, whatsoever their derivation or destination, after
examinuation of their papers and register shall be de facto considered as
enemies of the integrity of our territory and treated as pirates, in accord-
ance with the ordinances of the navy.

‘« All persons captured in such vessels, without regard to their num-
ber, will be immediately executed.”

In other words, if an American citizen were caught by
Spain near the island with anything calculated to contribute
to the insurrection, he would be shot like a pirate !

Our government at once protested that this was not only
a violation of its treaty with Spain of 1795, but a violation of
the laws of nations. Secretary Fish added:

*“Under that law and treaty, the United States expect for their citi-
zens and vessels the privilege of carrying to the enemies of Spain, whether
those enemies be claimed as Spanish subjects or citizens of other countries,
subject only to the requirements of a legal blockade, all merchandise not
contraband of war. Articles contraband of war when destined for the
enemies of Spain are liable to seizure on the high seas, but the right of
seizure is limited to such articles only, and no claim for its extension to
other merchandise.or to persons not in the civil, militaty, or naval service
of the enemies of Spain will be acquiesced in by the United States.

“This government certainly cannot assent to the punishment Ly
Spanish authorities of any citizen of the United States for the exercise of
a privilege to which he may be entitled under public law and treaty.”

Almost simultaneously with the receipt of the knowledge
of this order of the Captain-General, the Spanish minister at
Washington made a complaint “ that piratical expeditions are
in preparation against the legitimate government of Spain in
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Cuba,” and requested the President to issue a proclamation to
restrain the same. The minister furnished no evidence of any
such expeditions and none really existed at that time. No
proclamation was then issued, but the regular officers of the
United States were instructed to keep a close watch for such
expeditions, and, later, several were stopped. But the ob-
jectionable decree of the Captain-General was quickly fol-
lowed by one which concerned the United States quite as
much. The course of trade and social intercourse had car-
ried many citizens of the United States into Cuba. They and
their property were subject to protection by the United States.
But the commander at Bayamo issued a proclamation to the
effect that: “ Every man, from the age of fifteen years up-
ward, found away from his habitation, who does not prove a
justified motive therefor, will be shot; every habitation un-
occupied will be burned by the troops; every habitation which
does not float a white flag, as a signal that its occupants desire
peace, will be reduced to ashes; women that are not living at
their own homes or at the house of their relatives will-collect
in the town of Jiguani or Bayamo, where maintenance will
be provided. Those who do not present themselves will be
conducted forcibly.”

Here was Spain, who would not admit that a state of war
existed in Cuba, for that would have given us ample justifica-
tion for recognition of the Cubans as belligerents, making de-
crees in Cuba just as if war existed and ordering the confisca-
tion of goods, the shooting of seamen and the destruction of
private property, whether the persons involved were citizens
of the United States or not. Meanwhile, she was obtaining
ships and other supplies from us. She was really attempting
to fight the poor Cubans under cover of the United States,
and at the same time decreeing an indiscriminate slaughter,
which might extend to our citizens and to the destruction of
their property.

Under the circumstances, it required a great amount
of sclf-control on the part of our administration to keep
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its hands off Spain’s neck. @ When Secretary Fish vigor-
ously protested, the Spanish minister endeavored to justify
the outrageous decrees by the code of instruction to our
armies in the Civil War, but the Secretary promptly re-
iterated that these instructions were issued when the country
was in a state of war, which Spain would not admit as to
Cuba; but even so, throughout the whole Civil War not
a prisoner had been shot in cold blood and not a political
crime, however grave, had been visited by capital punishment.
There were many instances in which the property and rights
of American citizens who had no connection with the insur-
rection in Cuba were interfered with, and although Spain
made many promises, restitution was being continually post-
poned on various pretexts, which our government did not con-
sider as evidences of good faith.

The Spanish minister kept complaining to the State De-
partment of alleged expeditions which were being fitted out
for the insurgents, but when the United States officers caught
the suspected parties, Spain could bring forth no evidence.
“The characteristics of vagueness, indefiniteness, and absolute
uncertainty,” wrote Secretary Fish, “ have marked all the in-
formation furnished or proposed to be furnished by Spanish
agents, attorneys, or counsel, since the outbreak of the insur-
rection, as a foundation for proceedings at law against the
parties complained of.” In the case of most of the expeditions
which were intercepted, the United States gathered the in-
formation through the vigilance of its own officers, the Span-
ish agents furnishing none till after the expeditions had been
captured and broken up. Yet Spain was continually com-
plaining of our lack of diligence! and she harshly blamed our
government for prolonging a war which her best generals were
unable to put down.

On the 4th of October, 1870, there sailed from the port of
New York the steamer Virginius, which had been built in
England for use as a blockade runner during the civil war, and
which, having been captured, had been brought to the navy
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yard at Washington. There she had been purchased at
auction by one John F. Patterson, who had taken her to New
York and made oath that he was a citizen of the United States,
and the sole owner of the vessel. Her custom house bond was
in the regular form, there was nothing in her manifest or
papers or in the circumstances connected with her departure
from New York to attract attention or excite suspicion, and
she left, like any of the other hundred vessels leaving the same
week, without attracting the attention of the Spanish consul or
of the officers of the United States. Her ostensible destina-
tion was Curagoa, in the Dutch West Indies, and it appears
that she went there. For three years, indced, she cruised
about the Caribbean Sea, recognized as a vessel of the United
States at different ports. The watchful Spanish minister, in
a communication to our government several months after the
Virginius had sailed, enumerated several vessels of which he
thought he had cause to complain, but he made no mention of
the Virginius.

But, while it was not known then, it afterwards appeared
that the vessel was in the service of the insurgents. Captain
I'ry was strongly advised by some of his friends not to take the
risk of the venture of landing arms on the island, but he re-
plied that it was easy enough to run around the Spaniards,
and he considered it a righteous thing to work for the patriots.
“ At any rate,” he said, “ the whole question is one of bread for .
my family.”

On the 23d of October, 1873, or more than three years
after she left New York, she regularly cleared from the port of
Kingston, Jamaica, for Puerto Limén, Costa Rica. It was
the intention of the expeditionists on board to sail direct for
the coast of Cuba, but a slight damage to the machinery
obliged the vessel to put in at a port of Haiti. This she shortly
left, and, after touching at other ports on the same island, the
captain concluded on the 30th to attempt a landing on Cuba.

On this day the Spanish consul at Kingston, having heard
of suspicions against the Virginius, advised the governor at
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Santiago that the vessel had recently been seen between
Jamaica and Cuba. The Spanish cruiser Tornade bad that
very morning arrived at Santiago, and Governor Burriel at
once communicated his information to the commander, who
set out to find the alleged filibuster. Oun the following day
the Zvrnado, which was proceeding under sail while work was
being done on her engines, came in sight of the Virginius cruis-
ing close to the Cuban coast. All possible steam was at once
put on the ZTornado, and she was soon running for the Vir-
ginius with fourteen-knot speed, while Captain Fry, discover-
ing his peril, headed at once for Jamaica. Unfortunately for
him, the supply of coal was short and he was soon obliged to
burn petroleum, then grease, and fat of any kind; even hams
had to be thrown in to keep up steam for speed.

When night closed in both vessels were running at their
best, and were in the same relative position, though the Tor-
nado seemed to be gaining. It was one of those clear nights
when the full moon falling on the Caribbean makes objects
visible for long distances, and the Virginius was easily kept in
sight, especially as the greasy combustibles which she was
using caused a thick black smoke to pour continuously from
her funnel. Captain Fry saw that he was falling behind in
the race and that he might not be able to reach neutral waters
in time, and so, to lighten his vessel, horses, cannon, and cascs
of arms were thrown overboard. Tt was said afterwards that
fully two thousand Remington rifles, a mitrailleuse, and much
powder was thrown into the sea to facilitate the flight. But
it did not avail.

Although the coast of Jamaica was but a few leagues away,
the Tornado had come within range, and three shots flew over
the Virginius, then a shell burst near by, bringing the fugitive
to. She was boarded by the Spanish officers and crew, who
hauled down her American flag and run up the Spanish en-
sign. The captain showed his papers and the Spaniards ap-
propriated them. At midnight they turned about for San-
tiago. "
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The Tornado and her prize were welcomed at the port
November 1st by a great crowd of people. The authorities,
both civil and military, immediately visited Governor Burriel
to felicitate him upon the news, and that evening the governor
gave a brilliant reception; the palace was illuminated, the
vessels were surrounded by boats filled with bands of music
and cheering Volunteers, who made coarse jeers at “the
Yankees.” The festivities were continued late into the night.
The next day a court-martial was held on the Zorrado, and all
but four of the prisoners were sent to jail with an escort fol-
lowed by a great rabble of the people cheering and jeering.

The Virginius had in all .155 persons on board, most of
them of Spanish extraction, but the names of at least forty-five
indicated that they were either citizens of the United States
or of Great Britain. The four upon whom sentence was im-
mediately passed were three Cubans, including General
Verona and a brother of the insurgent leader Céspedes, and
one American named Ryan. Their execution was fixed for
the 4th, and on that day they were marched to a place made
famous by the number of executions there. The whole Span-
ish population of Santiago followed and witnessed the act with
great rejoicing. The men were shot in the usual manner,
kneeling close to the slaughter-house wall. Two of them
were killed at the first shot, but the other two had not been

-mercifully hit, and a Spanish officer walked up and ran his
sword through their hearts. Then the crowd ran in and
picked up the bodies, still warm with life, severed the heads,
placed them upon pikes, and marched about the city.

Just before the execution an interesting incident took
place. There were in Santiago fifteen Spanish officers who
at one time had been captured by General Verona, and gen-
erously released. They pleaded with the authorities that this
act should entitle him to mercy, but no heed was given the ap-
peal. The Spaniards demanded blood, they had had a taste
and they demanded more.

As the Virginius had cleared as an American vessel'and dis-
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played the American colors she at least had an apparent claim
to protection until it should be proven otherwise, and at least
the American and British citizens on board were entitled to the
opportunity of acting with the consuls of their countries in the
defense of any rights which they might have. Our vice-
consul at Santiago, Mr. E. G. Schmitt, therefore, had promptly
demanded access to the prisoners, but the provineial governor
replied discourteously and to the effect that it was none of the
American consul’s business, as the prisoners were all pirates
and would be treated as such. Mr. Schmitt was even refused
the use of the marine cable to communicate with the United
States consul at Kingston, where the Virginius had cleared.
Our consul protested, and meanwhile the form of & court-
martial was gone through with, and the three Cubans and one
American were shot. On the same day the consul received
areply from the governor, from which the following extract,
indicating the character of the Spanish disposition and
methods, is made:

‘I have received your communications, one dated the 2d inst., and
the remaining two the 8d ipst.; the first inquiring if it was true that a
telegram had been detained by my orders which you had addressed to the
United States consul in Kingston, Jamaica, asking information as to the
nationality of the steamer Virginius seized on the high seas as a pirate by
the Spanish cruiser Tornado. In my desire to correspond duly to the
exquisite zeal which you show in this matter, I would have replied at once
to your communication, but, as I received it precisely at the moment of
important and peremptory affairs, to which I had to devote myself ex-
clusively ; and further, as the past two days were holidays, upon which
the officials do not come to the offices, being engaged as well as everyone
else in meditation of the divine mysteries of All Saints and the com-
memoration of All Souls’ day, as prescribed by' our holy religion ; it was
impossible for me unti} early this morning to comply to your wishes. . . .

** Neither could 1 foresee your desire to repair with such haste to the
jail where the prisoners were incarcerated ; much less that you desired to
do so, showing an officiousness so marked, when you had received from
none of them any remonstrance whatever, which they would have made
at once through my conduct if their conscience had permitted them to even
suppose that they were innocent and worthy of the protection of your
vice-consulate, undoubtedly impelled thereto on this occasion for unknown
and suspicious purposes. . .



168 REPLY OF THE UNITED STATES CONSUL

*‘8uch conduct, especially after you were advised by the flscal that
Mr. O’'Ryan was an Englishman, obliges me to apply to the government
and propose that your exequatur to perform the duties of your vice-
consulate be withdrawn, as an officer who addresses protests so slightly
founded, and who after that attempts to surprise the intention of the
Spanish authorities, accustomed to act with the rectitude and loyalty
known to all, cannot help compromising the honor of the country he
represents.”

Having written this reply, the governor seems to have pro-
ceeded to the execution of a few prisoners, and the pretended
trial of others. Our consul bore himself with dlgmty and
honor. In his reply he said:

<] should have been the last person to disturb the important duties
of your Excellency, and the religious meditations which your Excellency's
subordinates were indulging in, had it not been that I consider the case a
pressing one and imagined that, where there was sufficient time to censure
and detain my telegram, there might have been also time for a few lines
of explanation, with the additional motive of my second dispatch, that I
observed that the circumstances which your Excelleney enumerates were
no hindrance to the despatch of other business connected with the
steamer.

I shall therefore abstain from saying anything further on this point,
than that it seems to me, considering that the Virginius was flying the
United States flag at the time of her capture, that she claimed to be a
United States merchant steamer, and her papers as such were surrendered
by her captain to the boarding officer of the steamer Tornado, it would
have been a delicate attention on the part of your Excellency to have in-
formed me thereof, and that the use of such flag and papers was an abuse
of the gooduness of the country which I represent, in order that I mlcht
have brought the same to the notice of my government. .

““ Finally, I note your Excellency’s intention to apply for the revoca-
tion of my exequatur, and while ignorant of any cause given therefor, I
can only assure your Excellency that my conscience being perfectly clear
in the question, and having acted honorably, and as I consider for the
best, the result of your Excellency’s application is to me a matter of
profound indifference.”

On the 6th there were further court-martial proceedings
and thirty-seven more were sentenced to be shot the next
morning, including Captain Joseph Fry, the commander of
the vessel. Of this man’s indomitable courage in the face of
death, and his intense affection for those for whose sakes chiefly
he had undertaken this hazardous adventure, the pathetic let-
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ter written to his wife the night before his execution bears
sufficient testimony.
Ox Boawp THE SBpANISH MAN-OF-WAR “ TorNADO.”

SanTiAGo DE CuBa, November 6, 78.

‘“ Dear, dear Dita — When I left you I had no idea that we should
never meet again in this world ; but it seems strange t» me that I should
to-night, and on Anne’s birthday, be calmly seated on a besautiful moon-
light night in & most beautiful bay in Cuba, to take my last leave of you,
my own dear sweet wife! And with the thought of your own bitter
anguish — my only regret at leaving.

*“I have been tried to-day, and the President of the Court Martial
asked the favor of embracing me at parting, and clasped me to his heart.
I bave shaken hands with each of my judges, and the secretary of the
court and the interpreter have promised me as a special favor to attend
my execution, which will, I am told, be within a few hours after my
sentence Is pronounced.

I am told my death will be painless. In short, I have had a very
cheerful and pleasant chat about my funeral, to which I shall go a few
hours from now ; how soon I cannot say yet. It is curious to see how I
made friends. Poor Bambetta® pronounced me a gentleman, and he was
the brightest and bravest creature I ever saw.

*‘ The priest who gave me communion on board this morning put a
double scapular around my neck, and a medal which he intends to wear
himself. A young Spanish officer brought me a bright new silk badge
with the Blessed Virgin stamped upon it, to wear to my execution for him,
and a handsome cross in some fair lady’'s handiwork. They are to be kept
as relics of me. Hc embraced me affectionately in his room with tears in
his eyes.

** Dear Sweetheart, you will be able to bear it for my sake, for I will
be with you if God permits. Although I know my hours are short and
few, I am not sad. I shall be with you right soon, dear Dita, and you
will not be afraid of me. Pray for me, and I will pray with you. There
is to be a fearful sacrifice of life, as I think, from the Virginius, and, as I
think a needless one, as the poor people are unconcious of crime, and even
of their fate up to now. I hope God will forgive me if I am to blame
for it.

‘“If you write to President Grant, he will probably order my pay,
due when I resigned, to be paid to you after ny death. People will be
kinder to you now, dear Dita; at least, I hope so. Do not dread death
when it comes to you. It will be God’s angel of rest,— remember this.
I hope my children will forget their father’s harshness and remember his
love and anxiety for them. May they practice regularly their religion and
pray for him always. Tell ————— the last act of my life will be a pub-
lic profession of my faith and hope in Him of whom we need not be

* A Cuban rebel general, passcuger on the Virg.rius.
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ashamed; and it is not honest to withhold that public acknowledgment from
any false. modesty or timidity. May God bless and save us all! Sweet,
dear, dear Dita, we will soon meet again. Till then, adieu for the last
time.” Your devoted husband,

JoserH Fry.

The next morning, with thirty-six others, he was executed.
The next day twelve more shared his fate, and probably all the
remaining 102 would have been shot but for a sudden interrup-
tion. The intercst of the British and French consuls and of
the authorities in Jamaica had been aroused, for some of the
prisoners were British subjects. The British sloop of war
Niobe, commanded by Sir Lambton Lorraine, left Kingston on
the 6th, and on the 8th came flying into Santiago harbor.
The commander hastened to land, and at once demanded that
the massacre be stopped.

“ But Sefior,” protested the commanding Spanish officer,
“what affair is it of yours? There are no countrymen of yours
among them. They are all dogs of Americans.”

“ Tt makes no difference,” replied the gallant captain. “I
forbid you to put another one of these men to death.”

“ But, Sefior,” returned the Spaniard, haughtily, “ permit
me to remark that I take my orders from the Captain-General,
and not from you.”

“ Permit me also to remark,” replied the captain, “ that
the Niobe is lying in this harbor, with her guns double-shotted,
and I am her commander. And, so help me God! if you so
much as harm a hair on the head of another one of those
prisoners, I will lay your town in ruins.” And he went back
to his ship.

The Spaniard looked at the N wbe, saw the big black
muzzles of her guns trained squarely upon the city, and —
there were no more Virginius prisoners massacred in Santiago.

A few days later a United States man-of-war reached the
port and then began the negotiations during which the United
States government was brought to the point of ceasing all
further temporizing and declaring war.
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General Daniel E. Sickles, our minister at Madrid, on
the 6th, or the day before Captain Fry’s execution,
and he hastened to call at the Ministry of State. Spain had
meanwhile become a republic, under President Castelar,
whom Sickles saw in the evening. Concerning the interview
he wrote: “President Castelar received these observations
with his usual kindness and told me confidentially that, at
seven o’clock in the morning, as soon as he read the telegram
from Cuba, and without reference to any international ques-
tion, for that, indeed, had not occurred to him, he at once sent
a message to the Captain-General admonishing him that the
death penalty must not be imposed upon any non-combatant
without the previous approval of the Cortes, nor upon any per-
son taken in arms against the government without the sanction
of the executive.” '
As not infrequently happens in Spanish diplomacy, this
(11)

THE first intimation of what was taking place reached
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order failed to get further than Havana, at least, in time to do
any good. There were two telegraphic lines between Havana
and Santiago, one by the coast and one overland. One of them
had been out of repair for some time. Significantly erough,
the other failed to work the day that the Virginius was brought
into port, though it suddenly resumed operations in perfect
working order as soon as the Niobe came into port. Public
feeling was running high in Spain. The press, violent and
abusive, advised the government to order General Sickles out
of Spain. One night a mob collected to attack and sack the
legation, but the authorities interfered. Meanwhile the
Spanish in Cuba were threatening all Americans, and in
Havana they gave a great féte and bullfight in honor of Gov-
ernor Burriel, who had ordered the outrage.

General Sickles pressed his remonstrances insistently, and
Carvajal, the Spanish Minister of State, thereupon began to
couch his replies in the rather insolent language adopted by
the governor of Santiago, while Sickles retorted with some
very sharp but thoroughly dignified communications. He
had been instructed by the Secretary of State to protest most
solemnly against the barbarities perpetrated at Santiago, and
in communicating with the Spanish government adopted as
near as could be the words of the instructions from Washing-
ton. To this Carvajal made an exceedingly ill-tempered reply
in which he used the expression: “ The protest being thus re-
jected with serene energy.” General Sickles, after restating
the case firmly and correcting some misconceptions, concluded
his reply by saying: “ And if at last under the good auspices
of Mr. Carvajal, with the aid of that serenity which is un-
moved by slaughter and that energy that rejects the voice of
humanity, which even the humblest may utter and the most
powerful cannot hush, this government is successful in re-
storing order and peace and liberty where hitherto, and now,
all is tumult and conflict and despotism, the fame of this
achievement, not confined to Spain, will reach the continents
beyond the seas and gladden the hearts of millions who believe
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that the New World discovered by Columbus is the home of
freemen and not of slaves.” Secretary Fish used strong ex-
pressions in his instructions to Sickles. Mere condemnation,
disavowal, and depreciation of the act would not, he said, be
accepted by the world as sufficient to relieve Spain from par-
ticipation in a just responsibility for the outrage. There
must -be punishment of those concerned.

Unable to make any headway in bringing the Spanish
government to some agreement as to the settlement of the
question, Secretary Fish cabled Sickles to make formal de-
mands. If these were not complied with within twelve days
he should leave Madrid. General Sickles did so, and, obtain-
ing no satisfactory response, on the 26th of November he
asked for his passports. Spanish bravado at once withered.
Carvajal within a few hours sent a note, conceding upon some
conditions the demands of the United States that the Virginiue
and the survivors should be given up, the perpetrators of the
massacre tried and punished, and the flag of the United States
saluted. One condition was that a salute of the flag should
not be deemed essential if the Spanish government could bring
forward suflicient proofs that the Virginius had no right to
fly the American flag. A conference was held at Washing-
ton between the Secretary of State and the Spanish minister,
Don José Polo, and the arrangements were completed.
Meanwhile the antecedents of the Virginius were inquired
into and it was proved beyond the shadow of a doubt that she
had no right to carry the American flag. Patterson was not
the legal owner of the vessel, the money for her purchase hav-
ing been furnished by a junta of Cuban sympathizers; her
registry, therefore, had been obtained by perjury. This did
away with the necessity of Spain’s saluting our flag and made
it incumbent upon the United States to prosecute the proper
persons for violation of navigation laws. The Virginius and
her survivors were surrendered to the authorities of the United
States on December 15th, and while being conveyed to the ap-
pointed port she was lost in a storm off Cape Fear.
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Then followed a long correspondence over conflicting
claims, Spain setting up many counter claims for alleged in-
jury done to Spain by filibustering expeditions. An extract
from a long letter by Iamilton Fish, Secretary of State, to
Admiral Polo, dated April 18, 1874, will show the feelings of
the administration. After reviewing the whole case, Mr.
Fish concluded in these words: '

“For five years the policy of repression, of confiscation, of summary
execution of political prisoners, of refusal of reforms, of denial of self-
government, of maintenance of slavery, in short, the policy of violence and
force, has held sway in Cuba. It is understood that the insurrection calls
to-day for as many troops to keep it in restraint as were necessary in 1869.

“During these five years this government has watched events in
Cuba, perhaps, not always patiently, but certainly always impartially. It
has seen vessels sailing under its flag intercepted on the high seas and car-
ried into Spanish ports. It has seen the property of its citizens embargoed
and their revenues sequestrated, and when it has complained it has been
met by promises of restoration; but the official assurances of Spain in that
respect have in most cases not been complied with. It has seen its citizens
condemned to death under the form of military law and executed in viola-
tion of the treaty obligations of Spain. It has seen other citizens of the
United States mobbed in the streets of Havana for no other reason than
that they were citizens of the United States, or the accidental circum-
stance of the color of the dress. It has stretched its powers and inter-
ferred with the liberties of its citizens in order to fulflll all its duties as a
sovereign nation toward the power which in Cuba was tolerating the evil
influences of reaction and of slavery and of the ‘deplorable and pertinacious
tradition of despotism’ referred to by the minister of transmarine affairs, all
of which made the things complained of possible. It has refrained from
the assertion of its rights under the hope, derived from the constant assur-
ances from the government of Spain, that liberty and self-government would
be accorded to Cuba, that African slavery would be driven out from its
last resting place in Christendom, and that the instruments of the Casino
Espafiol would be restrained in their violence and made to obey law and
to respect the treaty obligations of Spain.

* But while so doing it expected and still confidently expects the
time not to be far distant when Spain will make reparation for the wrongs
which have thus been inflicted upon their citizens.”

While those who considered it wise to refrain from a
recognition of the belligerency of the Cubans were thus
strongly impressed by the conduet of the Spanish government,
it may be imagined that among the mass of the people, sym-
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pathizing as they did with the Cubans in their hard struggle
for freedom, the bitterness towards the Spaniards was great
and the excitement caused by the Virginius affair intense.
Soon after the outrage there was a great public meeting at
Steinway Hall. - William M. Evarts, the leader of the New
York bar, and soon to be Secretary of State, was in the chair
and made a strong speech in behalf of free Cuba. Senator
Sumner had been invited to be one of the speakers, but he de-
clined, and instead sent a letter in a spirit directly opposed
to that of the meeting, insisting on a considerate treatment
of the Spanish republic and discountenancing the belligerent
preparations then underway in the navy yard. President
Grant fully anticipated war, and with his thorough knowledge
of military affairs perfected plans for attacking Spain. But
Sumner’s policy prevailed with the administration, and it con-
tinued to tolerate the repeated promises and shifting tacties
of the Spanish government. Meanwhile, the claims of Ameri-
can citizens for spoliation in Cuba continued to accumulate.
General Sickles was so impatient under the temporizing policy
of his government that he resigned, and he was succeeded
early in 1874 by Caleb Cushing.

A number of British subjects had been among those exe-
cuted from the Virginius, and Great Britain, also wearied

with delay, early in 1874 insisted upon a decisive answer as.

to indemnity, and with her Spain hastened to settle. As the
claims for executed citizens of the United States rested prac-
tically upon the same basis, late the same year our govern-
ment, after much difficulty, reached a settlement. Consider-
able sums were eventually paid by Spain to the families of the
American and British citizens, but the governor who ordered
the executions was never punished. Secretary Fish de-
manded that that part of the treaty should be carried out, but
Spain calmly replied that it considered Governor Burriel’s
conduct justified, and he was even promoted from the rank of
brigadier to major-general. The United States swallowed the
insult out of love for peace.
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While England and the United States were urging to a
speedy conclusion the Virginius claims, the weak Spanish re-
public, from which Sumner and others inthis country had
looked for great results, fell, and the Bourbons returned to the
throne in Alfonso XII. But it seemed to make no difference
with Cuban politics. The war dragged on, as related in a
previous chapter, and late in 1875, when the end seemed as
far off as ever and property of American citizens in Cuba was
going up in smoke, the administration began to feel that
patience had at last ceased to be a virtue.

On the 5th of November, 1875, Secretary Fish addressed
a note to our minister at Madrid, in which he reviewed the
question and practically stated that the United States had
come to the conclusion that the state of things in Cuba must
cease. “Our relations with Spain,” he said, “are in that
critical position that another seizure similar to that of the
Virginius, other executions of citizens of the United States in
Cuba, other wrongs of a less objectionable character even than
many which have been already suffered by our citizens with
simple remonstrance, or possibly some new act of exceptional
severity in Cuba, may suddenly produce a feeling and excite-
ment which might force events which this government
anxiously desires to avoid. The President hopes that Spain
may spontaneously adopt measures looking to-a reconciliation
and to the speedy restoration of peace, and the organization of
a stable and satisfactory system of government in the island of
Cuba. In the absence of any prospect of a termination of the
war, or of any change in the manner in which it has been con-
ducted on either side, he feels that the time is at hand when
it may be the duty of other governments to intervene.”

The secretary restated, with clearness and force, the reasons
which had led the administration to this conclusion, and in-
structed the minister to lay them before the Spanish govern-
ment. The statement was also to be read in confidence to the
proper members of the cabinets at Paris, London, Berlin, St.
Petersburg, Vienna, and Rome, in the hope that some, if not
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all, of those governments might use their friendly powers for
pacification. Spain made another promise, a favorite method
in meeting such emergencies, and just before our Congress
met submitted to Minister Cushing certain proposals which
it was hoped might be used as a basis for a settlement of dif-
ferences. These proposals had not reached this government
by the time President Grant submitted his annual message,
but he reviewed the whole question, stated the reasons why
he had not deemed it wise to accord the Cubans belligerent
rights, and explained why he believed that the time for inter-
vention had come. As Spain was then, however, disturbed
by the Carlist wars at home, and as proposals had been sub-
mitted, he deferred any positive recommendation till the situa-
tion could be more perfectly understood.  Shortly before
leaving office General Grant proposed to European powers
a joint intervention, but soon other matters began to absorb
public attention. As a result of the conference between Min-
ister Cushing and Calderon, the Spanish Minister of State, a
protocol, often insisted upon during the recent Cuban war and
as often violated by Spain, was signed. It was intended to
guard against any repetition of the Virginius affair and
secure to American citizens 2 civil trial on the charge of sedi-
tion or conspiracy, except when taken in arms, and even in
that case they were to be allowed attorneys and make their
defense in public trial. Spain agreed to command the
strictest observance of the terms of this protocol in all her
dominions, especially in Cuba. It was dated January 12,
1877. During 1877 the three sailing vessels, Ellen Rizpah,
Rising Sun, and Edward Lee, while pursuing their legiti-
mate business under the American flag ontside of Cuban
waters, were fired upon, captured, and detained for days
under circumstances of peculiar hardship and brutality. The
United States government, under President IHayes, carefully
investigated the cases and asked an aggregate indemnity of
$19.500, but agam giving Spain all the consideration possible,
the sum was ﬁnal]y compromised for ten thousand dollars.
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After the Carlist war the Spanish government sent out General
Campos with the results already related. Thus was our inter-
vention at that time avoided by the promises made by Spain,
promises, the fulfillment of which the treaty of Zanjon seemed
to speedily assure.

But the promise proved hollow and, indeed, in the first
instance was not kept. Upon the pacification of the island,
the rebels having laid down their arms according to agreement,
General Campos, evidently intending that the promise should
be kept in good faith, returned to Madrid and submitted the
plans for reforms in Cuba before the cabinet of Canovas, who
at once declared his unwillingness to lay them before the Cortes
with his recommendation, saying that that body would feel and
always feel that Spanish honor required the complete sub-
jection of Cuba. General Campos insisted that he had made
this agreement with the rebels in good faith, that, trusting in
it they had laid down their arms, and that it must be sub- -
mitted to the Cortes. Canovas replied that in that case Cam-
pos must do it on his own responsibility. This and other
causes led to the resignation of the Canovas ministry, and
Campos, as the leader of the Liberals, formed a cabinet, but
his ministers could not be made to agree to the Cuban agree-
ment, and so Campos quickly resigned. An act was passed,
however, in January, 1879, whereby Cuba was to have repre-
sentation in the Cortes. Under this the province of Havana
should send three senators to Madrid and each of the other
provinces two. The archbishopric of Santiago should send
one, the University of Havana one, and the Society of the
Friends in the Country one. Thirty deputies, allotted accord-
ing to population, were to be sent to the House of Deputies.
They were to be elected by ballot in the ratio of one deputy to
each 50,000 inhabitants. But the peninsulars practically
controlled the elections and more than three-fourths of the
deputies proved to be natives of Spain, so that the Cubans
really gained no voice even in the small representation tem-
porarily allowed them.
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The Campos ministry fell in December, 1879, Canovas
resumed the reins of government, and the promises made con-
cerning reform in Cuban government were practically ignored.
Spanish methods in Cuba continued very much as they had for
years. The bitter hatred between the insulars and peninsu-
lars was only intensified. The island of Cuba had been laid
waste, thousands of the sons of Spain had found their graves,
millions of money had been spent, and still Spain had not
learned the lesson. The Cuban was still oppressed and waited
only for the next opportunity to take up arms.

The loss of life and treasure in this war was enormous.
Two years before its close, in a debate on Cuban affairs in the
Cortes, it was said that Spain had up to that time sent 145,000
men and her best commanders to Cuba. The number in the
field in the last year of the war was given as 81,700, while
the records of the Madrid War Office show that over 73,000
of the land forces had been lost. The minimum total of
Spanish soldiers who fell in Cuba must have been, therefore,
nearly 160,000, for of those who had gone out not enough ever
came back to make a full regiment. Adding to this total of
Spanish forces the Volunteers, about 80,000 in number, the
Captain-General must have had at his disposal, from the be-
ginning to the end of the war, over 230,000 men. Thousands
fell victims to the guerrilla tacties of the Cubans, but more died
of fever and other diseases incident to the climate and changud
conditions of diet. The young men who were conscripted and
sent to Cuba were thoroughly unfitted for campaigning in
such a country, and discipline was so strict in the army that
many of them deserted to the rebels rather than suffer hard-
ships in camp only to be killed in some Cuban ambuscade.
The loss of the Cubans has never been known, for no account
was kept. It was small compared with that of the Spaniards,
for the army was small and scattered in little bands. The loss
has been estimated at 50,000 for the ten years, but this is
probably an exaggeration.

The cost of the war to Spain was about $300,000,000, and
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certainly not less than that was lost in Cuba from the destruc-
tion of property and the loss of comerce and trade.

In the years succeeding the war some reforms were made,
though the nature of the government did not improve; in-
deed, as will appear later, tyranny was increased under the
cloak of concessions. The one step in advance was the aboli-
tion of slavery. DBack in 1870, at the beginning of the pro-
visional Spanish republie, the Cortes had passed what was
known as the Moret Bill, by which freedom was decreed to
every child born of a slave mother after July 4th of that year;
also to such slaves as had helped or would lelp the Spanish
against the insurgents. DBut the Spanish forces derived little
help from this source, for the Volunteers were so opposed to it
that they prevented its publication in Cuba for two years, and
it practically remained a dead letter till after the war, when
it was enforced by the Liberal Ministry. Under the sameYaw
freedom was to be given to every slave when ’becoming sixty
years of age. In January, 1880, as a partial concession of the
Zanjon treaty, a further measure was passed, providing for
the gradual extinetion of slaves, so that in 1887 the institution
practically ceased to exist. The slavelolders, realizing that
it must come, made little objection, but gradually adapted
themselves to the new conditions.

During the sixteen vears from the close of the ten-years
war to 1895, ("uba, if not in a state of insurrection, was sel-
dom quiet. When the people saw that they had been again
deceived, it was difficult for them to restrain their disposition
torevolt. But a general rising was out. of the question so soon
after the long struggle, for they had laid down their arms and
the Spaniards hiad taken them. There were several local and
spasmodic uprisings in the eastern province, however, gener-
ally because of some fresh outrage. In some cases Cubans
who had shortly before laid down their arms wounld mysteri-
ously disappear. 'This was the cause of an uprising in 1879 in
Tunas de Bayamo. One of the outrages following the war
was the strangling of General Arcadio Vidal in September,
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1879. He resided at Mayari, in the province of Santiago de
Cuba, under a solemn assurance of the commander-in-chief of
that region that he would not be molested. During one of
the local uprisings, or shortly after, he went to Nipe, and was
invited by the commander of the gunboat Alarma to take
dinner on board. Vidal went, but never returned. It was
said that he was strangled in a boat by three sailors and his
body thrown into the sea. It was asserted also that the deed
was committed in compliance of orders of the Spanish General
Polavieja. '

The exactions of the government were continually in-
treased as the industries of the island began to regain strength
after its long interruption. In 1882 came a Captain-General,
Prendergast, who was another Balmeceda. That year a form
of legalized murder was instituted. Political arrests were fre-
quent and prisoners were shot in trdnsit under the pretence
that they intended to escape. The Cubans saw everything
going from bad to worse, and again conspiracies began to
thrive. As long as they held their peace the outside world
knew little of what they were suffering, but when the next
great outbreak came, the world settled down to the conviction
that something would have to be done.

12



CHAPTER XII

CUBA AFTER THE TEN-YEARS WAR — CONDITION OF THE
PEOPLE —THE CAPTAIN-GENERAL AND HIS EXTRAOR-
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condition of the island of Cuba, just between the Ten-

Years War and the late struggle for freedom ending in
hostilities between Spain and the United States, will enable
the reader to better appreciate the reasons for the outbreak
and the real character of the patriots.

Cuba has an area a little larger than that of the State of
Virginia, but fully one-fifth of the land is either unreclaimed,
covered with forests, or unexplored. Its population in 1894
was also about that of Virginia, from which it is apparent that
the habitable portions of the island were fairly well settled.
The population at that time consisted of about 1,200,000 white
people and 500,000 blacks, among the latter being com-
monly reckoned those having one-half and even three-fourths
white blood in their veins. After 1868 the black population
decreased both relatively and absolutely, and it is now prob-

ably not more than 25 per cent. of the total population. It
(182)

! BRIEF account of the political, social, and economic
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has been estimated that of the white people of the island
about onefifth were Spanish-born: that is, peninsulars, as
distinguished from the insulars, or those born on Cuban soil.
The peninsulars were found principally in the western prov-
inces, and especially in and about Havana, where the popula-
tion is densest. According to the official census of 1887 the
population of each of the provinces and number of people per
square kilometer, or 250 acres, was as follows:

Provinces. Inhabitants. Density.
Havana, . . . . . 481,928 52.49
Matanzas, . . . . . 859,578 30.59
Santa Clara, . . . . 874,122 15.34
Pinar del Rio, . . . . 225,801 15.09
Bantiago de Cuba, . . . 278,379 1.76
Puerto Principe, . . . 67,789 2.10

The government of Cuba after 1879 showed evidences on
paper of some liberality, but the evidences were misleading.
The head was still the Captain-General, appointed by the
crown usually for a term of from three to five years, and who
was tpso facto the Governor-General. In his military
capacity, which was not easily distinguished from his civil
capacity, he had an army during peace of from 13,000 to
20,000 men sent from Spain and maintained out of the Cuban
budget. He was assisted by a sub-Inspector-General, who was
also governor of Havana, but in time of disturbances the mili-
tary divisions were rearranged to suit the emergency. Not-
withstanding all the alleged reforms granted after the treaty of
Zanjon, the Goverhor-General practically retained all the
powers granted him in 1825 by Ferdinand, powers which pos-
sessed all the absolute qualities of the Turkish Sultan without
the restrictions imposed by the exigencies of European politics.

The Governor-General was assisted by a Council of Ad-

ministration, which was charged with the duty of preparing ,

the budget and estimating expenditures for submission to the
Cortes. It was the Captain-General’s duty to enforce these
acts, but he had the power to suspend them and adopt his own
course, merely notifying the home government if he thus acted
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contrary to the administrative council. There was also a body
known as the “ Council of Authorities,” which consisted of the
Archbishop of Santiago, the Bishop of Havana, the command-
ing officers of the army and navy, the chief justice of the
Supreme Court, the attorney-general, the head of the finance
‘department, and the director of the local administration.
They were called together only when the Captain-General,
usually as a matter of form, wished to consult them, and their
advice had no binding effect. These officials were all Spanish.

Each .province was in charge of a governor appointed by
the Crown, who was an officer of the army, and directly re-
sponsible to the Governor-General. There was supposed to be
in each province a representative assembly of not less than
twelve and not more than twenty members, according to the
population. They were elected for four years, and sessions
were held twice a year. Upon meeting, the assembly balloted
for three candidates for speaker, and from this list the Captain-
General appointed one, but he could disregard the names pre-
sented and appoint any other member. The provincial gov-
ernor, if he desired, might preside and vote, and if he thought
best he might prorogue the assembly and report to the Captain-
General. The governor also nominated five members of the
assembly to act as a sort of cabinet, but the Captain-General
appointed them, and the powers of this cabinet were so re-
stricted that the Cuban was never given a voice in affairs.

The Captain or Governor-General had a string tied to
everything, even the municipal government. A board of
aldermen might consist of any number from five to thirty, in-
clusive, according to population, and they elected one of their
number as mayor, but the Captain-General might substitute
any other member. The concentration of ultimate authority
was equally noticeable in the judicial system, which included
two superior courts, one sitting at Puerto Principe for the two
eastern provinces, and the other at Havana for the four western
provinces. Under these were many district and local mag-
istrates, but the Governor-General could overrule any decision
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of any court and even suspend, at discretion, any order or law
from the government at Madrid. It is unnecessary to ex- -
amine this system of government further to determine its char-
acter. The Governor-General was absolute, except in two re-
spects. He could be recalled, and he had little to say about
the management of religious affairs.

As in Spain, no other religion was tolerated but Roman
Catholicism. There were no Protestant or Jewish places of
worship, though a person could hold to either of those faiths
provided he did not promulgate views contrary to these of the
established church. The ecclesiastical government was under
the Archbishop of Santiago and the Bishop of Havana, and its
maintenance, amounting to about $400,000, was a charge
against the general revenues of the island.

Until well into the eighteenth century, or after the death
of Ferdinand, there was practically no place on the island
where a Cuban could have his children taught to read and
write, though Pope Innocent XIII., with the consent of Spain,
had established the Royal University of Havana, and the
Franciscan friars had given some instruction in their monas-
teries upon theology and philosophy. This led some of the
wealthier people of Cuba, early in the century, to send their
children to the United States to be educated, but this was op-
posed by the government and finally prohibited, though no
attempt was at once made to provide for such edueation in
Cuba. Thus many private schools were established. It was
not until 1841 that the right of the poorer classes to a primary
cducation was recognized by the government. Even then it
was brought about largely by individual efforts, country school-
houses being erected by individuals or by popular subscription
and donated to the district authorities on condition that free
schools should be maintained. The Spanish element on the
island were inclined to oppose all steps for the education of the
lower classes on the ground that it might endanger Spanish
supremacy. But in 1889 there were 720 public and 537
private schools with an average attendance of about 40,000.
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The children attending the common schools were at the ratio
of about one to forty-five of the population, or, if the students
in the universities and higher institutions are included,
those receiving instructions outside of the private schools were
one to every forty. In Spain, at the same time, the ratio was
one to nine; in the northern States of the United States, one
to four and two-tenths. By a law in 1880 education was
made compulsory in Cuba, but law had little to do with fact
when the schools did not exist.

An examination of the conditions on the island would not
be complete without a glance at the system of censorship.
Anonymous publications, however innocent, were not per-
mitted. Everything must bear the author’s name and the
place of publication, and the publication of anything offensive
toward the sovereign or his government, or having a tendency
towards a change in government, was an offense punishable
by fine and imprisonment. Very strict obligations were im-
posed upon all editors and publishers, and neglect to comply
with them was a penal offense. No publication eould be started
without due notice to the proper authority. Three copies of
every issue must be presented to the governor or the mayor,
who stamped and returned one, retained one, and sent the third
to the district attorney to examine for seditious or otherwise
objectionable matter.

All mutual benefit associations, also, were under strict
supervision. Notice must be given of any meeting, and the
governor could break it up if he wished to. The supervision
of the authorities extended into all the relations of life, and it
was necessary even for a private reception to have a permit.
Otherwise it might fall under suspicion and be the cause of
much trouble to the entertainers and their guests.

Bad as the system of government and of commercial policy
was upon paper, it was in its practical application that the
Cuban was oppressed. HMe had little understanding of the

*laws of government and of trade, but he saw concrete
results. To him the one trouble was Spanish misrule, and his
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one ambition became -“Cuba Libre.” H ™~ w that the
changes in law were not changes in fact. _..cee Td
really taken the form of new oppressions. Names, not the
things themselves, were changed. The Captain-General was
called the “ Governor-General.” The royal decrees took the
name of “authorizations.” The commercial monopoly of
Spain had been named the “ coasting trade.” The right of
banishment had been transformed into the “ law of vagrancy.”
Brutal attacks upon defenseless citizens went under the term
“compote.” The abolition of constitutional guarantees had
become the “law of public order.” Taxation without the
knowledge or consent of the taxed had been changed into the
“law of estimates,” the budget being voted by the representa-
tives of peninsular Spain. Instead of inaugurating a redeem-
ing policy which would have allayed public anxiety, and
quenched the thirst for justice felt by the people, Spain, while
lavish in promises of reform, continued its old and crafty sys-
tem, which was to exclude the Cuban from every office that
could give him any effective influence and intervention in pub-
lic affairs:

In order to render the Cuban powerless, Spain had, when
smilingly offering reforms, but to give him an electoral law so
artfully framed as to accomplish two objects — to reduce the
number of voters, and to provide a purely Spanish majority,
although the Spaniards were less than 10 per cent. of the
total population. For this purpose the electoral right was
made dependent upon the payment of a very high poll tax,
which proved the more burdensome as the war had praectically
ruined many of the Cuban proprietors. In this way the right
of suffrage was restricted to only 53,000 inhabitants; that is,
to 3 per cent. of the total number.

The electoral law was also shaped so as to afford to indus-
try, commerce, and public officials facilities to acquire the
electoral privilege to the detriment .of territorial property or
the owners of real estate. It also sanctioned fraud by pro-
viding that the simple declaration of the head of a commercial
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house was sufficjgnt to consider all its employes as partners,
having therefore the right to vote. Under this provision there
were firms with as many as thirty partners. By this scheme
alone almost all the Spanish residents in Cuba were turned
into electors. In the municipal district of Giiines, with a popu-
lation of 13,000 people, only 500 of whom were Spaniards or
Canary Islanders, the electoral list contained the names of
only thirty-two Cubans to 400 Spaniards — only a quarter of
1 per cent. of the Cubans to 80 per cent. of the Spanish popu-
lation.

But lest this should not be enough, a so-called Permanent
Commission 6f Provincial Deputations, appointed by the Gov-
ernor-General, was provided to decide every controversy as to
who was to be included in the registry lists. It is unnecessary
to say its majority was always devoted to the government. In
case any elector considered himself wronged by the decision of
the commission, he could appeal to the “ Audiencia,” or higher
court of the district, but these were almost entirely made up of
Spanish magistrates, were always subject to the authority of
the Governor-General, and mere tools in his hands.

Thus it may be easily understood why on some occasions
the Cuban representation in the Spanish Parliament was made
up of only three deputies out of the thirty allotted to the
island. In the most favorable times the number of Cuban
representatives did not exceed six in a body of 450 members.
The genuine representation of Cuba was sometimes less than
one per cent. of the members of the Spanish Congress. The
overwhelming majority of the Cuban deputation always con-
sisted of Spanish peninsulars. In this manner the ministers of
colonies, whenever they desired to give a decent appearance to
their legislative acts by an alleged majority of Cuban voters,
could always command it, for they were peninsulars, as Span-
ish as the Spanish at home.

As regards representation in the Senate, the qualifications.
were practically prohibitive to the Cubans. To take a seat
in the higher house under the law it was necessary for one to
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have been president of that body, or of Congress, or a minister
of the Crown, or a bishop, or a grandee of Spain, a lieutenant-
general, a vice-admiral, an ambassador, a” minister plenipo-
tentiary, a counselor of state, a judge or an attorney-general of
the Supreme Court or of the Court of Accounts, and so on. No
Cuban had ever been permitted to fill any of these positions,
and there were not more than two or three grandees who were
natives of Cuba. The only natives who could become senators
were those who had been deputies in three different Con-
gresses, or who had held for four years a university professor-
ship, provided that they had an income of $1,500; or those who
had a title of nobility, or had been provincial deputies or
mayors in towns of over 20,000 inhabitants, if they had in
addition an income of $4,000 or paid a direct contribution of
8800 to the treasury. There were few native Cubans who
could have met these conditions, but, even so, they could
hardly have been elected under the electoral laws. Such was
the farce of representation which Spain gave to Cuba in her
boasted reforms. The various governments in Spain legis-
lated for the island as they pleased, and often the representa-
tives of the peninsular provinces did not take the trouble to at-
tend when Cuban affairs were being discussed. There was
one instance in 1880, when the Cuban budget was considered
in the presence of less than thirty deputies and the minister of
the colonies. In 1887 there was created a council under the
minister of the colonies, but not a single Cuban was ever found
among its members.

Through similar contrivances in the law and irregularities
committed in its application, Cubans were also deprived of
representation in the provincial corporations; in many cases
they were entirely excluded from them. When, despite the
legalized obstacles and the arbitrary acts of those in power, the
Cubans succeeded in obtaining some temporary majority, the
government always succeeded in making their triumph null
and void. Only once did the home rule party obtain a ma-
jority of the provincial deputation of Havana, and then the
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Governor-General appointed from among the Spaniards a
majority of the members of the permanent comnfission. Until
that time the commission had always been of the same
political complexion as the majority of the deputation. By
similar methods the Cubans were gradually expelled from
even the municipal bodies. The majority, consisting of
Spaniards, always took good care to make the burden of taxa-
tion fall heaviest upon the Cuban proprietor, so that he really
bore a heavier taxation while enjoying less representation.
One year not a single Cuban had a seat in the “ Ayunta-
miento,” or board of aldermen of Havana, and in 1891 the
Spaniards predominated in thirty-one out of thirty-seven of
the “ Ayuntamientos ” in the province of Havana. In that
of Giiines, with a population of 12,500 Cubans, not one of
them was found among its councillors; at the same time there
were only three Cuban deputies in the provincial deputation
of Havana, two in that of Matanzas, and three in that of Santa
~ Clara, the most populous regions in the island of Cuba.

From 1878 to 1895 there was but one native Cuban acting
as governor in the province of Havana, Rodriguez Batista,
who had spent nearly all his life in Spain, where he had made
his administrative career. The predominance of Spain ex-
tended down to all the local corporations. The powers of the
deputations in the provinces were not simply restricted and
their resources scanty, but the Governor-General appointed
their presidents and members of their permanent commissions.
Ile appointed mayors who might not belong to the corpora-
tion, and the governor of the province appointed the seere-
taries. The government reserved, moreover, the right to re-
move the mayors, of replacing them, and of suspending the
councillors and the “ Ayuntamientos,” partly or in a body. It
frequently made use of this right for electoral purposes, to the
detriment always of the Cubans.
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E may now turn to observe what use Spain made of
\/ \/ her power over Cuba, and we are at once met with
the fact that Spain had had no colonial policy ex-
cept that from what she had subdued by force she sought im-
mediate riches, and these she had remorsely wrung from the
labor of the natives, even of Spanish blood. For years she had
been simply a parasite upon Cuba, and had exploited the island
through a fiscal regime, a commercial regime, an a bureau-
cratic regime. Ier thought from the beginning had been to
draw from the island all that could be squeezed out of it.
Nothing was consecrated to the development of the island.
Whatever was done was solely to replenish the exhausted
treasury of Spain and to enrich Spanish functionaries. Hav-
ing saddled Cuba with debt, and reached that point where in-
creased taxation reduces rather than increases revenue, tle
island was of little further value except to the Spanish bond-
holder and the official who came to Cuba with but one aim —
(192)
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to draw a fortune from resources which should have been de-
voted to the native population. When he had amassed all
the money he could hope to draw from his position, he invested
it, not in Cuba but in Europe, returning home to enjoy the
income he had gained at the expense of the Cuban.

‘When the Ten-Years War came to an end, two-thirds of
the island was completely ruined. The other third, the in-
. habitants of which had remained peaceful, was abundantly
productive, but it had to face the great economic change in-
volved in the impending abolition of slavery. KEvidently it
would have been a wholesome and provident policy on the part
of Spain to have lightened as much as possible the fiscal bur-
dens of a country in such a condition. But instead, Spain was
bent upon making Cuba pay the entire cost of the war. She
at once overwhelmed the colony with enormous budgets reach-
ing as high a figure as $46,000,000! And this only to cover
the obligations of the State, to fill the gulf left by the
wastefulness and plunder of the civil and military administra-
tion during the years of war, and to meet the expenses of the
military occupation of the country. TFor the first two years
after the war the budget was over $46,000,000; in 1882 it fell
to $35,000,000, and from then till 1886 it remained at about
$34,000,000. Then it dropped to $26,000,000, where it re-
mained until the outbreak of the recent insurreetion.

This reduction was not dceasioned by Spain’s desire to
diminish the burden resting upon the country, but the limit
had been exceeded. The taxes simply killed the source of rev-
enue. Before the expenditures were reduced 2 new burden
was added in the shape of an accumulating deficit. At first
the revenue was $8,000,000 short of the budget; in 1880 it
was $20,000,000 short; in 1883, $10,000,000, and although
the expenditures were reduced, the accumulated deficit had
by 1895 reached $100,000,000, which amount was, of course,
added to the already heavy debt.

The debt of Cuba was created in 1864 by the simple issue
of $3,000,000; in 1868 it had risen to $25,000,000; in 1891,
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according to a statement made by Perez Castaneda in the Span-
ish Senate, it had increased to the extraordinary sum of $175,-
000,000, and by the middle of 1895 it stood at $300,000,000!
Thus, by the time of the recent outbreak the debt of the little
island, considering its population, exceeded that of all the
other American countries, including the United States.

This enormous debt, that ground the country down and
did not permit its people to capitalize their income, or foster
ity improvements, or even to advance its industries, constituted
one of the most iniquitous fors of the Spanish spoliation. In
it were included a debt of Spain to the United States; the ex-
penses incurred by Spain when she occupied San Domingo;
those for the invasion of Mexico, and for her hostilities against
Peru; the money advanced to the Spanish treasury during the
later Carlist wars; and to cover the lavish expenditures of its
administration_ following 1868. Not a cent of this enormous
sum had been spent in Cuba in the advancement of civiliza-
tion. It had not contributed to build a single mile of high-
way or of railroads, to erect a single lighthouse nor deepen a
single port; it had not built one asylum nor opened one public
school. This heavy burden was left to future generations

- without a single compensation or benefit.

“Why must Cuba pay the debt?” asked a senator in the
Spanish Senate in 1891.  “ Are not these matteys for the pen-
insula? Certainly they are matters for the whole of Spain.”

But the debt was left on Cuba. A Madrid paper said
that same year that from 1878 to the 30th of June, 1891, the
sum of $115,336,304 had been paid for interest and redemp-
tion on the Cuban debt, and yet it had gone on increasing.
The estimates for expenditures for the fiscal year 1893-94 were
given as follows:

Interest on the public debt, . . . . 810,485,188
Salaries and expenses of the colonial mlmstry, . 155,125
Regular army, . . . . . . . . 4,128,618
Navy, . . . 1,055,136
Military and navn] pensmns and retlred pay, . . 1,746,829

Civil pensions and retired pay, e e 442,223
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Judiciary, . . . . . . . . $317.595
Religious est,nbhshment . . . . . . 885,588
Volunteers, . . . . . . . 1,768,125
Treasury department . . . . . . 708,125
Police force, . . . . 2,664,028
Executive government omlttlng pohce . . . 1,871,165
Department of the interior, . . . . . 771,125
Other expenditures, . . .- . . . . 87,636

Total, . . . . . . . . . $26,087,389

: \ :
Turning now to the other side of the account to discover
where the money was to come from, the estimates for the same
year furnish the following:

Tax on real estate, . . . . . . . $1,711,000
Import duties, . . . . . . . . 9,620,000
Export duties, . . . . . . . . 1,220,000
Port dues, . . . . . . 535,000
Ten per cent. tax on passenger fares . . . 240,000
Excise on liquors, sugar, tobacco, petroleum, . . 2,580,000
Tax on trades and professions, . . . 1,880,000
Stamp tax, including postage and telegraph . . 2,174,660
Lotteries, . . . 8,104,000
Rents and sales of pub]lc property, . . . . 899,000
All other sources, . . . . . 1,377,000

Total, . . . . . . . . . $24,640,660

If the people of the United States were taxed at the same
rate per capita for their federal expenses, it would mean
squeezing out a revenue of $1,425,000,000 a year; or, to put it
the other way, if the Cubans raised a revenue for general ex-
penses at the same rate per capila that we do for the main-
tenance of the general government, she would have been taxed
only about $9,000,000 instead of $26,000,000.

The Spanish system of taxation in Cuba had always been
analogous to the killing of the goose which laid the golden egg.
For example, there were the once famous Cobre copper mines
situated among the mountains about three leagues from the
city of Santiago. They are of such superior richness that as
much as $4,000,000 worth of ore was exported in 1841. As
late as 1867, 6,000 tons were shipped in ten months, But
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the government was not content with raising a very large sum
by the taxation of the product; it increased the excise charge
till it no longer paid to work the mines, and so they remained
practically undisturbed, yielding little or no revenue.

The budget showed that nearly 40 per cent. of the rev-
enues were expected from duties upon imports. Everything
that was imported was taxed as heavily as possible, unless it
came from Spain. Nearly every class of articles paid a much
heavier duty than was paid by the sister isle of Puerto Rico.
In very many cases the duty on imports was placed at twice
what they were for Puerto Rico. The effects of such a tax
were not only injurious to Cuba but to the United States, and
this latter fact should be considered when coming to the ques-
tion of the reasons for United States intervention. In the
vear 1890 the exports from Cuba to Spain were about
$8,000,000, to the United States over $58,000,000. The ex-
ports of Spain to Cuba were about $25,000,000, and from the
United States only about $17,000,000. Though Cuba was
close to our doors and sent us over seven times as much of her
products as she did to Spain, we could not sent to Cuba of our
products but about 70 per cent. of what Spain could send 3,000
miles across the ocean.

The Cuban budget burdened the people in the proportion
of about sixteen dollars per capifa, or about eighty-five
pesetas, while the Spaniards in Spain were taxed by the home
budget only at the rate of forty-two pesefas. The defense of
the country against its own people, the cost of the army, the
navy, the civil guard, and the guardians of public order, con-
sumed 36.59 per cent. of it. The debt consumed 40.89 per
cent. more, and this left but 22.52 per cent. for all other ex-
penditures required for civilized life and advancement. But
of this remnant but 2.75 per cent. was set aside for the future
and to develop the resources of the country. And as there was
a deficit none of this could be used.

Bent upon exploiting the island, Spain strangled that vital-
ity by which alone exploitation could continue profitable.
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The economical situation in Cuba was such that she produced
for export and imported largely of what she consumed. Wis-
dom would, therefore, have naturally suggested to Spain that
Cuba could be most prosperous when her commercial relations
were least hampered, but she adopted a contrary policy. To-
bacco and sugar were loaded with excessive imposts; the cattle-
raising industry was shackled with heavy excise duties, and the
mining industry practically ruined.

The distriet which produced the best tobacco in the world,
the famous Vuelta Abajo, lacked every means of communica-
tion by which the value of the product could have been greatly
increased. No roads, bridges, or ports were tg be found there.
And while other governments were taking steps to foster their
tobacco industry the Spanish government loaded the exporta-
tion of Cuban tobacco with an export duty of $1.80 on every
1,000 cigars. The same was true of the sugar industry. While
Spain was paying bounties for sugar produced in the penin-
sula, she exacted a heavy import duty upon all Cuban sugar,
so that a hundredweight of Cuban sugar was overburdened,
when reaching the Barcelona market, with 143 per cent. of its
value. The Cuban producer was oppressed with every kind of
exaction; the introduction of indispensable machinery was
heavily taxed, transportation was obstructed by taxes on the
railroads, a direct tax or industrial duty was exacted, and still
another, equivalent to an export duty, for loading and ship-
_ ping, while always and everywhere were the illegal exactions
of corrupt and thieving officials.

Besieged by complaints of such destructive discrimination,
Spain made great promises of reform. Cuban products were
to be admitted to the peninsula free of duty, excepting, how-
ever, tobacco, rum, sugar, cocos, and coffee, which remained
“temporarily ” burdened. Duties on the importations from
Spain to Cuba were to be gradually reduced through a period
of ten years, till, in 1892, they were to be entirely extin-
guished. But, like other Spanish reforms, this was a new
oppression1 3in a fresh disguise. The temporary duties, which
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were upon the principal and almost the only produets of the
island, were left undisturbed. Spanish products paid no
" duties in Cuba, but Cuban products paid heavy duties in Spain.

In order to present an idea of how far the monopoly of
Spain went, it will suffice to point out the fact that the duties
on many foreign articles exceeded 2,000 per cent. as compared
with those borne by Spanish produets. One hundred kilo-
grams (220 pounds) of knitted goods paid, if from Spain,
$10.95; if from a foreign country, $195. - One hundred kilo-
grams of cassimere, if a Spanish product, paid $15.47; if
foreign, $300. The evil, however great, would have been
less had Spain been a flourishing industrial country, and had
produced the principal articles required by Cuba for the con-
sumption of its people and the development of its resources.
But Spanish industries were backward, and Cubans were thus
compelled to use inferior goods or pay exorbitant prices for
foreign articles, while Spanish merchants gained further profit
by importing foreign wares into Spain, there to be naturalized
for exportation'to Cuba. This device had been in force a long
time and was one cause of the uprising of 1868.

The salaries of the various Spanish officials in Cuba were
in no way curtailed, while the perquisites and peculations con-
tinued to grow, and it was one of the most exasperating of all
the oppressions to which the Cuban was subjected. The min-
ister of colonies at Madrid was regularly assigned $96,800 for
use from the Cuban treasury. One minister took in 1892
$1,000,000 belonging to the treasury of Cuba from the vaults
of the Bank of Spain, and lent it to the Transatlantic Com-
pany, of which he was a stockholder, without any authorization
whatever. When he was threatened with prosecution he
haughtily replied that in that case all his predecessors from
every political party would have to accompany him to court.
Nothing was done. In June, 1890, the subject of Cuban de-
falcations came up in the Chamber of Deputies, and it was
openly stated that under false vouchers and fictitious bills dur-
ing the Ten-Years War, there were defalcations amounting to
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over $22,000,000. The same year General Pando affirmed
that the robberies committed through the issue of warrants by
the board of public debt exceeded the sum of $12,000,000,
and he furnished a series of other embezzlements which
footed up more than $40,000,000. An article in the Ateneo
de Madrid, early in 1895, stated that the custom house frauds
in Cuba from 1878 to that date amounted to $100,000,000.
These peculations represented but a part of the hidden venality
of the administration. Falsification of documents, bargains
with delinquent debtors, exactions of higher dues from simple
peasants, delays in judicial or other business in order to obtain
a gratuity, all combined to divert the money of the Cubans into
the pockets of the functionaries. And while these evils were
brought to light from time to time, no one was ever punished.
In 1887, General Marin eutered the custom house of Havana
with a military force, occupied it, and after investigating the
operations which had been carried on there, discharged every
official, but they were never punished, nor did they expect to
be. It has been stated that every official who went to Cuba
regularly paid some influential patron at the Court for protec-
tion. Indeed, the officials were really protected by the royal
decree of 1882, which provided that the ordinary courts could
not take cognizance of such offenses as defalcations, abstrac-
tion, and maladversion of public funds, forgery, etc., com-
mitted by the officials of the administration, unless their guilt
were first established by an administrative investigation. The
administration, therefore, became the judge of its own of-
fenses. Naturally, eorruption grew apace. Said Rafael de
Eslava in his Judicio Critico de Cuba en 1887: “ Granted
the correctness of the points I have just presented, it seems to
be self-evident that a curse is pressing ﬁpon Cuba, condemning
her to witness her own disintegration and converting her into
a prey for the operation of those swarms of vampires that are
so cruelly devouring us, deaf to the voice of conscience, if they
have any; it will not be rash to venture the assertion that Cuba
1s undone ; there is no salvation possible.”
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HE vigilance with which the officials followed persons
T suspected of entertaining plans against the Spanish
government, and the cold-blooded manner in which
political prisoners were treated, naturally led to the exile of
many of the better educated Cubans. They were scattered
through the other West Indian islands, through Europe, and
cepecially the United States. 'While as peaceful citizens they
had many opportunities to prosper in the United States, they
did not and could not forget Cuba where others of their
nationality were still suffering, and thus there were active
juntas of Cuban sympathizers everywhere. Spain was con-
tinually complaining that they menaced the peace of the
island, but their exile she alone was responsible for.
One of these exiles was José Marti, who was living at New
York. He was the son of a Spanish colonel, who had learned
to sympathize with the Cubans, and who, upon José’s birth,

threw up his commission, saying that no son of his should be
(200)
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brought up a servant of Spain. It is not surprising that with
such a father José, at the age of fourteen, should be attacking
the Spanish government in an amateur newspaper he had
established. The little paper was suppressed and the young
editor sentenced to ten years imprisonment in Havana.
Afterwards he was condemned to the chain for life, and
obliged to work with gangs of convicts under conditions which
killed strong men. The powerful influence of his family
finally secured a mitigation of his sentence to deportation to
Spain, where he was confined to the limits of the country. lle
there received a university education and began to show his
remarkable talents. DBut while the amnesty gave him his
freedom, it did not appease his indignant resentment for
Spain’s broken promises and continued oppressions in the
island of Cuba. e resolved to act. At first he went to Cen-
tral America, thence to the United States, where he was in
constant communication with the promoters of the insur-
rection of 1868, and it was not long beforc he became the
leader of the revolutionary party.

At this time there were four distinct parties in Cuba — the
Conservatives, the Progressive Reformers, the Autonomists,
and the Secessionists. The Conservatives were, in general,
uncompromising Spaniards, the enemies of all reforms, bit-
terly hostile to the idea of secession, and with an indignant dis-
belief in the possibility of Cuban emancipation. They re-
garded the Cubans as a conquered people, and maintained that
there was but one way to hold them in subjection — to treat
them with extreme harshness and to refuse pitilessly all the
ameliorations which leniency, if not foresight, might have sug-
gested. The aim of the Progressive Reformers was ultimately
to attain autonomy by successive reforms, obtained legally and
with moderation. Those Cubans who adopted this idea were
mostly those who had been allowed to take subordinate posi-
tions under the government. The more numerous Autono-
mists were reformers of a more radical type, and thev were
backed by some of the more enlightened classes in Spain, who
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had come to the opinion that the superannuated regime under
which Cuba had so long suffered must be in some way changed
or improved, The Secessionists were the great body of the
Cubans who had sickened of Spanish promises and were de-
termined upon independence or death. There could be no
active propaganda of such ideas as this, and its supporters could
have little shape as a party.

It was of this class of radical Cubans that José Marti be-
came, in 1892, the uncontested chief. He gave himself to the
interests of this party, and there was not 2 moment when he
was not devoted to the effort to realize his dream of inde-
pendence for his country. Through the United States, San
Domingo, everywhere, he traveled, preaching his holy war.
Ile was a man of charming and captivating personality, yet
with audacity and perseverance. His impassioned address;
his eloquence, at the same time exalted and simple; his hatred
of Spain, from which each day he drew some new grievance,
and his energetic and magnetic oratory gave him the aspect
of a modern Peter the Hermit, preaching a new crusade.

Marti gathered here and there a few contributions which
he sent to trusty agents in Cuba for the purchase of arms
and ammunition. But his work was often painful for one of
his nature; he met many rebuffs and disappointments, yet
when all the world ridiculed and doubted his mission, he re-
mained confident. He attracted the attention of the late
Charles A. Dana, who was an admirer of sincerity and energy,
and was quick to appreciate talent. Dana believed with Marti
that Spanish despotism in Cuba was a wrong that cried to
heaven, and therefore could not endure; he became a strong
advocate of Cuban independence, and his influence gradually
brought the cause to notice and helped to shape events.

The dreams of Marti in those days seemed so far beyond
the possibility of reality that even among the people who had
been won over to his cause by his convincing and impassioned
words, there were those who looked upon him as the vietim
of hallucinations. e had friends in Cuba who thought with
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him that the hour was fast ripening, but they were few.
There were not then more than 500 who were ready for the
word to take up arms, and nearly all of them were young men.
The old generals had not forgotten the failure of 1878, and
looked upon another effort then as rash, if not foolish. But
Marti faithfully corresponded with his few trusted friends,
and in secret nourished the spirit of revolution, while in
his hands he held the threads of the developing conspiracy.
He knew that if too many Cubans were at once concerned,
the Spanish would become alarmed and balk his efforts;
and he believed that when the standard of revolt was raised
thousands would flock to it, while those in exile would soon
find their way into the insurgent ranks. This being the pur-
pose in view, February 24, 1895, was fixed as the date for rais-
ing the cry of “ Cuba Libre! ” all over the island.

But in the latter part of 1894 there were indications that
the Spanish government proposed to make another attempt at
reform, and the secessionists feared that the Cubans might be
quieted by this pretense of progress. They thought that the
true policy for a reform would be to deal a blow impelled by
a strength rendered desperate by repeated abuse, and that the
blow should be struck while the whole country was irritated
and watchful. Encouraged by some deceptive improvement
in their condition, the mass of the people would relapse into
supineness, and in a so-called “ reformed ” Cuba there would
be no spot in which the seed of rebellion might thrive, till the
people were again undeceived. Marti, therefore, determined
to fire his mine at once, imperfect as were the preparations.

There had been for some time in Havana an ex-rebel gen-
eral, the son of French parents from San Domingo, whose
name was Lacret. He was a picturesque, gray-haired gentle-
man, who looked much like an old French general of the
second empire. He had many pieces of property on the island,
and many invested interests, but he was a secessionist, a fierce
hater of Spain, and a veteran of the Ten-Years War, in which
he had given the Spaniards no end of trouble. He had not
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been exiled, but the government kept its eyes on him, and
when he moved on to Santiago in 1894 the police shadowed
him by instructions of the governor of the province. The
ostensible reason for Lacret’s journey was to visit a tract of
property called Santana, a few miles from Santiago. In
charge of this property, either as administrator or as tenant,
Lacret kept a mulatto named Alfonzo Goulet, who was also
an ex-rebel, and had fought side by side with Lacret in the
Ten-Years War.

One day Lacret left Santiago surreptitiously and went to
Santana, where he met a handful of men who had for a long
time been under the tutelage of Goulet; in all, about fifteen
persons, armed with rifles and Remington guns. They pro-
claimed the freedom of Cuba and retired into the woods of
Santana to await developments. But almost immediately a
company of Spanish troops, about 200 strong, came filing
through the country. At about the same time Lacret re-
ceived from the revolutionary committee of New York, of
which Marti was the head, an order to postpone his attack.
Lacret had another good reason for deferring his enterprise —
an old wound in his foot reopened — and he could not walk.
It was with great difficulty that Goulet succeeded in carrying
him to the coast and getting him on board a ship. All this
passed quietly without a shot being fired. The conspirators
returned to their homes unmolested, though they were under
the vigilant eyes of the police.

Apparently, from the time of this outbreak until the revo-
lution really broke out four months later, no one believed in
the possibility of an insurrection. Many who, a few months
later, were leaders in the insurgent party, at that time spoke
in unqualified disapproval of the outbreak, and with apparent
sincerity. The disfavor with which the public received the
project of Lacret’s little band of insurrectionists contributed
much towards the relaxation of the vigilance of the govern-
ment. The Captain-General, Calleja, became less watchful,
and this favored the designs of the secessionists.
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In the last days of 1894 Sagasta laid before the Cortes his
project for reforms in Cuba. . It was adopted, but the autono-
mists and secessionists received it with outspoken antagonism,
claiming that the adoption of such deceptive measures would
suppress none of the abuses under which the island groaned.

The project to which the Spaniards later endeavored to
give much importance in order to condemn the revolution as
the work of anarchy really left intact the political régime of
('uba. It did not alter the electoral laws nor curtail the power
of the bureaucracy; it increased the power of the general gov-
ernment, and left the same burdens upon the Cuban taxpayer.
The reform was mainly confined to the changing of the coun-
cil of administration into a partially elective body. One-half
of its members was to be appointed by the government, but the
other half were to be elected by the qualified electors. The
Governor-General had still the right to veto all its resolutions,
and to suspend at will the elective members. This council
was to make up a kind of special budget, while the general
budget would, as before, be made up in Spain; the tariff laws
would be enacted by Spain, the debt, militarism, distribution
of revenues, and bureaucracy would continue to devour Cuba.
Such was the self-government which Spain promised at the
very moment when the island was over a volcano of revolu-
tion.

The immediate effect of the passage of these alleged re-
forms by the Cortes was to hurry the revolutionary party into
revolt before their organization had been completed, before
they had a fair supply of arms, and while the leaders were still
scattered in various parts of the hemisphere.

Marti chartered three vessels, the Lagonda, the Amadis,
and the Baracoa, and sailed from New York with men and
war materials in Januaryv, 1895. Arrangements had been
made for landing the recruits and arms in Santiago, Puerto
Prineipe, and Santa Clara, but the expedition was stopped at
Fernandina, Fla., by the United States authoritics, and Marti
left for San Domingo to join Maximo Gomez, who had been



206 ‘““THE KING OF CUBA”

a military leader in the former war. Meanwhile, the Cuban
secessionists clamoring for the revolution to proceed im-
mediately, the banner was raised on February 24th as had
been arranged.

The authorities were aware of the project, and martial
law was proclaimed throughout the island the day before, and
in the province of Puerto Principe a rigorous search was made
for arms and ammunition, which were confiscated. For a
similar reason the revolutionists in Pinar del Rio did not at
once respond. The rising was confined to Santiago, Santa
Clara, and Matanzas, and in the two latter provinces the
leaders and many suspected persons were quickly imprisoned.
The attempt in Matanzas was of peculiar interest because of
the person who directed it. He was known by the title
of Kl Rey di los Campos de Cuba — “ the king of the country
of Cuba.”

This king was none other than the celebrated bandit,
Manuel Garcia. His modus operandi was perfectly simple.
Placing himself at the head of a few followers, he would
present himself at the home of some rich landed proprietor,
usually a Spaniard, and make him an offer something like this:
“You will give me before the expiration of...... the sum of
....... In order to assure myself that you will comply with
my request, I shall take your wife or your son or daughter as a
hostage.” Protestations were useless; it was prudent to obey.

But justice should be done to the memory of this remark-
able bandit. He did nothing worse than many Spanish
officials were doing every day. Doubtless, Manuel Garcia
thought that if Spanish extortion from the Cubans was jus-
tifiable, so also would be a little Cuban extortion from the
Spaniards. His demands were calculated with great accuracy,
and the taxes which he levied never exceeded the actual re-
sources of the taxpayer. In this respect he was rather more
lenient than the Spanish collectors. Then, too, he always re-
turned the hostage in good condition. This line of conduct in-
dicated that he possessed a certain amount of relative honesty.
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Moreover, this king of the country was kind and charitable to
the poor. At times a price was set upon his head. Spain
mobilized against him legions of gendarmes, but he laughed at
such a display of forces, passed across their lines, and went to
and from Havana whenever his interests there demanded his
presence. It has been said that the contributions he extorted
were devoted to the use of the revolutionary committee. On
the 24th of February, with a few companions, twenty-four in
all, he raised the standard of revolt in Matanzas. For ten
vears he had lived under a shower of bullets, frustrating at
every turn the strategic movements made against him; but he
fell mortally wounded in the first engagement of his troops
with the Spaniards. TImmediately after his death his men dis-
persed, and order was restored for the time in that part of the
island.

The Governor-General on the 27th issued a proclamation
declaring the provinces of Matanzas and Santiago in a state of
siege, and fixed a period of eight days within which all who
surrendered would be pardoned. Under these conditions, one
man surrendered on the 3d of March, was brought to Havana,
and set at liberty. He was very soon after arrested on the
ground that he had bought arms for the movement, and was
subsequently court-martialed and sent in chains to the Spanish
penal colony in Ceuta, Africa. Other Cubans were too wise
to surrender themselves into such hands. The apparent
failure of the uprising and the small number of the insurgents
seemed to have deceived the Spanish officials, and there was
little alarm as Spain had at that time an army of over 19,000
regulars in addition to so many of the 50,000 volunteers as
might be called out. But the appearances of a Cuban revolu-
tion are deceitful.
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beginning the insurrectionary movement assumed a dan-

gerous importance. It was there that the revolution of
1868 had been strongest, and it was there always that the
Cuban hatred of the Spanish was most marked. By reason
of the mountainous configuration of the country it is ad-
mirably adapted for resistance, and much of its coast is dif-
ficult to protect from secret landings. The shore for mile
after mile is characterized by long reaches of lonely snow-
white beach or rugged brown rocks, and is apparently devoid
of all human habitations, while a little distance back rise
twisted hills showing evidence of former voleanic upheavals.
But beyond these hills, and within the watershed of the Rio
Cauto, are delightful valleys where nature can be enjoyed
in unstinted measure, though the comforts of civilized life
are rare. The frnits and vegetables render subsistence an
easy matter to small guerrilla bands, and the temperature is
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l T was in the province of Santiago de Cuba that from the
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uniformly genial. Roving bands can camp almost anywhere
among the hills or valleys in security; the water bubbles forth
from springs of crystal purity, and camp life is burdened with
the least amount of encumbrances. It had been ecalled the
“ Garden of Cuba,” and some of the earlier colonists were so
delighted with the region that they imagined it to be the
original garden of Eden. In the mountains along the shores
is much mineral wealth, which generally remains untouched,
while in the valleys are great plantations which, in times of
peace, are very valuable and flourishing. The principal city
is Santiago de Cuba on the south shore, situated at the head
of a landlocked bay, and from it proceeds one of the two short
railways in the great province, a distance of about twenty
miles to the town of Euramada. About forty miles to the
east of Santiago is Guantanamo, connected by a dozen miles of
railway to a small port on the Bay of Guantanamo.

In the neighborhood of Santiago two revolutionary leaders
at once sprung to eminence — Antonio Goulet, already men-
tioned in conncection with the Lacret uprising, and Pedro
Perez. In the northwestern portion of the province the move-
ment was directed by Bartholome Mas6, Jesus Rabi, Miro,
and a negro general, Moncada. Masé had been the last to
lay down his arms in 1878. He had been imprisoned for
months without trial, but had finally been allowed to return to
his estates. Having been a man of wealth and position before
the first war, he had toiled against the obstacles of Spanish
taxation until he had again brought his plantations to the point
of returning a good revenue, and it might have been supposed
that he would have hesitated to drop all he had gained for an-
other assault upon Spanish anthority. But when the call to
arms swept over the island in 1895 he at once burned his
plantation as an example to other patriots, and took the field
with all his men.

In many ways General Jesus Rabi was one of the most in-
teresting of the leaders. He was one of the very few descend-
ants of the Carib aborigines. But he was a man of strong per-
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sonality and well educated, and in the Ten-Years War had been
considered one of the bravest as well as gentlest of the Cuban
soldiers. He gave up a comfortable living to serve his country.
It has been commonly supposed that the Cuban revolutionists
were almost entirely from the poorer and the criminal classes;
that they fought because they had nothing to lose and every-
thing to gain. While in the rank and file there were many of
this class, for the leaders were glad of any men who were able-
bodied and brave, the leaders themselves were to a great extent
of the island’s aristocracy, living luxuriously upon large es-
tates. They were proud and impatient of restraint, and sel-
dom have the ablest and best-born citizens of a country strug-
gled for independence more freely, or more unanimously sac-
rificed so much for their cause. In the revolution of 1895
these men came to the front again.

But while the Cuban leaders and their men abounded in
warlike spirit, they had few of the means of warfare. The
main problem was to secure arms and ammunition. An in-
cident will show how the rebels went to work. Near Goulet
lived a French planter, Jean Antomarchi, of the family of
Dr. Antomarchi, the last physician of Napoleon 1. at St.
Helena, who afterwards settled upon a plantation in Santiago
province. Jean Antomarchi maintained a somewhat neutral
position in the insurrection, and yet was on friendly terms with
the insurgent leaders. One morning soon after the uprising,
one of Goulet’s lieutenants came to Antomarchi’s house, and,
in the name of his chief, requested his repeating rifle, remark-
ing that he would consent to allow him to retain his other
weapons, a shotgun and a revolver. Antomarchi thanked
him warmly for the generosity, but sent the remaining weapons
to Santiago for safe-kecping. Whoever had a good rifle in
those regions was compelled to give it up for Cuba Libre, unless
he took the field with it.

A Cuban insurgent seldom neglected the opportunity to
obtain a better horse than he had. If he met a man better
mounted than himself, he would politely request the stranger
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to exchange, and he always complied, no questions being asked.
The rebels recognized a certain regularity in such a proceed-
ing, but their distinctions were sometimes surprising. As an
example, Antomarchi tells the experience of a friend of his,
who owned important property in Cuba. “ About the time
the war opened,” said Antomarchi in telling the story, I met
the count one evening as I strolled about-the city.

“ ¢ Listen to what has happened to me,” said he. ‘ Toward
noon to-day, when I crossed the Plaza de Armas, I saw a horse
that looked very much like my own, but it was mounted by a
negro whom I did not recognize. The tail of the horse had
been docked, as ape only those of horses that are used in the
army. I had just noticed this when the negro, coming up to
me, asked me if I were the Count X. I answered in the af-
firmative, and he handed me this note.’

“ The count held out a slip of paper and I read the follow-
ing words: , .

“<¢Benor Count: I return your horse because it has been
brought into the ranks illegally.

(Signed) GiLArD.

“ ilard was one of the insurgent leaders in that neighbor-
hood. This is what had happened: The servant of the
Count had, without warning, left his service and joined the in-
surgent ranks, and he thought that his master’s horse, which
was a superb animal, might serve with profit in the war of the
rebellion. On his arrival in camp he had offered it to Colonel
Gilard, under whose orders he was to serve. The colonel ques-
tioned him as to the owner of the horse, and the negro con-
fessed everything, and Gilard, who was an accomplished cava-
lier despite the fact that he was a mulatto, sent back the horse
to its owner with the above note. The count entreated me to
convey his warm thanks to the chief in acknowledgment of his
amiability. A few days later, when I returned to my planta-
tion, I made haste to do the count’s errand. I knew that
Gilard was in the neighborhood of a coffee plantation called La
Felicite, which I had to pass on my route. When I reached
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La Felicite, I stopped before the dwelling house, and inquired
where 1 could find him. There were several armed men on
the veranda, and they looked at me without uttering a word.
I repeated my question, and then one of them asked, ‘ Are you
French?’ ‘Yes,’ I answered. ‘Very good. Follow this
road. It will lead you to a wood of mango trees and beyond
that to a banana plantation. Follow the same path until yon
are stopped by a sentinel.” I thanked him and turned my
horse into a path hardly a quarter of a yard wide, faintly
traced along the side of a very steep mountain. Suddenly a
challenge rang out from the crest of the mountain:

“tAlto quien ra?’ (Who goes there?)-

“T answered ¢ Cuba,” which is the countersign of the insur-
gents. I was ordered to halt, and I obeyed. Then I saw a
_ man carrying a Remington rifle coming toward me, spring-
ing from rock to rock. He saluted me, and asked what I
wanted. I told him my name and errand, and he went to in-
form his chief, who came to meet me through the shade of the
great banana leaves and the feathery shadows thrown by the
towering cocoa trees. When he came up with me he affably
invited me to go with him further on. I dismounted and
went along with him, and after a time we reached his hut, or,
rather, we went under a roof made of palm leaves which cov-
ered at the utmost no more than four square yards. This shel-
ter was without walls; there was nothing of it but the roof of
palm leaves. For furniture it had a hammock, three guns,
and two empty tin cases which served as chairs. The colonel
made some very polite excuses because he had no chair to offer
me. When we were seated upon the tin boxes I delivered my
message, and then T felicitated him on the judicious choice he
had made in staking his camp and the superiority of the mili-
tary position which he occupied. I saw almost immediately
that this man was fully convinced of the right of the cause for
which he hazarded his life, but I saw, also, that he lacked the
energy which ought to be the predominating quality of a par-
tisan. To be always in motion, to harass the enemy unceas-
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ingly, to keep him constantly on the watch, to fatigue him, to
attack isolated soldiers, to surprise sentinels; in a word, to be
forever in the breach, without rest day or night, and that in all
kinds of weather, these are the principal duties of guerrilla
warfare, and these duties the kind and loyal Gilard often for-
got in the quiet serenity of his green retreat. Dreamy and
generous by nature, he let one day follow the other without
any visible sign of war while he enjoyed the calm and the
security of his mountain fastness. But there were found later
in the ranks of the army of independence men of action who
profited by every advantage and developed a superhuman
energy and activity.”

No man unaccustomed to the peculiarities of Cuban war-
_ fare would have given much serious attention to the little
groups which located among the hills of Santiago; certainly,
few would have dreamed that in a short time the cry of “ Cuba
Libre!” would be carried in the face of Spanish soldiers to
Havana and beyond into Pinar del Rio. Goulet’s band was
typical of many others. His grade was that of lieutenant-
colonel, and with his aide-de-camp, Palacios, and about fifteen
men, he began marching over the country, procuring some re-
cruits and a few arms. They had not more than twenty guns
of all descriptions, and, what was worse, only a few hundred
cartridges, but they had set out to wrest from the proud
Spaniard the Pearl of the Antilles.

They began by an indiscriminate appropriation of all kinds
of firearms. They accepted everything, from the repeating
rifle to the old shotgun with a ramrod. Many of the men had
only revolvers, while a still greater number carried only a
knife about twenty inches long and known as the machete —
an implement which should have a place upon the coat-of-arms
of Cuba Libre, for it is one of the institutions of the island.
Tn times of peace it is used in the cane fields, and in times of
war, in the hands of mounted insurgents, it struck terror to the
hearts of Spanish youth.

Notwithstanding the apparent insignificance of the revolu-
14
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tionary movement, the government became anxious. Several
decrees had been issued fixing the time in which the rebels
might lay down their arms, and promising a pardon to those
who should return to their homes, but the insurgents paid little
attention to them, beihg too wise to put faith in a Spanish par-
don. General Lachambre was appointed by Captain-General
Calleja commander-in-chief of the Spanish forces in the prov-
ince of Santiago de Cuba, and charged with the work of re-
pressing the insurgents. With some difficulty Lachambre
gathered together about two hundred men and set out for
Guantanamo, where he showed himself in brilliant uniform,
surrounded by staff officers, but a short time afterwards he de-
parted, not even having had a glimpse of the insurgents.

A characteristic proof of the improvidence and the disorder
of the Spanish government is that when the effective forces of
the island should, for the safety of Spanish rule, have been
20,000 men, it was impossible to get together much more than
2,000 capable of efficient service. The Spanish Army List
(Anuario Militar de Espaiia) for 1896 showed what would
have been a formidable army for a territory about the size of
Virginia; formidable as it might have been if massed to mect
the enemy in open battle, the exigencies of warfare with the
Cubans required the Spanish forces to be scattered over the
island. Every little town had to be garrisoned, for the enemy
might spring up anywhere at any moment. Moreover, there
was always a large proportion of the regulars, or those who had
come from Spain, who were unacclimated and were unfit to go
into the field.

At this time Spain was characterizing the insurrection as
a species of brigandage of trifling import, but gradually it
began to be realized that it was a serious movement, rapidly
gaining strength and breadth. While affairs seemed quiet
for the time in the western provinces, it was not easy to realize
the gravity of the conditions in Santiago, where even conserva-
tive people began to clamor loudly for autonomy — a sort of
~ compromise with the new spirit of independence.
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Finally, the Spanish government resolved to act, and its
first effort illustrates so well the conditions of warfare in Cuba
and the conditions which prevailed to a great extent through-
out the whole contest that it is worth studying. One day a
column of about 250 Spanish soldiers left Santiago and began
operations from the little town of Cobre, about twenty miles
away. The object was to disperse Goulet’s little band, which
was master of the country about Botijo, where the people gen-
erally sympathized with the insurrection. It was hardly more
than a month since the insurgents had taken the field, and all
who were interested in them were somewhat alarmed when
they saw the prospect of an encounter between Goulet’s fol-
lowers and the royal troops. Warned of the approach of the
Spanish, Goulet quietly retreated into the mountains, and
then for some time he contented himself with secretly follow-
ing the enemy, waiting till he should find a propitious place
where he could give his followers the first baptism of fire.
He realized fully how important it might be not to discourage
them at the start. It was with joy, therefore, that he saw the
Spanish advancing into the interior within a labyrinth of hills
which few knew so well as he, and covered with forests and
underbrush which were well adapted for his tactics. e
pushed around and ahead to await them on the ground of an
ancient sugar-mill near Botijo. At this place the highway led
near the foot of a wooded hill of some height, the loose lime-
stone making the hill inaccessible. As soon as the Spaniards
had entered well into the ravine, the insurgents opened fire
on them. The troops, which had marched without recon-
noitering, were completely surprised by the bold attack and
answered it only with a feeble fire. The Cuban fire was also
badly aimed, though Goulet and a few of his followers aimed
with calmness and skill. Several of the Spaniards were
wounded, and the column retreated precipitately, leaving two
of their wounded on the field. They returned to Cobre,
routed, and in a condition approximating that of stragglers.

On the day following this event Goulet caused a note to
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be written to the military commandant of Santiago de Cuba,
informing him that he had picked up two wounded men
and that he would agree to return them should he, the com-
mandant, send for them. The only condition asked was that
the soldiers sent to convey their wounded comrades must come
unarmed. Goulet pledged his honor that they should come
and go unmolested. The commandant sent for his men ac-
cording to instruections, and Goulet kept his word.

From that hour the character of the war was transformed.
On the side of the Cubans reason and pity held natural pas-
sions in check. During the previous insurrection bloody re-
prisals were the rule with both of the contending forces, and
acts of unexampled cruelty and barbarity were freely com-
mitted. IFrom the beginning of this insurrection the insur-
gents, as a rule, practiced moderation and profound respect
for the rights of humanity. The watchword of mercy and
humanity came from the revolutionary committee in New
York. The instructions of the committee were formal and
they were carried out to the letter by the leaders.

The echo of the insignificant skirmish ending in the defeat
of the Spanish troops from Cobre reverberated throughout the
rural districts, and from that hour the negroes believed that
defeat for them would be impossible. Goulet passed on to the
little village of Hongolosongo, which was defended by a feeble
troop of Volunteers. He surprised the fort, and, without
striking a blow, took possession of the ten or twelve guns of the
garrison and of a case of cartridges. He gave full liberty to
the Volunteers who had manned the fort, and a few of them-
enlisted at once under his orders. TFarther on in the interior
of the country, General Rabi met with a success similar to that
of Goulet, though it was less brilliant. He fought at Los
Negros with a Spanish column, the struggle ending without
an accident to his men and with some loss to the Spaniards.
Meanwhile, the insurrection was organizing in the rural dis-
tricts. Some leaders of the former war recruited a few men,
but as yet the movement was without a directing head.
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of the insurrection Spain was beset with troublee

within as well as without. The arrest and summary
treatment of an American citizen in Havana and the seizure
of an American vessel had placed the State Department at
Washington in a position of diplomatic hostility, and it was
becoming very evident that the authorities in Cuba were not
suppressing the rebellion with that thoroughness required to
uphold Spain’s supremacy. The home government had
treated the agitation as a recrudescence of the former so-called
“ brigandage,” and, having fostered this impression, the sud-
den call for volunteers to go to Cuba not only opened the eyes
of the incredulous but brought the government into a sharp
contest with the militia. While it was apparently easy to re-
cruit men from the ranks of the army, the officers, according
to some of the Spanish papers, refused to volunteer to go to
Cuba, and this forced the government to the unpleasant ex-
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D URING the weeks immediately following the outbreak
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pedient of drawing lots. The fact was the subject of much
‘comment in the press, and, in many cases, harsh criticisms of
the army officials with imputations of cowardice and venality.
The officers, furious under this criticism, on March 16th went
in a body to the office of one of the newspapers, invaded the
composing-rooms, and broke the printing-presses. The police
contented themselves with a very feeble interference. De-
mands made by army officers upon the Liberal ministry that
they suppress the newspapers daring to assail the army met
with a refusal which, on the following day, caused the resig-

- nation of the ministry. Great excitement followed this step,
and it was not till General Campos was made Captain-General
of Madrid and given full authority that even a semblance of
order was restored. '

It seemed probable that Sagasta, the Liberal leader, had
been rather glad of the opportunity to place upon the Con-
servatives the responsibility of regulating matters which were
daily becoming more complicated. The quarrel between the
journalists and the army officers'served as a convenient pretext,
and on the 23d of March the Conservatives, under Canovas del
Castillo, took possession of the reins of the government. Im-
mediately after his installation the president of the council
made a very clear statement regarding the conditions prevail-
ing in Cuba, and the people became aware of the seriousness of
the insurrection. Public opinion changed, the danger was
realized, and there arose a clamor for a strong hand to stay the
insurrection. With one voice the people called for General
Campos, and soon his appointment as Governor-General of
Cuba and Commander-in-Chief was made known. Mean-
while, the first expedition, consisting of over 8,500 soldiers,
had already landed in Havana. -

The news of Campos’s appointment was generally wel-
comed in Cuba. The insurgents knew that Spain’s most
famous general was a fair fighter, though severe, while those
who still hoped for peace, even though they sympathized with
the Cubans, had great confidence in the sagacity and skill of
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the man who had happily brought to a close the Ten-Years
War. Everyone agreed that Campos was the most honest
man in Spain, the Spaniard of all Spaniards who knew Cuba,
her needs and her aspirations best. Besides, there was a con-
viction that as soon as Campos had informed himself of the
state of the country he would ask his government to make such
concessions as would deprive the war of a rational basis.

The autonomist party were persuaded that Campos would
bring with him the much-desired civic policy. Many of them
think to this day that if he had at once offered the insurgent
leaders a broad autonomy, the insurrection could have been
quelled in a short time. But it is probable that the power
vested in him did not enable him to settle the contention in this
manner. Those who were well acquainted with the Cuban
junta and its purposes believed that the secessionists would
never have listened to further Spanish offers of plans of au-
tonomy. They had been duped once, and they did not pro-
pose to experience another disappointment.

But, unquestionably, there was at that moment a good
opportunity for Spain to make the proposition, for while the
radical secessionists might have continued to struggle, there is
no doubt that a fair proposition of self-government would have
alienated from the insurgent canse many who were in a doubt-
ful attitude at the time. It would also have made it extremely
difficult for the insurgent leaders to have carried their cam-
paign into the western part of the island. But while Campos
was on his way to Cuba with reinforcements events were hap-
pening on the insurgent side which had the greatest influence
upon the future of the war.

‘What the insurgent bands lacked at that time was a chief
vested with the authority that comes of an unquestioned
record, or that authority which by reason of a strong person-
ality and magnetic power over men would stand for experience
and a name. It was the common opinion that if some of the
exiled generals of the former war could succeed in landing in
Cuba, they could infuse the necessary strength into the cause.
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In the province of Santiago the partisans of the insurrection
prayed for the coming of Maceo and Flor Crombet.

They did not know that the old leaders were about to enter
upon the scene and change in a short time the whole course of
events. At that moment Maceo and Flor Crombet were in
San Domingo, and they had but one arm of the sea to cross.

Antonio Maceo was born on July 14, 1848. His father
had a little plantation near Barajagua, and there were eleven
sons, of whom Antonio was the eldest. His skin was very
dark, something between the negro and the mulatto, although
he seemed much nearer the latter type. At the beginning of
the Ten-Years War he did not know how to read or write.
His father kept mules for hire and they were driven along the
lonely mountain roads by Antonio. In this way the boy made
trips to Baracoa, to Guantanamo, to Santiago, and even to
Holguin. .

He saw the slaves toiling their lives away in the fields, fet-
tered and lashed by overseers. He saw the red and yellow
Spanish flag floating above the fortified towns, and came to
understand it as an emblem of rapacity, cruelty, and greed.
One autumn day in 1868 Antonio returned to his father’s
plantation from Baracoa with the information that the Cubans
had rebelled. The father, being & careful man, at once ad-
vised his family to remain strictly neutral. DBut they secretly
exulted over the successes of their countrymen, and it may
have been that the Spaniards obtained an inkling of their sen-
timents. At any rate, Spanish spies began to annoy them,
and more than once they were threatened. The revolution
had been in progress for some months, and the Spaniards were
wild over a series of disasters, when there appeared at the
Maceo plantation a band of Spanish guerrillas. Maceo and
his older sons were away with a mule train.

They returned at nightfall. As the plantation came into
view, a horrifying sight met the gaze of Maceo and his sons.
Where his home had been there was nothing but a smoulder-
ing heap of ashes and embers. IHis barns were burned, his
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crops destroyed, his mules, sheep, horses, and cattle driven off.
But where were the members of his family? Out in the jungle
a woman screamed. Father and sons rushed in the direction
of the voice. Six young boys lay on the ground, bound, bleed-
ing, and senseless. The gray-haired mother stood tied to a
tree, moaning, with a broken arm.

On the following day the father called his sons about him,
and exacted from each a promise that they would never lay
down their arms until the invader was driven out and Cuba
was free. A few days later Maximo Gomez, lying out in the
mountains of Santiago with his little following, was con-
fronted by a gaunt, haggard man, behind whom were half a
dozen awkward boys. Little did Gomez know that in this
gathering of raw recruits there stood his future lieutenant-
general. He asked them if they could fight. They smiled
and said “ Perhaps.” Soon afterward some Spanish troops
were riding leisurely along with an ammunition train.
Around the bend of the road, in front, swept a flying body of
horsemen, with their machetes glittering. They were guer-
rillas of Gomez, and at their head rode the “ awkward squad ”
of the Maceos.

Right into the heart of the Spanish troops they drove, pell
mell, cutting, slashing, and striking right and left. When
the fight was ended the elder Maceo lay dead on the ground.
Before the expiration of two months, Manuel, Fermin, and
Justice Maceo had been killed in battle.

Raphael was so cut up by wounds that he left the island to
die as an exile in Costa Rica. For six months after this the
survivors of the Maceo family seemed to bear charmed lives,
and they became the foremost fighters under Gomez.

Next, Miguel was killed by a bayonet thrust at the eap-
ture of Une Vitas. Soon after Julio was shot dead.at Nuevo
Mundo. Felipe and Tomas were so badly wounded that they
became helpless cripples in San Domingo.

Then, almost at the end of the war, Marcus was kl“?d ina
gallant machete charge, leaving Antonio, of all the “ awkward
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squad ” of fighters, still in the field. His brother José was
still too young to join his relatives. During the first twelve
months of Maceo’s service he received sixteen of the twenty-
one severe wounds that marked his body at the close of the war.
With great taciturnity and apparent gruffness, he combined
a magnetism that drew men to him. Within a year he had
been promoted through the various grades of sergeant, lieuten-
ant, and captain to that of major. Soon after receiving this
honor, Maceo was ordered to capture the upland town of Ti
Ariba. With only 300 men he made a headlong attack on the
forts, and after a desperate engagement succeeded in driving
the Spaniards into Santiago. For this brilliant engagement
he received the shoulder straps of a colonel. The more power
accorded by Gomez to Maceo the more effective became the
fighting of the Cubans. Maceo’s following was a blindly de-
voted one, and his men would follow wherever he might lead.
In 1870 Maceo with 400 men fiercely attacked the Spanish
general at Ramos. Campos held his ground, and the fighting
raged at intervals for thirty days. Near Monte Oscuro he
was fiercely attacked by General Valera, at the head of 1,000
Spaniards. With only 400 men he made a stand in a strong
position against the combined forces of Valera and Campos.
Maceo quickly saw that he would have to retreat. Beforc
doing so he lured the Spaniards into a dangerous position, and
then raised his favorite cry of “ Al machete! ” The slaughter
was terrible.

After Maceo’s retreat Campos returned to Santiago with
only a remnant of his former forces. Ie was met by Bal-
maceda, the Captain-General, who said, derisively:

“ Oh, you pretend that all the glory was on our side. That
may be so, but the losses were on our side also.”

“Does your excellency suppose,” retorted Campos, “ that
Cubans use cotton bullets? ”

Maceo’s next notable achievement was in the battle of
Zarzai, where 2,500 Spaniards were utterly routed. Later,
at the battle of Santa Maria de Holguin, he charged the Span-
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ish line at the head of his followers, and many were cut down
before they could fire a shot. It was at this time that Maceo
first met General Weyler. The latter had been made a briga-
dier, and at the battle of Guaimaro was sent against Maceo.

Maceo had placed his men across a steep ravine in some
heavy brush. The Spaniards came tumbling and running up
to the edge of the ravine, and there they were slaughtered like
sheep. Weyler fled, leaving five hundred dead on the field.
He never stopped to look back until he was safe within the
Spanish lines at Puerto Principe. Soon afterward, with 500
men, Maceo attacked the San Quentin battalion, 1,000 strong,
under the command of Colonel Yoyer. The Spaniards lost
200 men, and would have been annihilated had it not been for
the timely arrival of Lieutenant Tirso with reinforcements.

For these brilliant acts Maceo was made major-general.
It seemed as if this new honor put additional spurs on his heels. .
He lost no opportunity to harrass the enemy, was in ambush
and on guard everywhere, and he became the bugbear and
terror of the Spaniards. He expected them at all points, even
when he was far away, and his life seemed set upon a height
beyond the reach of Spanish bullets. How to take Maceo be-
came the one idea of the Spanish soldiers, and as he became
the terror of the Spaniards he became equally the hero of the
Cubans. In rapid succession he engaged the Spaniards in a
series of brilliant and bloody fights.

In the battle of Cayo Rey, Antonio Maceo had a narrow
escape from death. In the midst of the fight he saw the Span-
ish colonel in command cheering on his troops. In an instant
Maceo had drawn his machete and rushed forward to engage
the Spanish commander in a sword combat. The latter saw
the Cuban leader coming, and flourished his sword in defiance.
At that moment Maceo received a rifle bullet throngh his
lungs. He reeled in the saddle and would have fallen had it
not been for Lieutenant-Colonel Pacheco, who caught him as
he fell and carried him to a place of safety. At the same time
Colonel Rodriquez, perceiving Maceo’s perilous plight, made
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a gallant charge, and, under a sweeping fire, the Spaniards
were checked.

For three months Maceo fought a battle for his life, with
but meager attendance and but slim chances for recovery. At
last his naturally rugged constitution triumphed, but his roar-
ing and trumpet-like voice had vanished. Again in the saddle,
Maceco began to adopt new methods of crippling Spain. He
began to destroy Spanish property and to burn Spanish planta-
tions. In company with his brother José, now grown to man-
hood, and 500 guerrillas, he invaded the Guantanamo district,
spreading desolation with fire and sword.

While he was in the midst of his fiery crusade the Cuban
and Spanish leaders met at Zanjon and signed a treaty of peace.
The news was brought to Maceo by a messenger who was
authorized to procure his signature to the treaty.

“Tell them,” was Maceo’s reply, “ that I will never sign
any compact with Spain other than a compact for the freedom
of Cuba. I will not submit.”

So Antonio Maceo kept on fighting. It soon became evi-
dent, however, that the backbone of the war had been broken.
Ten years of starvation and exposure in all sorts of weather
had broken the spirit of all but Maceo. Unable to obtain sup-
plies, he was reduced to complete want. Then the capitula-
tion came. Ile wrote Campos a haughty letter, agreeing to
lay down his arms, disband his forces, and submit to exile on
the condition that a Spanish man-of-war be placed at his dis-
posal to convey him and his officers to Jamaica. This offer
was readily accepted by Campos, who realized the impossibility
of catching Maceo in a country where he knew every tree and
bypath.

Maceo disbanded his men in the early dawn under a big
tree near Guantanamo. There were men among that 500 who
had fought under Maceo for almost ten years. They were
ragged and half starved, but they had stood together in the
brunt of manv a hard-fonght battle, and it was no wonder that
tears were in their eyes as they bade their leader goodby.
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For them it was a return to the blackened sites of their
burned homes and their ruined plantations. For him it was
exile forever to a foreign country — and Cuba still in chains.
No wonder the thought maddened him. Yet he counselled
patience, industry, and obedience to the laws. “ As for me,”
he said, “ I will follow the will of fate that leads me blindly
onward. Will I come again? Quien sabe?” Then there
were handclasps and goodbys, and Antonio Maceo sailed away
to Jamaica. .

In the few moments of his leisure he had learned to read
and write. At night, when the fighting was over, by such light
as his straightened means could compass, he pored over his
books as industrious and submissive as a child. General Lacret
was his preceptor, and he suddenly acquired an amazing fond-
ness for books relating to wars and military tactics, which he
read early and late.

Early in 1879 Maceo arrived in New York. For a month
or more he lived alone, without other companionship than that
of books. In a few months he made his way to West Point,
where he obtained emplovment as a hostler. Nobody in the
academy dreamed that the broad-shouldered, dark-browed
man who handled the horses so easily had ever smelled the
smoke of battle, or heard the song of rifle bullets. Day after
day, on the parade ground, he watched the evolutions of the
cadets, listened to the commands of the officers, studied tle
discipline of the place, pored over volumes of military tactics
that he had managed to borrow, and added to his natural genius
the knowledge of other great generals.

At last the hostler, who was regarded as book-mad, gave up
his position and returned to New York. From New York he
went to Costa Rica, taking a hundred or more weighty volumes
with him. Some wealthy Cubans had settled in Cost Rica
during the war, and they now offered Maceo a tract of land on
which to colonize his brave followers. Here for ten years the
exile worked and studied and dreamed, instructed his veterans
in the modern theories of war, and gave them practical lessons
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in drilling and in cavalry evolutions. Never for a moment did
he forget his purpose.

In 1888, ten years after the close of the war, he began to
scheme for another uprising in Cuba. He took his former
officers into his confidence, and the little band of revolutionists
spent almost a year in making plans for the overthrow of
Spain. -

Finally, Maceo sailed for Jamaica, and from Jamaica to
Santiago de Cuba, disguised as a laborer. Not for a moment,
however, during the ten years that had elapsed since the war
had the Spanish government lost sight of Maceo. Conse-

. quently, when he disappeared from Costa Rica there was a hue
and ery. “ Maceo has gone,” was telegraphed to Madrid and
Havana. Search was made throughout the island. Finally,
the government got word of him. Under torture a Cuban
confessed that he had seen Maceo in El Christo, disguised as a
muleteer. In the meantime Maceo had become aware that his
whereabouts had been discovered. A fisherman who had
fought under him during the war sailed for Kingston one dark
night with Maceo in his boat. For many weeks thereafter
the Spaniards searched in vain for the Cuban leader.

Maceo returned to Costa Rica disappointed, but not dis-
couraged. He entered into correspondence with prominent
Cuban sympathizers in American cities, and with General
Gomez in San Domingo. This was kept up until local juntas
were formed in almost every prominent city in the United
States. Then Maceo and his little band of patriots in Costa
Rica had nothing to do but wait for events. The years be-
tween 1890 and 1895 were passed in hard work and in study-
ing the possibilities of Cuba from a military standpoint.

One day in February, 1895, word came that the Cubans
had risen. A week later Maceo, Jhiis brother José, Flor
Crombet, Cabreco, and sixteen other veterans, sailed from
Costa Rica for San Domingo. At this time Maceo was forty-
seven years old. His hair and his beard were beginning to
show threads of silver, but his strength and agility were sur-
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prising. He was a sharpshootér and a horseman of incom-
parable finish and skill. Calm, imperious, and inflexible as
he stood under the rain of bullets, he was the ideal of a guer-
rilla chief. In the march of events he was to display qualities
which proved that he was as true a man and as masterful a
general as he was keen and skillful in strategy. Springing
from obscurity, he hewed out of the rugged history of Cuba
a name that will be remembered while liberty endures. Un-
known as he was and of a race of slaves, backed only by a
small band of rebels, he met the soldiers of a European power
and the head of an imposing army on the ground of man’s
equality, and for a moment the rebel held the safety of the
royal army in his hands. '

Flor Crombet was also a guerrilla of unquestioned valor.
He fought side by side with Maceo during the greater part of
the Ten-Years War; wounded many times, he seemed to bear
a charmed life. He was a lion in battle, but he lacked Maceo’s
greatness of soul, and he had neither the noble instinet nor the
generosity of Maceo. But he was whiter than his compatriot,
his mother having heen a mulatto, while the untainted blood
of the Caucasian race ran in the veins of his father.

At San Domingo they chartered a little American boat in
which to cross to the coast near Baracoa, the nearest port,
taking with them a few arms and such equipments as they
considered necessary. They crossed without attracting atten-
tion. The Spanish cruiser which patrolled the coast did not
appear. On the morning of April 1st they sighted Baracoa,
and the leaders then asked the captain, who was steering his
boat towards the port, to land them farther along the coast at
some distance from the city. The captain refused, urging
that it had been agreed that they should land at Baracoa; he
declared that he should land just as he had contracted to, and
added that he had no wish to run upon the rocks which line
the coast for the purpose of pleasing his passengers.

Maceo and Crombet insisted that he should not land in the
port, and when the captain would not listen to their entreaties
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they told him that to do so would be to thrust them into the
jaws of death. They told him that they could not approach
the port without being recognized, and that they would be ar-
rested and shot. But nothing that they urged had any in-
fluence upon the captain. He steered steadily towards the
city, and Crombet, beside himself, seized a rifle and blew out
the captain’s brains.

They then took the ship, put about, and steered for the
coast, and shortly afterwards landed in a little bay situated
some distance from Baracoa. It was a part of the country of
which they knew very little, and they wandered for some time
at random, and the few inhabitants whom they met, Indian
guerrillas in the service of Spain, were hostile to them.
Maceo and his band kept in hiding in the woods, where they
were soon called upon to undergo serious privations. After
# few days of trial and discomfort, however, they arrived at a
plantation of banana trees laden with fruit. They were
thankful for such a feast after their prolonged fast, but while
they were busy with this harvest they were surprised by a troop
of Indians commanded by Spanish officers. Maceo, realizing
their position, in an instant cried out to his companions:

“ Sauve qui peut!” (Let him escape who can.)

All ran, with the exception of .Crombet, who was at once
surrounded. He fired and killed several of his adversaries,
then fell dead with a bullet in his forehead. The Spaniards
turned to pursue the rest of the band, but they had disap-
peared.

Dispersed and wandering separately, their sufferings were
intense. Maceo lived for days on bitter oranges, the only
fruit which grows in those Cuban woods. His boots had given
out, he was barefooted, for in his precipitate flight he had been
forced to abandon all his supplies.  After a time he met an In-
dian and asked him to show him the way out of the woods.
The Indian, who had recognized him, agreed, and they went
on together for several hours. Evening came on.

“ GGeneral,” said the Indian, “ beyond this point T do not
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know the way, and I think it would be better for you to re-
main in this grotto to-night. To-morrow I will return with
one of my friends who knows the country, and he will lead
you wherever you think best.”

Maceo thanked him and rewarded him by giving him the
only money he had left, an American twenty-dollar gold-piece.
In the shelter pointed out by the guide the wind had heaped up
a bed of leaves, upon which the tired fugitive stretched him-
self. But he was too tired and too anxious to sleep, and the
thought came to him that it would not be prudent for him to
rest there.

“No,” he said to himself. “It is not well that anyone
should know where I pass the night.”

Then he arose and looked about him. The dew lay heavy
upon the great leaves of the rich undergrowth, and a white,
malarious veil, hanging above the earth and embracing it,
trembled in the dim light of the¢ night. Maceo’s heart
swelled with memories of his sorrowful youth, the remem-
brance of the natural and inevitable wrongs of his birth, and
the desperate fight for freedom of his tortured country. He
thought of Crombet who had fought by his side and had been
like a brother to him, and of all the brave, determined men
who had given their lives into his keeping and followed him
without a question or a doubt. They too were fugitives, grop-
ing about in the forest.

“No, there must be no careless relaxation now,” he
thought.

Despite his longing for rest, he left his cave and crept out
into the woods, where he hid himself among the leafage of the
great plants at the foot of a tall tree. In that position he could
watch the cave and signal should his guide return according to
his promise.

He had just settled himself comfortably in his shelter
when he heard voices in the direction of the grotto, and im-
mediately afterwards saw a troop of armed Indians advancing.

They were led by his guide, who had no sooner received his
15
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money than he had gone to betray him to his enemies, and the
Indians had come to capture him while he slept.

Maceo crept further away through the underbrush, that
luxuriant growth which returns no sound of the cautious
human footfall. It was not long before he heard the Indians
clamoring loudly because the perfidious guide had brought
them to an empty cave. It is evident that the Spanish authori-
ties, knowing of Maceo’s departure from San Domingo, and
anticipating that he would attempt to land on the island, had
laid their traps to capture him. The obstinacy of the captain
whom Crombet had shot was suspicious, and the quickness
with which armed bands turned up in the thick woods where
he had been almost lost could hardly have been without de-
sign.

Maceo wandered about all that night, expecting at any
moment to meet an ‘enemy. Reaching at last a small hut
among the rocks, he entered, revolver in hand, and an old
negro sprang up from the floor.

“ Do you recognize me? ”” asked Maceo.

“Yes, General,” was the reply. “You are Don Antonio
- Maceo.”

“Very good,” said Maceo. “You will guide me to the
nearest insurgent station. If you lead me into an ambush I
will blow your brains out.”

The old negro did not reply. Silently he led Maceo along
a faintly-marked trail, and after several hours of marching
they met a little group of Cubans, who welcomed Maceo with
joy and gratitude. As for Maceo he was utterly exhausted,
unable to take another step. The dangers which he faced
after landing near Baracoa afford another proof of the daring
qualities of the man, and also of the lack of real sympathy
which the uprising encountered at the beginning. But as
soon as it was known that Maceo had landed, and, in spite of
the attempts to capture him, was at the head of an army, the
whele aspect of things was changed. One by one, or in little
groups, the Creoles who were serving in the Spanish ranks
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joined the insurgents; those who had held back doubtfully
shouldered their guns and came into camp, while the Indians
who had failed to capture and assassinate Maceo, awed by his
bravery, soon became some of his best soldiers.

All those who had landed with Maceo and had escaped
from the attack at the banana plantation had to pass through
trying ordeals before they arrived at insurgent eamps, but they
all came out safe. Maceo, who had not been a witness of the
killing of Crombet, believed that he was still alive, and as soon
as it was possible he ordered the woods searched in every direc-
tion. For a long time he looked for him at every turn, and in
his dreams of Cuba Libre he saw his old friend living and
triumphant. The Spaniards boasted that they had carried
away his body, but this is doubtful, as those who saw the body
which they exhibited as that of Crombet did not recognize it.

Maceo exerted himself at once to gather about him an
army, and when he had a few hundred armed men he felt that
his success was assured. 'When it is considered what he accom-
plished with these men, one can imagine what he might have
done, with his military talents, could he have commanded a
large army of trained soldiers. His organization of the rough
material at his disposal was masterful, though for a long time
he was hardly able to do much work with his troops. In his
terrible ordeal he had become crippled; his feet were so
swollen that for some time he had to be carried about in a
hammock. But nothing escaped his keen eye and vigilance.
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when a detachment was sent to receive Generals

Maximo Gomez, Francisco Borrerro, Angel Guerra,
and José Marti, under whose energetic management the insur-
rection had been organized. They arrived in Cuba on the
11th of April, five days before General Campos succeeded
General Calleja as Commander-in-Chief of the Spanish forces
in the island. Pending the formal action of the Cuban
leaders when they should become more firmly established, the
revolutionary committee appointed Marti President of the
Republic of Cuba and Gomez as Commander-in-Chief of the
army. In two months, therefore, a revolution which had, to
all appearances, begun so insignificantly was fairly launched,
and the greatest general in Spain was on his way to measure
arms with the strongest leaders among the Cubans. If Gomez
was less than Maceo an idol of the Cuban people in the east,

he was better known in the central divisions of the island, and
(284)

GENERAL Maceo had hardly begun his preparations
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the plan was to take steps at once to extend the insurrection
into that quarter. Gomez had been one of the leading spirits
of the previous war, and later had been an officer of high re-
pute in the Honduras army. The knowledge of his presence
in the island was an inspiring impulse upon the Cubans in the
provinces of Puerto Principe and Santa Clara, who immmedi-
ately prepared to join the insurgents, and, as in that section of
the island the white race predominated, their sympathy af-
forded the.insurrection a more favorable standing.

Campos’s first plan of campaign was to confine the revolu-
tion to the province of Santiago de Cuba, and he was reported
to have made the statement that he would crush the insur-
gents, establish peace, and return to Spain the following No-
vember. He issued a proclamation promising pardon and
freedom to such rebellious Cubans as would surrender them-
selves and their arms, but it was too late for such an expedient
to have the desired effect. Campos asserted that the province
of Puerto Principe would never rise in revolt, and, in order to
prevent it, he projected a line of railway from Santa Cruz on
the south coast to the city of Puerto Principe, and another
from Manzanillo to Bayamo, hoping thereby to engage the un-
employed and quiet the fever of revolt. It became equally
important for the Cuban generals to cross the country into
Puerto Principe so that Gomez could bring into the field those
who were waiting for a leader, hence both the Cubans and the
Spaniards awaited the results of this first movement with great
interest. Campos hastened a cordon of troops, estimated to
number 10,000 men, near the border of Puerto Principe and
Santiago to prevent Gomez from entering. Meanwhile,
Maceo, who could more readily than Gomez recruit in the
east, organized the troops as best he could. Several chiefs
brought in little bands which they had gathered together, and
Goulet with his force, which by this time numbered near
1,000 men, hastened to join his old commander. To the in-
domitable courage and fierce endurance of the Cubans was
now added the buoyancy and confidence which came from the
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knowledge that they were to follow the lead of generals of
tried capacity, as daring fighters as the world has ever seen,
and recruits came in much faster than the equipments could
be supplied.

Gomez, Marti, and Maceo arranged their plan of cam-
paign and then separated. Tt was decided that in order to
facilitate the entrance of Gomez and Marti into the province
of Puerto Principe, Maceo should attempt a diversion of the
royal forces in the direction of Guantanamo. Gomez and
Marti with about 700 cavalrymen turned their course west-
ward. As their main purpose was to work their way into
Puerto Principe, where Marti counted on the presence of
Gomez and his own personality and eloquence to influence the
undecided, it was policy for them to avoid, if possible, the
Spanish troops, leaving them to be drawn away by Maceo with
his superior forces. But, unfortunately, when they found
themselves in the neighborhood of the enemy, the prudence
of Gomez was overborne by the zeal of Marti.

On the 18th of May, when camped on the plains of Dos
TRios, they learned that the first line of the enemy was in the
neighborhood, safely protected by a fort. Starting out before
daybreak the next morning, they soon came upon the Spanish
outpost. Marti was all excitement. He desired to fight, but
the prudent Gomez reminded Marti that skirmishing was not
to be the object of the expedition, that they should pass around
the enemy if possible, and he thought it would be wiser to
profit by the heavy fog which enshrouded the plain by firing
a few shots at the outposts, while they continued on their
march unnoticed along the flank of the royal army. But the
firing of the muskets excited Marti more and more. They
were face to face with the hated Spaniards against whose op-
pression he had struggled and suffered. The hope of his
youth and his manhood at last seemed to be realized. He
had planned the great struggle now at hand; step by step, in
the face of discouragements and obstacles, had infused it with
life and made it a working force. Here at last was a chance
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to strike.  Why should they avoid this enemy with whom for
twenty years he had longed to measure strength? He could
not bear to think of drawing back, of slinking away.

“ That would be dishonor,” he said.

Before the wild exaltation of Marti, Gomez had not the
heart to insist upon his own prudent tactics. And if, indeed,
they had had a large army, instead of a force insignificant
in comparison with the royal troops; had been properly
armed and equipped, a decisive blow might have been struck
then and there. The enthusiasm of the young recruits, led
by an old warrior of mark and such a spirited champion as
Marti, would have been hard to withstand, for no such frenzy
of patriotic fervor prevailed among the Spanish youths, drawn
into the struggle against their will. As it was, they quailed
before the charge of those seven hundred cavalrymen, and no
serious harm might have been done but for the recklessness of
Marti, who was mounted upon a very beautiful and vigorous
horse. Ile was told that the animal might be unmanageable
in a skirmish, even if ridden by an experienced horseman, but
Marti would not listen.

“Yiva Cuba Libre! ” he cried, waving his sword, and, fol-
lowed by his soldiers, he rushed upon the Spanish lines. Be-
fore the avalanche the Spanish army retreated, but in good
order upon its reserves. That was the trap. Gomez sounded
a rally to the troops, and they stopped, but Marti, carried on
by the vigor of his horse, which he could not control, was taken
straight into the ranks of the enemy. He received a bullet in
his left eyebrow, another in his throat, and several sword
thrusts in his body. Then the Spaniards fell upon their vie-
tim. The insurgents charged again, but in the face of such
superior numbers the movement was of no avail. There was
danger of losing all, and Marti was dead.

Marti wore upon his hat a scarf in the colors of Cuba Libre
on which were embroidered the words “ A. Marti.” The com-
mander of the Spanish forces hastened to transmit to Santiago
the news of this impértant capture, and the rejoicing was great
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among the Spaniards. General Campos at once gave orders
to despatch two persons who knew Marti to identify him and
bring back official proof of his death. After its identification
the corpse was to be brought to Santiago, let it cost what it
might. He did not propose to neglect the opportunity of pro-
ducing upon public opinion an impression unfavorable to the
Cuban cause, and, naturally, the news of Marti’s death was at
first received with incredulity by some. But the evidence was
conclusive. The body of the dead president was carried to
the cemetery, where it was exposed to the public view and
pbotographed. By the order of General Campos, a Spanish
general presided at the funeral of the illustrious insurgent,
and pronounced a discourse over the grave, eulogizing the bril-
liant qualities of the fallen enemy, and mourning because his
courage and his talents had not been exerted in a better cause.
Those who had been present at the summary executions of the
previous war thought that times had changed and military
manners with them. At that time Marti’s corpse would have
been dragged through the streets of the city. But Campos
knew that such brutal treatment would only arouse thousands
of Cubans who were then in a doubtful attitude. The example
of leniency had already been set by the Cubans at the order
of the revolutionary committee, and to have offset this with
outrages would have called down upon the Spanish the con-
demnation of other nations. And this was at a time when
Spain was eagerly seeking moral support from outside for use
in her relations with the United States, which were continually
becoming more serious and complicated.

Marti’s death appeared at first sight to be an irreparable
loss, but the movement had received such an impulse that noth-
ing could then have stopped its onward march. It was quickly
arranged that T. Estrada Palma should act as president until
such time as the Cuban Assembly could meet to definitely
organize the republic. Marti had already issued the call for
this meeting and it only awaited the favorable opportunity.

The new president at the outbreak of the Ten-Years War
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was one of the wealthiest landowners in eastern Cuba. He
took up arms, and served nine years in the field. During this
time his mother was starved to death by the Spaniards. He
was finally elected president of the Republic, and while in
that capacity was captured and t:ken to Spain. In a census
which was taken of the prisoners in the fortress in which he
was confined he wrote upon the blank which was given him:
“T. Estrada Palma; of foreign birth — Cuban; occupation,
President of the Republic of Cuba.” Upon the cessation of
hostilities in 1878, the Spanish government offered him a high
political position and the restitution of his vast estates, which
had been confiscated, if he would take the oath of allegiance.
This he refused to do, and, almost destitute, he departed for
Honduras. In a small college there he found employment
ag a professor, and thus supported himself until he became
postmaster-general of Honduras. The daughter of President
Guardiolo beecame his wife. Later, he set out for the United
States and founded a school in the town of Central Valley,
N. Y., for the education of Spanish-American children.

But he always retained his sympathy and enthusiasm for
the cause of Cuba and offered everything he possessed to
further the insurrection, becoming one of the leaders of the
revolutionary committee, and thus, on Marti’s death, the head
of its operations.

Experience had taught Marti that Céspedes had failed in
1878 largely because of lack of arms. Before attempting to
begin the war, therefore, Marti had organized a system of col-
lecting money from exiled Cubans everywhere. He had but
a small sum at the beginning, for his system had only begun
its operations. The Spaniards generally believed that Marti
controlled millions and jumped at the conclusion that he was
backed solely by the people of the United States. But it is
stated as a fact that Marti was compelled to start the war with
no more than 75,000, which would be hardly enough for a
single expedition. But his system was in working order and
it represented millions.
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This 1 why the death of Marti did not check the march of
the revolution. Marti knew well it would be so, and a short
time before he set out with Gomez he had written to a friend
in Havana a letter in which he used these significant words:

“I can die now, because my work is done. I feel that I shall
soon be in the hands of that destiny which makes some men
disappear after finishing their mission for the good of their
country.”

Did his highly wrought and sensitive mind receive one of
those flashes of intuition of which history affords so many
notable examples — a premonition of the fate that awaited
him? If this be so, perhaps there is less reason to wonder at
the recklessness with which he rushed upon the swords of the
Spanish at Boca de Dos Rios.

The Cuban revolutionary organization was composed
largely of the Cuban political clubs throughout the United
States, about 300 in number, and all working under the gen-
eral regulations laid down by Marti. Contributions of money
from the members were regulated according to their resources.
The clubs, in a general election which was held every two
years, elected the treasurer of the party, but the real head of
the whole organization was the president, or, as the Cubans
called him, the delegate, who, after the outbreak of the insur-
rection, was appointed by the government in Cuba. Such was
the office which Marti held and which fell to Palma.

ITe was the plenipotentiary with full power to dispose of
funds, having the full confidence of the clubs. The Cubans
knew that their contributions were used for the purposes to
which they devoted them. They did not need to safeguard
the men who held the funds when they knew that they had un-
reservedly relinquished all they had ever possessed to the
cause, and many of them had sacrificed great wealth rather
than swear allegiance to Spain. Thus it was that every Cuban
cigarmaker left ten per cent. of his wages at the delegation,
and the whole pay of one day’s work every week. They went
without home comforts and often deprived themselves and
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their families of all but the bare mecessaries of life in order
that they might help to set Cuba free. If there was a reverse
in the field, or some discouraging circumstance like the death
of one of the great leaders, the Cubans gave all the more.
While the people of the United States and the rest of the world
were reading in the newspapers of Cuban skirmishes, they
little realized what a story of self-sacrifice, of devoted patriot-
ism, lay under the surface of the life of the Cubans in this
country and in Europe. It was a drama which had to be en-
acted in secret.

Men naturally wondered how it was that while Spain was
sending over more men and arms, and spending money which
the nation could ill-afford to lose, the poor C'ubans kept up a
contest on their side. But it was not maintained without
money, and plenty of it. It is said that once a Wall street
banker inquired into the income of the Cuban treasury in New
York, and was surprised when he was shown that it was re-
ceiving an income averaging $200,000 a month. The Cubans
in Paris alone sent over $120,000 at one time.

Bearing in mind these facts, it will be more readily under-
stood why, with such a complete organization working in this
country, the government of the United States was placed in an
extremely difficult position in its endeavors to maintain the
requirements of international law, especially when compelled
to assume an attitude favorable to Spain while the people sym-
pathized cordially with the struggling Cubans. And neither
the vigilance of the government, nor the spies of Spain, nor
Spanish diplomacy with strong influence to back it, could
check the results of the patriotic self-sacrifice of the.Cuban
colony.

While Gomez, mourning the fate of the dashing but reck-
less Marti, was adroitly working his way along the flank of the
enemy towards the province of Puerto Principe, Maceo was
vigorously diverting the Spanish forces in the eastern part of
the island. Other bands of insurgents were having frequent
skirmishes amid the hills of Santiago de Cuba, and occasion-
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ally a quite serious engagement. General Rabi defeated the
Spanish colonels Santoscildes and Zubikoski at Los Negros.
At Ramon de las Yaguas, Colonel Garzon surprised and cap-
tured Lieutenant Gallengo and a few Spanish soldiers. These
he disarmed and permitted to go unmolested, for it should
always be remembered that in these early engagements the
Cubans were less concerned about killing Spaniards than they
were in capturing their arms. At El Cacao, General Rabi
cut to pieces the Spanish forces under Colonel Sanchez and
obtained a good supply of arms and ammunition, and in several
other small engagements the insurgents were successful, for
while the Spaniards were almost always at an advantage as to
numbers, and had the further advantage of good arms, they
were at a disadvantage in almost every other respect. Their
officers were utterly unequal to the kind of strategy which was
required in fighting the insurgents in such a country. The
fire of the insurgent musketry was likely to burst upon them
at any moment unless they were in the open plains. Taken
unawares, they would return the fire at random and seldom
hit a rebel. On the other hand, the insurgents would use their
poor firearms to the greatest advantage, and when the oppor-
tunity came make a wild dash at the enemy with their
machetes, capturing all the arms and ammunition they could.
Moreover, the adroit Cuban leaders made the most marvelous
and unexpected movements with their little bands, all the time
drawing the Spanish further and further from the points
where success seemed the most promising.

In the pursuit of his plan Maceo attacked General Saleedo,
who had 3,000 men, at Jarahuea, and defeated him. and in
later operations succeeded in capturing 200 rifles and 40,000
rounds of ammunition by surprising a Spanish garrison at the
little town of Cristo. On the 25th of May, at the head of 2,000
men, Maceo encamped at the town of Jobito, a little north
of Santiago and not far from Guantanamo. He was close in
the neighborhood of a large force of the Spanish, but his posi-
tion was well chosen. At daybreak the next morning his
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troops were vigorously attacked by the royal army under the
command of Lieutenant-Colonel Bach. The Spaniards were
ranged upon a narrow road which runs along a river, and which
for some distance is in full view of a plateau upon which Maceo
and his army had bivouacked. On their left they practically
commanded the enemy’s column; it may be said that they over-
hung them. The two contending forces remained at their
posts all the morning, exchanging a wellsustained fire of
musketry. Suddenly towards 11 o’clock the insurgents
heard a significant trumpeting in the enemy’s camp; an officer
of importance, one of the Spanish leaders, had been killed, and
Lieutenant-Colonel Bach had been mortally wounded.

As the Cubans were in a superior position, the Spanish
officer dared not risk an attack. He, therefore, sent to Guan-
tanamo for reinforcements, and, abandoning his position, drew
back to await them. They arrived in the evening and covered
the Spanish commander’s retreat. This was the first serious
engagement of the campaign, and the insurgents had held the
royal forces in check, fightimg like demons. But the priva-
tions and suffering in the Cuban camps in these days required
stout hearts. There were no doctors and no medicine, and
the wounded insurgent had to rely upon nature for his cure,
though there were a few barbers in the ranks who acted as
surgeons.

For a few weeks after this little of importance occurred.
Maceo effected a union with Rabi, and together they marched
westward toward Manzanillo, meeting with little opposition.
Meanwhile, General Campos had become impatient because
his generals displayed so little energy; he determined to show
them that he, the Captain-General, would meet the insurgents
without the support of the entire army. Since his arrival in
Cuba he had seldom left the ship upon which he had estab-
lished his headquarters. He sailed from Havana to Santiago,
and, wherever he thought he was needed, urging on first one
and then the other, negotiating in one place and ordering a
fight in another. Tarly in July he went to Manzanillo and
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landed. Numerous complaints had appeared in the press that
the Spanish forces at Bayamo, an inland city about twenty-five
miles from Manzanillo, were in a deplorable condition, without
food or hospitals, and cut off from Manzanillo by the insur-
gents. Campos, apparently, conceived the plan of relieving
Bayamo and of crushing the collected forces of Maceo and
Rabi at one blow, and of afterwards pushing westward to drive
Gomez into the Spanish military line between the province of
Santa Clara and Puerto Principe, thus catching the Cubans
between two fires. He ordered three Spanish columns to
march against Maceo’s force from different directions, while he
started from Manzanillo on the 12th with a convoy under
General Santocildes, which was to re-victual Bayamo.

Everything went well until they reached the neighborhood
of Peralejos, where the road divides. The new highway
stretches out towards the north while the old road defleets
slightly towards the south. The guide turned into the new
road, which is better known and more worn by travel, but
General Campos ordered him to take the old road.

Maceo had been warned that a Spanish column was to leave
Manzanillo with commissary stores for Bayamo, and he de-
cided to attack it with as strong a force as he could muster.
With this end in view he had picked up Goulet’s force en-
camped at St. Georges, and also sent messengers to Rabi and
the others who were near by to join him. It was not long be-
fore his army, swelled by these reinforcements, numbered
3,000 men, of whom at least 500 were practically without
arms. They had proceeded toward Bayamo, and halted near
the parting of the roads.

Thinking that the Spanish column would follow the new,
well-beaten road, Maceo distributed his troops among the
underbrush and placed his equipage and the men who had no
guns along the side of the old abandoned road. Goulet and
his band was placed between the largest body of the insur-
gents and the military impedimenta. General Campos was
moving forward with great caution, when his advance guard
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came full upon the band of unarmed Cubans and fired a volley
of musketry into their ranks. The result was a wild re-
treat. The panic of the uparmed soldiers was so great that
Goulet’s troops were swept backward. For a moment he
seemed utterly abandoned, but his two aids-de-camp, Palacios
and Colas, were near him, and the three undaunted soldiers
united in a desperate effort to stem the flood of retreat. The
Spaniards advanced firing volley after volley at the flying
fugitives. Goulet mounted a rise of ground, to watch the
movements of the enemy and to give orders to his lieutenants,
and as he crouched at the foot of a tree half stripped by the
Spanish bullets, which fell like rain, a bullet entered his knee,
traversing the groin, and he fell dead. His two aids hastened
to carry his body from the field.

Maceo, who had expected to face the Spaniards on ‘the
other road, heard the noise of the battle, and, notwithstanding
the disadvantages of his position, he rallied his troops and faced
the enemy by a change of front. When it is remembered that
the undisciplined and panic-stricken unarmed band was in full
retreat, it must be acknowledged that Maceo’s change of front
was remarkable, and that it did honor to his generalship. The
aspect of the combat at once changed; the Spaniards fell back
under the unexpected attack and felt that they were defeated.

At that moment General Campos ordered his officers to dis-
mount. General Santocildes did not hear the order and re-
mained upon his horse. Maceo was in front of his line sur-
rounded by his staff, all young men of excellent family, used
to the management of firearms and better marksmen than the
average soldier. He ordered them to fire full upon the per-
son who had remained upon his horse, supposing him to be the
general in command. Santocildes received in his body the
contents of twenty rifles and fell mortally wounded. As he
fell the Spanish soldiers rushed forward with a stretcher to
bear away his body. Maceo ordered his staff to fire upon the
compact group which the enemy formed at that point. Three
times the Spaniards were forced to drop the stretcher upon
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which lay the body of their general, and each time they left
upon the spot a number of dead and dying. They returned
after the third repulse and this time they succeeded in carry-
ing the body away with them.

Campos, seeing the turn the battle had taken, ordered his
men to shoot all the horses and mules, and the dead bodies of
the animals were piled up as a barricade. Maceo, on foot,
urged the soldiers on with all his accustomed energy and cour--
age. It was a warm and spirited fight. The dead increased
on the side of the royal army, but they continued to pour upon
the insurgents a well-sustained fire. The rebels, on the other
hand, held their ground firmly. Campos received a ball in
his boot and another broke his staff.

As it drew on towards night the rain began to fall in tor- -
rents and the ardor of the insurgents, whose ammunition was
running low, was somewhat cooled. At this favorable mo-
ment Campos gave the order to his men to resume their march
toward Bayamo, and the insurgents followed, harrassing the
royal army all the way to the gates of the city. The engage-
ment lasted eleven hours and cost the Spaniards, according to
their own account, a general and seventy men killed, and 100
soldiers wounded more or less seriously. The Cubans de-
clared that the Spaniards lost 400 killed and a large number
wounded, while the Cuban loss was Goulet and about 130
men. Altogether the day had been a hard one, and Campos
acknowledged in his report that his column had twice been in
danger. On reaching Bayamo he sent for reinforcements,
withdrawing a considerable number from Santa Clara prov-
ince, thus tending, as Maceo purposed, t6 make Gomez’s con-
temporaneous efforts in that direction easier.

Maceo did not learn till the following day that he had been
fighting with the Captain-General.

“Had I known that,” he said, “I would have sacrified 500
of my men and taken him dead or alive! Thus with one blow
I would have ended the war.”

It is true that had such been the result of the battle the
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consequences would have been incalculable, and even had
Maceo attacked the Spanish as he expected to, the result might
have been very different. As it was, Maceo was compelled to
rescue his army from a rout. With what skill he faced his
armed men about, and brought them up past the unarmed
stragglers who were running for their lives, the results showed.
That one battle proved that Maceo was a great general.

But it was not simply upon the field that he showed his
great qualities. After the battle Maceo had the wounded
picked up and cared for, and then, sitting down in his humble
camp, he wrote the Captain-General the following letter:

To Marshal MARTINEZ CAMPOS:

Desiring that the wounded abandoned by your troops upon the battle-
fleld shall not perish for want of help, I have ordeted my men to carry
them to the houses of the Cuban families living near the place of the com-
bat, where they are to be kept until you send for them. It is understood
that the soldiers who are sent by you for this purpose shall not be attacked

by those whom I command.
(Signed) ANTONIO MACEO.

‘We may imagine the feelings with which the greatest gen-
eral of the proud Spanish nation received this note from the
mulatto general. But Campos was a wise and generous foe
and knew how to appreciate Maceo. If the Spaniards had
always been as magnanimous in the treatment of the wounded
Cubans who fell into their hands there would have been less
cause for a war which was destined to devastate the fair island
of Cuba.

The next morning Maceo filed off with his troops. They
were within sight of the city, and the Spaniards fired after
them a harmless volley of artillery.

“That is the way to salute a general,” said Maceo with a
laugh.

When once his brilliant exploit was accomplished the in-
surgent leader retired. He had just learned that important
forces were on their way to Bayamo to reinforce Campos, and

he feared to be taken between two fires. He sent each band
18 : .
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to its respective encampment to await such a time as he might
think best fitted for a new sortie.

Goulet was replaced by Colonel Higinio Vasquez, an old
mulatto who had not the prestige of his predecessor but who
proved a good commander. Diego Palacios was also made a
commander. On returning to the country near Santiago, the
troops commanded by Vasquez passed the little city of Baire,
which was defended by a small garrison. The vigilance of
the sentinels was inadequate to the occasion and the insurgents
penetrated easily into the city. The Spaniards retired into the
church, which they barricaded and from which they directed
a weak flre upon the insurgents. Vasquez ordered the com-
mander of the garrison to surrender, but he refused. The
Cubans continued to operate against the church, and then
the commander entered into negotiations with Vasquez. In
order to have time to receive instructions from Campos, he
asked Vasquez to wait two days before exacting his surrender.
Campos had fixed a certain lapse of time before the expiration
of which no officer was permitted to surrender a fortified posi-
tion. The Cuban commander, probably thinking that Cam-
pos could not help the garrison at that distance, agreed to wait
until the two days should have elapsed. When that time had
passed the Spaniard had surrendered, and Vasquez had saved
his ammunition. He allowed the Spanish commander to keep
his sword and gave Lhim permission to return to a city occupied
by Spaniards, but the Cubans disarmed the Spanish soldiers.
They took possession of the guns and cartridges in the gar-
rison, but were surprised to find that there was but a small
supply of ammunition. Searching the corners of the church,
however, they found in one place the ground had been dis-
turbed. On digging they found the bodies of two soldiers,
buried during the siege, and near by four boxes filled with
cartridges. Owing to this discovery they were enabled to re-
new their ammunition, and they armed themselves with the
guns taken from the enemy. Thus it was that the insurgents
kept themselves supplied with ammunition, and as time went
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on more and more of the weapons which Spain had sent to the
island to be trained upon the Cubans were turned on the
Spaniards. It made little difference to the former whether a
Spaniard was dead or alive; but they wanted lis rifle and his
cartridge box.  After the battle of Peralejos, the Cuban forces
had picked up considerable quantities of ammunition which
the men under Campos had abandoned, and Maceo even
directed the cartridge shells to be gathered up so that they
might be refilled. So precious to them were bullets in those
days.

Had Goulet been spared a little longer to the cause of the
insurgents, he might have made a name for himself in the
world, for, while he had not the brilliancy nor the dash of
Maceo, he was a brave man. When it is remembered from
what despised material these mulatto generals were made, the
qualities they showed must challenge our admiration. They
could draw some of the best blood on the island into their
service. The aids-de-camp who had stood by Goulet when he
had been left almost alone at Peralejos were instances of this.

The life of a Cuban soldier could hardly be appreciated ex-
cept after visiting their camps and observing their peculiari-
ties. The usual tents were simply roofs of leaves fastened
upon pickets about six feet in height and capable of sheltering
five or six men, so that when the Spaniards made the pompous
announcement that they had destroyed a rebel encampment
it meant very little. As a matter of fact, the insurgents re-
garded an encampment as a thing of absolute insignificance,
because in two hours they could set up as large a collection of
the so-called tents as might be required. With so many woods
and palm trees at hand, the Cubans had little cause to regret the
loss of their improvised shelters. In one corner of an encamp-
ment would usually be an enclosure for cattle brought in for
the troops. Cattle were raised in great abundance in sections
of the province of Santiago de Cuba, and from the beginning
of the war the insurgent authorities had declared them to be
the property of the nation. This decree at least insured sus-
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tenance to the Cuban army in that section. When it is also
remembered that yams, bananas, cassava, sweet potatoes, man-
goes, and sugar cane form the basis of a nourishment very de-
sirable in the eyes of the natives, it can be understood how
easy it was for the insurgents to live in a country where the
rural people generally sympathized with them.

Nothing would seem to the American more curious than
the equipment of an insurgent, or mambis, as he was called.
The climate demands very little in the way of clothes. The
soldier usually wore a pair of linen trousers and a knitted
woolen shirt, and some of them wore a short blouse called
mambisa, invented during the Ten-Years War. Its origin
was significant. ~ After many months of rough campaigning,
clothes became rare, many of the mambis had no vests. This
was an inconvenience because it deprived them of pockets
into which they could put cartridges intended for instant use.
But necessity, that fruitful mother of invention, came to the
rescue. They adopted the plan of wearing their shirts out-
side of their trousers, turning up the flaps in front and behind,
and sewing them up as far as the waistline, leaving openings
in which to slip their hands. This arrangement gave them
one large pocket at the front and another at the hack, in which
they could stow away a large quantity of ammunition or other
supplies, which served also in some measure to protect the
body. This form of dress was found to be so practicable that
after the war jackets after the pattern were manufactured, and
that is why the mambisa with pockets at the belt became so
common among the later insurgents.

‘When the mambis was so fortunate as to be able to make a
choice as to his footgear, he usually wore the espadrille.*
Otherwise he went barefoot, and that was among the least of
his troubles. The chiefs of the army usually wore leather
shoes, and these might be called the principal insignia of their
rank. The insurgents wore Panama hats with a cockade in
the shape of a Cuban flag or a star attached to the brim, which
was turned up in front and fastened to the crown.

* A kind of shoe haviog a sole of woven straw.
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The most peculiar feature of the mambis’ accoutrement
was his “sack.” It was an ordinary bag of burlaps or other
coarse texture, such as might be found in any barn. To each
end of these bags would be fastened ropes of straw which
would be passed over the shoulders and under the arms. It
was, of course, less practicable than the ordinary knapsack of
our soldiers, but the soldier of Cuba Libre put up readily with
such inconveniences, and the mambis was content when his
sack was well filled with his traps, utensils, reserves of ammuni-
tion, and provisions. Besides this sack they usually had a
small bag attached to a cross strap in which were choicer
articles, their papers, or the commissions of their grade, if they
had such. For arms they carried a machete, and, when they
could obtain it, a rifle or a gun. Some of the clever ones made
cartridge-holders out of old saddle girths. The nature of the
equipment was optional and varied with the resources of the in-
dividual. The majority of the soldiers had a grade. They
were ambitious, and there was no more satisfactory way of re-
warding their valor than by advancing them in rank, but when
the call to arms came, each one, from the commander-in-chief
to the common soldier, would rush into the fight on his own ac-
count, and none of the insignia of official rank were worn in
the army.
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ORTUNE certainly favored the insurgents in leading
F the Captain-General into the province of Santiago de
Cuba, for while Campos was unsuccessfully exerting
himself to crush the rebellion there, he was leaving the way
open for Gomez to carry the banner of Cuba Libre to the west-
ward. After reaching Bayamo and examining the garrison
there, Campos immediately sent for reinforcements and a con-
siderable number of troops came from Santa Clara. That
province he regarded as thoroughly loyal, and he did not be-
lieve for a moment that Gomez would be able to push beyond
the old Jucaro trocha. .

But it happened at about this time that three able Cuban
leaders, Generals Roloff, Sanchez, and Rodriguez, landed in
Santa Clara province with a large amount of war material,
and before the Spaniards had extricated Campos from his posi-
tion at Bayamo the army in Santa Clara had been organized

into the Fourth Army Corps, and operations were at once
(262)
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begun. It was not long before the insurrection had taken a
vigorous stride there. Skirmishes were of almost daily occur-
rence and there were some important encounters caused by the
action of the insurgents who undertook to destroy the rail-
road and telegraph communication of the province. Many
of the Spanish Volunteers in this district showed that their
loyalty to Spain could not be relied upon. One proof of this
was that 400 under Major Casallas deserted and joined the
Cuban ranks in a body at the first opportunity, taking with
them all their arms, ammunition, and supplies.

General Gomez, after the engagement in which Marti lost
his life, succeeded in eluding the forces sent to intercept him
and entered the southern part of the province of Puerto Prin-
cipe early in June, or before the events just related took place.
Here he was joined by Salvador Cisneros Betancourt, the most
influential Cuban in that district, and soon his forces were
increased by young men from all over the province, thus form-
ing the nucleus of what was later the Third Army Corps.

‘When Gomez reached Najasa, about thirty miles from the
city of Puerto Principe, he issued one of the first of those gen-
eral orders which had so much effect in the later conduct of the
island. It was as follows: -

GENERAL HEADQUARTERS OF THE ARMY OF LIBERATION,
ANajasa, Camagiiey, July 1, 1895.
T the Planters and Owners of Cuttle Ranches :

In accord with the great interests of the revolution for the independ-
ence of the country and for which we are in arms :

‘Whereas all exploitations of any product whatsoever are aids and re-
sources o the Government that we are fighting, it is resolved by the Gen-
eral-in-Chief to issue this general order throughout the island, that the in-
troduction of articles of commerce, as well as beef and cattle, into the
towns occupied by the cnemy, is absolutely prohibited. The sugar plan-
tations will stop their labors, and whosoever shall attempt to grind the
crop, notwithstanding this order, will have their can& burned and theix
buildings demolished. The person who, disobeying this order, will try
to profit from the present situation of affairs, will show by his conduct lit-
tie respect for the iights of the revolution of redemption, and therefore
shall be cousidered as an enemy, treated as a traitor, and tried as such in
case of his capture. Maxivo GoMEz,

The Gensral-in-Chief.
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The reasons for this order were the same as those which
led to the destruction of cotton in the South during the Ameri-
can civil conflict. The sugar crop was a large source of rev-
enue to the Spanish government, both directly and indirectly.
He who follows the developments of this rebellion ‘must al-
ways remember that while the Cubans were in no position to
drive from their strongholds the Spaniards who held the ports
and garrisoned the large towns, they could practically hold and
control the rural districts. It was equally true that the
Spaniards could not subjugate, except by vastly superior num-
bers, the numerous battalions of Cubans who were scattered
about in the country, where the people generally sympathized
with the insurrection. But while the Cubans could subsist
easily upon the country itself, the Spaniards required always
money, money, money. Ships must patrol the coast, rein-
forcements must be hurried from Spain, and they must be paid
and fed. But Spain was poverty-stricken and she had for
years depended upon Cuba to provide funds, and had even
pawned the revenues of the island in the European Bourses.

The insurgent leaders were well aware of Spain’s weakest
point. A war against Spain’s financial credit would be slow,
but it would be sure, and the Cubans were not pressed for time.
Every fall in the market price of Spanish securities, every
deficit in the revenues, every month’s pay of the army in ar-
rears, every unpaid bill for transportation and supplies, would
be to the Cubans an indirect victory, much more important to
them than the mere slaying of a few Spanish youths whom the
fever would kill sooner or later. The burning of sugar cane
was therefore a deliberate and rational policy of war, for the
planter could not then pay his income tax, nor buy from abroad
so as to enable the Spanish to fleece him at the custom house.
The Spaniards recognized that if the sugar crop could be
gathered it would greatly weaken the insurrection, if it did not
break it up, and they naturally did all they could to make out
that the insurgents were carrving on a war of vandalism and
barbarism. But the mere burning of the cane did not destroy
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the plantation. It has even been affirmed that the burning

of one crop of cane will result in so much greater a yield the

following season that the loss is small, for the roots of the cane .
remain in good condition. How successful the insurgents

were in this method of striking at the power of Spain may be

observed from the fact that while the sugar crop of Cuba

amounted to 1,040,000 tons in 1894, it fell to 300,000 tons the

first year of the insurrection.

Having issued this order and another to the insurgent
troops to destroy all railroad and telegraph lines possible,
Gomez proceeded to ride over the country surrounding the
city of Puerto Principe. He burned the railroad station of
Alta Garcia, a few miles from the city, captured the fort of El
Mulatto to the northwest of the city, and cut to pieces a small
Spanish band near Las Yeguas. The town and the fort of San
Jeronimo surrendered to him, and he attacked and raided the
town of Cascorro in the eastern section of the province. This
was one of his most profitable engagements, as he found a large
quantity of arms and ammunition. All the wounded were
picked up and cared for by the Cubans to the extent of their
means, and prisoners were released to the Spanish, who were,
unfortunately, seldom ready to be as magnanimous. When-
ever Gomez found his position inferior or met a force too great
for him to attack with safety, he contented himself with an am-
bush and a rapid retreat, which the Spanish news headquarters
at once construed into a rebel rout, although the unmistakable
fact was that the insurgents were constantly growing in num-
bers and were pushing their campaign further and further
westward. By summer the insurrection had taken shape in
the three great provinces of the east, and the time had come for
the supreme effort to be made by the insurgent leaders.

Campos had meantime left Santiago de Cuba, where the
uprising had become general, and was being vigorously pushed
by Maceo and other insurgent leaders, and hurried back to
Santa Clara province to prevent Gomez from passing beyond
the Jucaro trocha, which stretches for fifty miles across the
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western portion of Puerto Principe. The forces he had relied
upon to prevent the westward march of Gomez had proved en-
tirely inadequate for the sharp tactics of the veteran Cuban,
and, besides, daring bands of insurgents were by this time rov-
ing over the districts of Santa Clara.

It was at this point that Gomez announced his intention of
marching through Santa Clara into Matanzas and on to
Havana. The Spaniards explained the progress of the insur
rection by the fact that it was impossible for their soldiers to
operate during the wet scason, and they boasted that as soon
ag the winter or dry season set in the Cubans would be driven
back into the province of Santiago de Cuba, where by the con-
centration of their entire fleet at the eastern shores of the island
they could cut off the base of supplies and starve the rebels
into submission. But it was in just this dry season that Gomez
proposed to march towards Havana, and this movement must
be regarded as the most remarkable of any during the war.

By the beginning of the dry season Gomez had practically
perfected all his plans and had ordered Maceo, with about
4,000 men, mostly infantry, to follow up and join him near the
trocha. Further westward, Generals Roloff, Sanchez, Perez,
and Lacret were waiting under orders for the advance of the
(Commander-in-Chief. Gomez established his headquarters at
Jimaguaya, in the province of Puerto Principe. Near the
town is an immense prairie or savanna, difficult of approach,
"and it was upon this plain that it was decided to accomplish the
formal organization of the republic and the concentration of
its military forces. The call for a meeting of representatives
of the Cuban people to form a permanent civil government
had been issued by Marti as soon as he reached the island, but
his death and the exigencies of the campaign had rendered it
inadvisable to comply with the call till this time.

The formation of a republic by people who have rendered
allegiance to monarchial institutions is always a dramatic mo-
ment in the history of nations, but seldom has a republic been
set up under more picturesque circumstances than attended
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the establishment of the Republic of Cuba on the 13th of Sep-
tember, 1895. On that broad savanna gathered the men who
were to stand in the same relation to the young republic as the
fathers of the Constitution of the United States stood to our
people. These men were engaged in serious business, and
they felt their responsibility. The Cuban revolution was or-
ganized on a basis which insured its continuance till Cuba was
free. It might take years, but they knew the time would
come when Spain could hold out no longer, when her last cent
had gone and she could raise no more. They knew also that
thousands of exiled Cubans and other sympathizers were drop-
ping a large share of their wages into the revolutionary fund
and would continue to do so. There was a grim determina-
tion, with confidence in ultimate success, in the acts of these
men. Of course, one of their immediate hopes was that the
new republic would be recognized by the United States.

At a preliminary session, the character of each representa-
tive was accredited by the respective credentials of his appoint-
ment, the representatjves having been elected by the insur-
gents in each of the five army corps. There were twenty in
all, representing all the provinces except Pinar del Rio. The
assembly organized with Salvador Cisneros Betancourt presi-
dent, and proceeded at once to form the constitution which was
to rule the destinies of the republic. This discussion occupied
days. Every article was debated, amendments were proposed
and discussed, and finally on the 16th it was voted to refer the
various propositions to a commiittee for a complete revision of
the text. When they had completed the draft it was read,
and each of the representatives affixed his signature to the
paper. “ Then,” in the language of the secretary of the coun-
cil, José Vivanco, “ the president and other members of the
assembly, with due solemnity, swore upon their honor to
loyally and strictly observe the fundamental code of the Re-
public of Cuba, which was greeted by spontaneous and enthu-
siastic acclamations of all present; in testimony of which are
the minutes in the general archives of the government.”
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- On the 18th the assembly proceeded to the election of the
officers of the government council, each representative deposit-
ing his ballot in an urn placed on the chairman’s table. The
voting resulted in the election of the following:

President.— Salvador Cisneros Betancourt, who had held the same
position in the former revolutionary government.

Vice- President.— Bartolome Masé, a prominent citizen of Manzanillo.

Secretary of State for Foreign Affuirs — Raphael Portuondo y Tam-
ayo, & member of a wealthy and distinguished family of the province of
Santiago de Cuba.

Secretary of War.— Carlos Roloff of Santa Clara, a native of Poland
who had borne a conspicuous part in the former revolution.

Secretary of the Treasury.— Severo Pina, of an old and wealthy family
of St. Spiritus.

Secretary of the Interior.—Dr. Santiago Garcia Canizares.

Sub-secretaries were chosen for each of the departments.
The vice-president of the assembly immediately installed the
Pr2sident, and the latter in turn installed the other officers
elected. The assembly then.chose General Gomez, Com-
mander-in-Chief of the army; General Maceo, Lieutenant-
General, and Tomas Estrada Palma, the head of the revolu-
tionary committee which operated from New York. The as-
sembly also passed laws dividing the island into states, districts,
and prefectures, regulating marriages, establishing post-
offices, and providing for the collection of taxes. The whole
arrangement was tolerably complete, but, unfortunately, for
the time, existed mainly on paper. N

The governmental council went to Gomez’s camp, where
he with his troops took the oath of allegiance to the constitu-
tion of the republic. They then proceeded to Maceo, who
was still in the province of Santiago de Cuba working west-
ward, and his forces took the oath. After visiting Santa
Clara to administer the oath to the different forces there, the
council returned to Santiago de Cuba for the purpose of estab-
lishing headquarters. During the month these officers pro-
mulgated their various regulations, which were published in
two newspapers soon established. Provisions were made for
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collecting revenue, and the army was authorized to destroy
those plantations which would not pay taxes to the republic.
The problem of the army’s equipment was not so much a
financial one, but arose from the caution necessary to run the
Spanish blockade and evade the vigilance of the officers of the
United States.

Civil formalities having been completed and the govern-
ment having concluded a grand review of the forces which
were to march to Havana, Gomez proceeded with his plans for
marching to Havana. Maceo was bringing his forces up from
the east with little difficulty, though he was compelled to fight
some of the way. In point of strategy there have been few
events in recent warfare to equal the remarkable character of
the undertaking Gomez had in mind. For it is to Gomez
alone, it has been said, that the honor of devising the move-
ment is due. In carrying it out he accomplished feats worthy
of the most conspicuous of the world’s renowned generalsgaind
he exhibited qualities placing him among the first of Ameri-
can commanders. This opinion has been expressed by men
of thorough and critical knowledge of military affairs who fol-
lowed the movements.

To thoroughly appreciate the nature of the stratagem it is
necessary to observe something of the forces which Gomez and
Maceo might be expected to encounter. The royal army was
commanded by one of the most celebrated generals of the army
of Spain. There could be no question, it might be supposed,
that such an army under such a leader must oppose a desperate
and powerful resistance. Neither could there be a doubt that
every resource of brilliant strategical art would be brought to
bear on the attempt to circumvent the plans of the army of
free Cuba. According to the newspapers of Havana, on No-
vember 15, 1895, the total number of the royal army on duty
in Cuba was as follows:

Infantry, . . . . . . . . . 59,900
Cavalry, . . . . . . . . . 13.886
Artillery, . . . . . . . . . 1,858

Engineers, . . . . . . . . 1,415
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Infantry of the Marine, . . . . . . 2,700
Policemen, . . . . . . . 976
Gendarmes . . . . . . . . 4,400
Guerrillas, . . . . . . . .. 1,882

Total, . . - . . . . . . 86,967

Of this total 81,591 were for active service in the field and
5,376 were for garrison and police duty. Adding to these
figures about 40,000 Volunteers, who were in general em-
ployed in guarding the cities, we have a total of 125,000 men,
or thereabouts. At this period of the war the Spaniards
garrisoned over forty cities or villages, and if these garrisons
were not in the actual conditions of a siege they were at least
employed in defending the cities or villages and the people
who were in them, for the insurgents were the absolute mas-
ters of the rural districts in the east, and they fired on any
troops that ventured beyond the city limits. The garrisons of
each city may be estimated as averaging about 1,000 men, or,
in 411, 40,000 men, of whom at least one-third were recruited
among the Volunteers. It would appear from these figures
that 26,000 men available for war and destined for that object
were immobilized. Consequently, there remained about
55,000 Spaniards capable of taking the field. From this num-
ber must be deducted the troops which were in operation in the
extreme eastern portion of the island, or east of the point of the
concentration under Gomez, which numbered at least 6,000.
It may be asserted, therefore, that that part of the Spanish
army which was between Havana and Gomez must have num-
bered at least 50,000 well-armed men. It was against this de-
fending force, vastly superior in numbers and equipment,
that the insurgents were about to measure their strength.

From the outset, Gomez divided his troops into three
columns, one commanded by Antonio Maceo, about 3,000
strong; another under the command of Suarez and Lacret,
numbering 2,000 men, and the principal corps, numbering
about 6,000 men, under his own personal direction. A column
of 1,000 men under the command of Francisco Perez formed
the advance guard. In all, therefore, there were 12,000 men.
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This was the effective army with which Gomez began his
march upon Havana, but it should be borne in mind that it
was only the nucleus, for as the insurgents marched along they
were joined by all the Cubans who daily embraced the cause
of liberty. Two months later, when Gomez parted from
Maceo near Havana, he had under his orders from 18,000 to
20,000 well-armed soldiers.

After Gomez had unfolded his plan and explained to his
lieutenants all that he hoped, he told them that all their efforts
were to be directed towards one object, to reach Havana. e
insisted that it was not a question of killing Spanish soldiers,
but of arriving before Havana. He expected them by a
march — strategic if need be — and as rapid as possible, to
succeed in reaching the goal, and they were to foil the enemy
as often as possible, and in any way, whether by a false attack
or by an absolute avoidance of a meeting. His final instruc-
tions were: “In the event of a forced battle, overthrow
them; pass over them — and on! To Havana!”

Gomez well knew what an effect would be produced by the
invasion of the western provinces of Cuba by the army of the
liberators. Matanzas, Havana, and Pinar del Rio had never
been stirred by the movement of the insurrection during the
Ten-Years War. The insurgents had never been able to enter
them. Assured by this precedent of immunity from attack,
General Campos had felt it safe to promise to preserve them
from any incursions of the rebels. Iis object in giving such
a promise was to reassure public opinion, alarmed by the pes-
simistic rumors regarding the advance of the insurgents.
However inferior the Spaniards of the royal army may have
been in point of enthusiasm, there could have been no doubt
that they were capable of defeating in open battle the undis-
ciplined army of insurgents who were homogeneous in noth-
ing but their love for Cuba and their hatred of Spain. But
there was no reason to fear that the army of Gomez would be
forced into battle, for in order to bring about such a result it
would have been necessary to surround the insurgent army to
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bring it to a halt and then attempt to destroy it in close con-
flict.

It would seem that Campos had such a plan as this in con-
sideration for a time, but he found that it was a plan that could
not be carried out by such an army against such an enemy.
While the Spaniards marched in columns relatively large from
1,000 to 1,500 men, who could move but slowly, burdened as
they were with a certain amount of luggage and the usual
military impedimenta, the Cubans had divided their army
corps into detachments of from 200 to 300 soidiers, well-
equipped and carrying an adequate supply of ammunition,
soldiers familiar with the country, with no useless baggage to
transport, and habituated to such nourishment as they could
gather from the trees, the plants, and other products of the
ground over which they marched. These small detachments
of natives, habituated to a climate whieh is barely supportabie
to others, slipped between the meshes of the net which Campos
essayed in vain to stretch out, and as they marched with a very
small convoy they cared very little if they left behind them
an enemy who with his best efforts could not have hindered
them from returning to their point of departure should such a
movement become necessary.

It may be thought that it would have been a rational way
of circumventing the Cubans for the Spaniards to have fol-
lowed the tactics of Gomez and divided their columns into
small bodies calculated to compete with the rebel troops in
rapidity of mobilization, but the Spanish officers had a distinct
disinclination to attack the Cubans except with a very superior
force. Moreover, the Spanish soldiers were much embar-
rassed by the natural difficulties of the country, and their lack
of familiarity with these difficulties, and with the country
itself. They dared not leave their positions without the guid-
ance of some one born in the country, and the recruiting of
these guides became & serious problem. TEach day it became
more difficult, for the natives feared the insurgents and were
haunted by visions of the reprisals which they feared might



CUBAN WILL-O'-THE-WISPS 263

follow any great victory obtained by Gomez, as the insurgents
had declared that any Cuban found by them serving in the
ranks of the Spanish army should be hanged.

There existed another reason why the movement of the
Cuban army was easier and less influenced by nervous dread.
Every movement of the Cubans was calculated, and they
began their march with a distinct end in view, while the ob-
ject of the Spanish movement was much more vague. To
chase after the flect-footed Cubans was far from easy. On’
the rare occasions when an insurgent column was engaged in a
skirmish with the Spaniards, the insurgents sent forth a few
flying volleys and disappeared as if the earth had swallowed
them. It seemed to be of no importance to them which direc-
tion they took; they faced about in the very midst of a combat
and fled in any direction, apparently without a plan. The
Spaniard stood alone upon his ground and eried “ Victory!”
This is the explanation of the Spanish despatches to the jour-
nals of that day. It was always the same story, reading some-
thing like this: “ After an insignificant discharge of mus-
ketry, the Cubans ran away.”

And yet the Cubans were every day marching nearer and
nearer to Havana. While the Spaniards were winning their
alleged victories, the Cubans were bringing the whole island
into insurrection and making it well-nigh impossible for loyal
planters to harvest a sugar crop. Some of the war correspond-
ents, who had never seen a war before, complained that there
was only a handful of insurgents here and there and that
Gomez would not fight. They missed entirely the strategem
which he was carrying out with the most consummate skill.

Whether these tactics are called Cuban retreats or Spanish
victories, it cannot be denied that they gave to the insurgents
an advantage far exceeding victories which fall on more im-
portant combats. At times the royal troops endeavored to
equal their adversaries in rapidity of movement, but it was like
a race between day and night. As one observer expressed it:

“The passage of the rebels resembled the trail of Hop o’ my
17
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Thumb, except that in the place of crumbs and pebbles the
Cuban Hop o’ my Thumbs left along their trail the bodies of
their foundered horses, the chewed remains of sugar cane and
bananas, and the empty cans of preserves which had been de-
voured as soon as pilfered, for the insurgents lunched as they
fled. There were whole days together when their only food
was sugar cane; and this simple nourishment sufficed to sus-
tain the strength of these robust men who were inured to all
" suffering, who went into a skirmish as children go to play, and
whose chief advantage was that there was no climatic danger
for them in an atmosphere that is fatal to their enemies.”
Under such circumstances the march from Gomez’s point of
concentration was made. The Spaniards were incapable of
parallel efforts and such a mode of living, and they lost more
than an hour each day in making the rancho, or the soup for
their meals.
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the Jucaro trocha on which Campos was relying to

keep the enemy within the eastern provinces. This
military defense, which had been constructed during the
former war, he had, in anticipation of the movement, strength-
ened and reinforced along its entire length. Those who have
not seen these lines of defense have an inadequate idea of what
they consist, and as similar lines were built later in the western
section of the island, a description of the Jucaro trocha will
serve for all. It stretched from Jucaro on the south coast of
the province of Puerto Principe to Moron on the north. The
country on each side of it was covered by a thick jungle of
woods. The trocha consisted primarily of a cleared space
through this jungle from 100 to 200 yards wide, and the trees,
cut down to clear a way, were piled up on each side, thus form-
ing a sort of barrier of tree trunks and their branches, averag-
ing perhaps six feet high and fifty feet wide. These alone

(265)

T WO weeks after Gomez began his march he was before
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would seem to an observer sufficient to prevent the passage
of any army, especially if the barricades were guarded, but the
Spanish found that such a device would not even prevent the
passing of Cuban cavalry. The space between the lines of
fallen trees was given up to a military road and forts and a
maze of barbed wire. At intervals of every half mile along
this roadway were the larger forts made of stone and adobe
and p#inted white. Midway between the larger forts were
placed blockhouses of two stories, the upper being of wood.
Between each of the larger forts and the blockhouses, or within
the short distance of a quarter of a mile, were placed three
small forts of mud and planks surrounded by a ditch. They
were capable of holding five men and were within hailing dis-
tance of each other, or about 150 yards.

The construction of the larger forts was such as apparently
to render them invincible. Above the cellar was a vault en-
closed by the stone and mud walls which rose about five feet
higher, making a second-story defense, the roof of the vault
being a sort of platform on which the men in the second story
could stand and deliver their fire either over the top of the
walls or through holes cut lower down near the platform; so
that a shot could be sent directly on the heads of those who
might approach close to the fort. The cellar could be used
for reserves of ammunition. Covering the second story was
a roof of sheet-iron supported by iron standards, and on the
roof was a watch tower. The only approach to one of these
forts was a movable ladder used something like the gangway
of a man-of-war and which-could be pulled out of reach.

Along one side of these fortifications was a maze of harbed
wire, strung back and forth from three rows of poles, about five
feet high. It is said that when this part of the trocha had been
completed 450 yards of wire had been used to every twelve
yards of posts. To all appearances, it would have been a dif-
ficult matter for a man on foot to pick or cut his way through
the maze, to say nothing of the cavalrymen and impedimenta.
Such, in general, was the wall of defense which ran for fifty
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miles from Jucaro to the town of Moron near the north shore.
It was not in the complete state which has been deseribed when
Gomez and his army approached it from the east in the latter
part of 1895, but Campos, to make assurance doubly sure, had
reinforced the trocha with a large body of men. Gomez’s
plan involved marching 12,000 men over it.

Maceo had not yet brought up his division, and while wait-
ing for him Gomez apparently thought he would ascertain
what he could do with the trocha, and, if possible, discover the
condition of things on the other side. So, leaving his army
back some distance, with a.few hundred men he began to
manceuvre before the trocha and finally succeeded in working
a small force through on the southern end. He immediately
fell upon the little town of Pelayo, and captured the forts
which guarded it, together with the entire garrison and a large
amount of arms and ammunition. He then moved cautiously
northward through the woods into the district of Remedios,
then suddenly westward toward the trocha. The Spaniards
appear to have been closely watching the southern end, be-
lieving that Gomez’s remaining force would try to effect a
passage there. In consequence, Gomez found the northern
part weakly defended, or at least he succeeded in re-crossing
it, and was soon joined by Maceo, who by this time had brought
up his army, having marched across the whole of Puerto Prin-
cipe province, eluding four Spanish columns which had been
sent against him. Maceo’s forces were therefore in front of
the trocha some little distance to the north of where Gomez’s
main division was waiting to cross. It might seem that when
they were in this position it would have been easy for the
Spaniards whom Maceo had left in the rear to have closed in
and hemmed in the Cubans between the trocha and themselves,
but the country is a difficult one for the moving of disciplined
troops, and, moreover, the Spanish officers were never quite
sure where the enemy was and seemed to content themselves
with trusting in luck to come upon him in a favorable location.
Gomez understood the position of the Spaniards perfectly.



268 PLAYING HIDE AND SEEK WITH CAMPOS

He ordered Maceo to make a feint of attack upon the
northern portion of the trocha before which he was. Maceo
accordingly sent a few soldiers to the front of the entrench-
ment of the royal army, and the Spaniards, thinking that the
advance guard of the Cubans had opened an attack and pro-
posed to cross the trocha to the north, passed the word down the
trocha, and immediately the Spanish rushed en masse toward
the north, leaving the southern portion, before which Gomez
was concealed, unprotected. This was exactly what Gomez
had counted upon, and he forthwith crossed the barricade
without striking a blow, except to clear away trees and other
obstacles. Ilis passage seems to have been unsuspected by
the Spanish engaged in holding back Maceo, who had no.in-
tention of crossing there or then. Finally, when he had heard
that Gomez was safely over, Maceo beat a retreat, the Span-
iards thinking they had won a victory the report of which
would read well at Havana and Madrid. “ The main body of
the rebels under Gomez and Maceo endeavored to force a
passage in the trocha to the north, but were repulsed and re-
treated in disorder,” and so on.

Maceo had apparently disappeared towards the north, and
the enemy naturally kept their attention turned in that direc-
tion; but as soon as the shrewd Cuban leader was out of sight
he faced southward and hurried his men to the point where
Gomez had just taken his men through, followed in his tracks
without difficulty, and before the Spaniards realized what had
happened the entire Cuban army were marching into Santa
Clara province and the rear guard had defeated Colonel
Segura, who was taking supplies to the trocha. The Cubans
were so fortunate by a brilliant dash as to capture about 200
mules laden with arms, ammunition, and supplies.

On the arrival of the combined Cuban forces in Santa
Clara, Gomez divided them, sending flying squadrons in ad-
vance under Generals Suarez, Perez, and Lacret, dispatching
others to Sagua in the north and towards Trinidad in the south.
Macco’s forces made a demonstration near the city of Santa
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Clara, where Campos had made his headquarters, and Gomez
threatened Cienfuegos. It was not, of course, Gomez’s inten-
tion to seriously attack any of the large fortified towns, and he
had good reasons for dividing his forces into several detach-
ments. IIad the army remained together it could have moved
but slowly and the country would have afforded scant supplies
for so large a force, while by division supplies could be drawn
from the whole country round, a larger district would be
brought into the insurrection, which was, after all, the main
purpose of the expedition, the enemy would be more puzzled
with the purposes and location of the force, and the march
toward Havana would be more rapid. Gomez in all these
operations kept an ample force in the rear so that retreat, if
made necessary, would not be cut off.

Campos at Santa Clara saw that he had been outflanked by
the clever ruse of the Cubans before the trocha and that he
was now in a measure surrounded. So when he heard that
Gomez was threatening Cienfuegos he made a precipitate
march to that place, intrenching himself and assuming direct
command of his troops. He also dispatched a large number
of troops to form a line between Cienfuegos and Las Cruces to
impede the westward march of the Cubans. Meanwhile,
Gomez had not forgotten one of the main purposes of his cam-
paign, which was to prevent the grinding of sugar cane so that
Spain would lose her revenue and the Cuban workmen, left
with nothing better to do, would take up arms. Shortly after
crossing the trocha, therefore, he issued a peremptory order for
the destruction of sugar plantations and railroad communica-
tion. Realizing that such destructive methods might so arouse
the planters as to make them too active allies and supporters
of the Spanish army, he supplemented this order with the fol-
lowing proclamation, which reveals something of the spirit of
the old general:

HEADQUARTERS OF THE ARMY OF LIBERATION,

Sancti Spiritus, November 11, 1895.
To honest men, victims of the torch :

The painful measure made necessary by the revolution of redemption
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drenched in innocent blood from Ilatuey to our own times by cruel and
merciless Spain will plunge you in misery. As General-in-Chief of the
army of liberation, it is my duty to lead it to victory, without permitting
myself to be restrained or terrified, by any means necessary to place Cuba,
in the shortest time, in possession of her dearest ideal. 1 therefore place
the responsibility for so great a ruin on those who look on impassively
and force us to those extreme measures which they then condemn, like
dolts and hypocrites that they are. After so many years of supplication,
humilintion, contumely, banishment, and death, when this people, of its
own will, has arisen in arms, there remains no other solution but to tri-
umph, it matters not what means are employed to accomplish it.

This people cannot hesitate between the wealth of Spain und the lib-
erty of Cuba. Its greatest crime would be to stain the land with blood
without effecting its purposes because of puerile scruples and fears which
do not concur with the character of the men in the field, challenging the
fury of an army which is one of the bravest in the world, but which, in
this war, is without enthusiasm or faith, ill-fed, and unpaid. The war
did not begin February 24th ; it is about to begin now.

The war had to be organized ; it was necessary to calm and lead into
the proper channels the revolutionary spirit always exaggerated in the
beginning by wild enthusiasm. The struggle ought to begin in obedience
to a plan and method more or less studied, as the result of the peculiarities
of this war. This has already been done. Let Spain now send her soldiers
to rivet the chains of ler slaves; the children of this land are in the field,
armed with the weapons of liberty. The struggle will be terrible, but
success will crown the revolution and efforts of the oppressed.

Maximo GoMEz, GQeneral-in-Chief.

Naturally, the destruction of sugar plantations caused
some' bitterness among alien owners, many of whom were citi-
zens of the United States, and for a time it militated against
the efforts of Palma, the plenipotentiary of the republic, who
was secking to secure a recognition of the belligerency of the
Cubans from the government of the United States. Gomez
maintained his purpose and endeavored to reassure Palma, as
the following letter will show.

DistricT oF REMEDIOS,
Prorince of Santa Clara, December 8, 1895.
To Tomas EsTRADA PALMA.

My DeARr AnD EstEeMED FrIEND : It is not long since I wrote you.
but an opportunity offers by which T may send you a few words of en-
couragement and good cheer. Rect assured I write you whenever I ean,
which is not often, owing to the great amount of work which at present
falls upon my shoulders. I know the pen is mightier than the sword, but
my mission at present is with the latter: othe's must wicld the pen.
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Eight days ago Gen. Antonio Maceo and myself met and fought the
enemy with our forces in conjunction. The Spanish column, including
infantry, cavalry, and artillery, were our superiors in number, but the
arms of the Cuban Republic were again victorious. I have not time at
present to go into details of the battle; they will follow later. Suffice it
to say, Spanish reports to the contrary notwithstanding, we won the day.

Our advance may be slow, but it will be sure and firm. Tf you hear
of our retreat, remember that it will be temporary and for a purpose. Our
faces are turned toward the west and nothing will stop us. The result of
my observations as we proceed is that the Spaniards are in need of almost
everything — money, sympathy, soldiers, and even leaders who have faith
and courage in the righteousness of their cause.

If Cuban valor and resolution do not fail us, and if the hearts of Cuba's
children do not weaken, 1 have every reason to believe that the close of
the six-months campaign now initiated will find everything satisfactorily
settled, and Cuba freec.

I know that unfavorable comment has been made on some of the
methods we have been forced to employ in this revolution, but it will not
do to listen to the complaints of the superficial and irresponsible. No
sugar crop must be made this winter under any circumstances, or for any
amount of money. It is the source from which the enemy still hopes and
dreams of obtaining its revenue. To prevent that end, for the good of our
country, has been and shall be our program.

‘We are Cubans and have one great aim in view, one glorious object
to obtain — the freedom of our country and liberty. It is of more impor-
tance to us than glory, public applause, or anything else. Everything
else will follow in time. I have never believed in or advised a sanguinary
revolution, but it must be a radical one. First of all, we must triumph ;
toward that end the most effective means, although they may appear
harsh, must be employed.

There is nothing so bad, so dishonorable, so inexcusable, in the eyes
of the world, as failure. Victory is within our reach. To hesitate, to
delay it, to endanger it now, wou'd be stupid, would be cowardly, would
be criminal. We will succeed first ; the applause of the world will follow.
To do otherwise would be not to love one’s country. I have never felt
more confident than at the present moment. You can rest assured that
Cuba will soon achieve her absolute independence.

Ever your true friend, Maxmo GoMEZ.

The insurgents continued their evasive movements with
great skill. They advanced through Santa Clara, San Juan
de Lasquaras, and Ranchuelas, till in their dev